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FWD is a fast-growing pan-Asian insurer with a 
vision of changing the way people feel about 
insurance

FWD Group is a pan-Asian life insurance business with approximately 8 million policyholders and 
participating members across 10 markets, including some of the fastest growing insurance markets in 
the world.

Our current business portfolio comprises life and health insurance, employee benefits and Shariah 
and family takaful products. Our regional footprint spans across Hong Kong SAR and Macau SAR, 
Thailand, Japan, Vietnam, the Philippines, Indonesia, Singapore, Malaysia and Cambodia.

Established in 2013, FWD is focused on making the insurance journey simpler, faster and smoother, 
with relevant, distinctive and personalised propositions and easy-to-understand products, supported 
by digital technology.

FWD is committed to changing the way people feel about insurance.

For more information, please visit www.fwd.com

Notes:
In this document, the terms “FWD”, “the Group”, “FWD Group” and “the Company” refer to FWD Group Holdings Limited. 
 “1H23” denotes results as of 30 June 2023 or for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and “1H22” denotes results as of 30 June 2022 or for the six months 
ended 30 June 2022.
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Strong and growing presence in Asia¹

				

FWD operates in

10 markets 8.3 million Top 6 
MDRT²policyholders and 

participating members
More than global ranking for 

multinational 
insurers24 58%

bancassurance    
partnerships

of new individual 
policyholders are millennial

9
7,422

52,600
of which exclusive 

with over
contracted 

agents

4,000 employees

bank branches

Our history...10 years young in 2023

Notes:
1. Approximate as at 30 June 2023.
2. Million Dollar Round Table, a global professional trade association that recognises significant sales achievements while working to develop 

professional and ethical sales practices.
3. Representative Office in Shanghai.
4. Launched operations in Cambodia in 2021.
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First half 2023 (1H23) highlights

Growth & value creation

New business sales1,2 Value of new business1 New business margin

US$845m ↑ 19% US$482m ↑ 22% 57.1% ↑ 1.8 pps
(1H22: US$732m) (1H22: US$405m) (1H22: 55.4%)

Embedded value equity1 Operating return on embedded value

US$9.3bn ↑ 3% 20.5% ↓ (0.8) pps
(2022: US$9.3bn) (1H22: 20.9%)

Profitability & scale

Operating profit before tax1,3 Total premiums1,2 Expense ratio

US$307m ↑ 56% US$3.4bn ↑ 3% 14.8% ↓ (0.1) pps
(1H22: US$208m) (1H22: US$3.4bn) (2022: 14.9%)

Protection ratio Total assets

49.0% ↑ 1.0 pps US$51.8bn ↑ 2%
(1H22: 48.4%) (2022: US$50.6bn)

Capital

Group wide solvency ratio
(Group LCSM cover ratio - Prescribed 
Capital Requirement basis)

Leverage ratio Percentage fixed income 
investment portfolio investment 
grade

300% ↑ 12 pps 34.3% ↑ 1.0 pps 94% —
(2022: 288%) (2022: 33.3%) (2022: 94%)

Customer experience and digital metrics

Cloud adoption rate Purchase customer emotion4

(% “Good” or “Great”)
Digital purchase %

96% ↑ 15 pps 92% ↑ 2 pps 77% ↓ 2 pps
(1H22: 81%) (1H22: 89%) (1H22: 78%)

Claims paid in 3 days Claims net promoter score eSubmission5

64% ↑ 5 pps 57 ↑ 1 100%
(1H22: 59%) (1H22: 56)

Notes:
1. Financial metrics presented growth rate on a constant exchange rate basis except total assets, solvency ratio, expense ratio and leverage ratio.
2. New business sales are calculated on an annual premium equivalent (“APE”) basis and total premiums are calculated on a total weighted premium 

income (“TWPI”) basis, which are based on 100 per cent annual premiums and 10 per cent single premiums.
3. Represents "Segmental adjusted operating profit" as illustrated in Financial Statement.
4. Purchase customer emotion means the percentage of customers who rated FWD “Good” or “Great” after their purchase journeys.
5. eSubmission means electronic submission of new business applications. 100 per cent eSubmission includes the Philippines, Indonesia, Vietnam, 

Singapore and Malaysia only.
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Results at a glance

Figures in US$m, unless otherwise stated
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Notes:
1. Hong Kong includes Macau. 
2. Thailand includes Cambodia.
3. Emerging Markets include the Philippines, Indonesia, Singapore, Vietnam and Malaysia.
4. 1H22 and 1H23 operating profit before tax and 2022 and 1H23 total assets and liabilities are stated on the basis of International Financial Reporting 

Standards 17.
5. Total premiums are total weighted premium income recorded for the six months ended 30 June of each year. 
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Diversified geographic mix and distribution channels
1H23 by market and distribution channel

New business sales by segment

29%

41%

8%

23% Hong	Kong

Thailand

Japan

Emerging	Markets

Total premiums by segment

26%

38%
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Hong	Kong

Thailand
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Emerging	Markets

Value of new business by segment

31%
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Hong	Kong
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Value of new business by   
distribution channel
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Bancassurance

Broker

Others

Customer experience and digital metrics

Customer experience

88% 89% 90% 92%

82% 85% 85% 88%

42
48 48

57

Purchase Customer Emotion (% "Great"/"Good")
Service Customer Emotion (% "Great"/"Good")
Claims NPS score

2020 2021 2022 1H23

Cloud adoption

27%

70%

94% 96%

7%

60%

90% 92%

Cloud adoption rate App decomission rate

2020 2021 2022 1H23
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Chief Executive Officer’s report

 

Let me begin by acknowledging the extraordinary contribution to FWD Group from our outgoing 
Group Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) Jon Nielsen. Jon has been instrumental in positioning FWD 
Group for the future by contributing significantly as part of the executive team to our strategy, strong 
financial results, and strengthened capital position. We want to thank Jon for his leadership and wish 
him well in his future endeavours. Jon has steered FWD Group to make the transition from start-up 
mode to the well-established pan-Asian insurance company we are today.

We have appointed Sid Sankaran as our new Group CFO, effective 1 September 2023, subject to 
regulatory approval. We’re very pleased to welcome Sid’s leadership for the next stage in FWD’s 
development as we cross our 10th anniversary year. Sid’s extensive public company CFO, global 
insurance industry and listed company board experience will be a fantastic addition to our Group 
Executive team.

Strategic focus
At a personal level, I always measure the success of a life insurance company on how many lives we 
touch. Our company now serves approximately 8 million policyholders and participating members 
across 10 markets in Asia, enabling us to record US$6.3 billion in total premiums for the twelve 
months ended 30 June 2023. 

We began the FWD journey in 2013 with a vision of changing the way people feel about insurance, by 
putting customers at the centre of everything we do, leveraging the latest technology. Since then, 
we’ve built a company that aims to make insurance easy for customers – easy to know, buy, claim, 
engage and love. These are the guiding principles for our product design, purchasing experience, 
claims process, customer engagement and brand. In the six months ended 30 June 2023 (“1H23”), 77 
per cent of submissions across the Group were made digitally, 52 per cent of our customer 
onboarding was completed in two days and 92 per cent of our customers rated us “great” or “good” 
after successfully completing the onboarding process. Similarly, 64 per cent of our claims were paid 
within three days of submission and our customers’ claims net promoter score was +57, highlighting 
our sustained customer satisfaction. We are now largely a cloud based company, with 96 percent of 
our applications hosted there. 

Our strategic pillars span five key areas: customer-led propositions; digital-driven experience and 
engagement; quality and digitally-enabled distribution; leadership in digital commerce; nimble 
organisation and focus on shareholder value. We’ve made continued progress in each of these areas 
during 1H23, which are reflected in our financial results.
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1H23 financial results
FWD posted strong  financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2023 thanks to the trust our 
customers place in us, the commitment of 7,422 employees as well as our incredible bancassurance 
partners, distributors and agents across the region.

Value of new business (“VNB”) was up 22 per cent to US$482 million and our new business margin 
improved by 2 percentage points to 57.1 per cent. The benefits of increased scale are starting to be 
realised, with total weighted premium income of US$3.4 billion. Operating profitability accelerated, 
increasing 56 per cent to US$307 million on a pre-tax basis under the new IFRS 17 accounting 
standards.

Increased customer awareness - and demand - for health and protection products remains an 
enduring trend in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. This is reflected in our protection VNB growth 
of 25 per cent to US$236 million. Protection now accounts for 49.0 per cent of our total VNB.

The Company also further strengthened its financial foundations, with our group-wide solvency ratio¹ 
at 300 per cent at the end of 1H23. In addition, FWD Group Holdings Limited (“FWD Group”) was 
assigned its inaugural investment grade credit ratings from Fitch Ratings Limited and Moody’s 
Investors Service Limited. Achieving investment grade credit ratings at the FWD Group level is a 
testament to our strong financial position, healthy business profile and disciplined approach to 
growth.

Outlook
As FWD Group celebrates its 10th anniversary year in 2023, we’re more excited than ever about the 
future. We recently completed our entry into the Malaysian life insurance market by acquiring, with 
local investors, a stake in Gibraltar BSN Life Berhad, since renamed to FWD Insurance Berhad. It 
means we now have a full-service offering in Malaysia, with both family takaful and life insurance 
solutions, in a rapidly growing market with long-term potential for growth. This development also 
substantially completes our footprint across key Southeast Asia markets. 

Across many parts of Asia, we’re seeing an economic recovery that’s full of energy, opportunity and 
optimism. Of course, there will be challenges to overcome. However, overall, the trends that we see 
driving the industry in the region over the longer term still hold, despite the global macroeconomic 
headwinds, notably: growing Asian economies, fast-emerging middle-class populations,  continued 
wealth creation, increased demand for insurance products and services and an acceleration of digital 
adoption and transactions.

On behalf of FWD, thank you to all of our stakeholders for your continued support as we strive to give 
our customers and communities the freedom to celebrate living. We’re 10 years young and we’ve only 
just begun changing the way people feel about insurance. Here’s to an amazing decade and the 
possibilities that lie ahead of us. I look forward to our future with great optimism and excitement.

Huynh Thanh Phong OBE

Group Chief Executive Officer

31 August 2023

Note: 
1. Prescribed Capital Requirement (“PCR”) Basis.
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Chief Financial Officer’s report

In the six months ended 30 June 2023 (“1H23”), we delivered yet another set of strong results as 
activity picked up post pandemic and as borders with Mainland China reopened. With a continued 
strong execution of our strategy, FWD has again proven its capabilities not only to drive growth of the  
business, but also to improve profit and cash flows. 

In 2021, we became a designated insurance holding company (“DIHC”) under the Group Wide 
Supervision (“GWS”) regime. FWD Group Holdings Limited (“FWD Group”) was also identified as an 
Internationally Active Insurance Group (“IAIG”) by its group supervisor, the Hong Kong Insurance 
Authority (“HKIA”), in January 2023.

On 24 August 2023, FWD Group Holdings Limited was assigned its inaugural investment grade credit 
ratings from Fitch Ratings Limited (“Fitch”) and Moody’s Investors Service Limited (“Moody’s”). Fitch 
assigned the company an issuer default rating of “BBB+”, with a stable outlook while Moody’s 
assigned the company an issuer rating of “Baa2”, with a positive outlook. Our investment grade credit 
ratings will allow us to more effectively and efficiently access the credit markets through FWD Group 
as we continue to execute our growth strategy.

FWD Group has also replaced, and become the issuer under the notes and capital securities issued by 
FWD Limited and FWD Group Limited, which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(“HKEx”). This development concludes the company’s previously announced bond consent process to 
simplify its corporate structure.

The International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") 17 Insurance Contracts standard has replaced 
the previous IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts standard, and has materially changed the recognition and 
measurement of insurance contracts and the corresponding presentation and disclosures, with this 
report being our first IFRS 17 disclosure. IFRS 17 is based on a discounted cash flow model with a risk 
adjustment and deferral of unearned profits, supplemented by a variable fee approach for contracts 
that provides both insurance coverage and investment related service, and a premium allocation 
approach that applies to short-duration contracts. Insurance revenue is no longer measured by 
premium, but recognised by the provision of services to policyholders throughout the term of the 
insurance contracts.

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information
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Summary and key financial highlights

Growth & value creation

In 1H23, we continued to build scale across our markets by delivering strong growth in new business. 
Overall reported new business sales increased by 19 per cent to US$845 million compared with 1H22, 
recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic, especially with the Hong Kong-Mainland China border 
reopening from January 2023, with full resumption in normal travel from February 2023.

Value of new business grew by 22 per cent in 1H23 to US$482 million. Overall new business margin 
increased 1.8 percentage points to 57.1 per cent driven by increased protection mix across the 
portfolio, re-pricing and impact of higher interest rates.

Embedded value equity increased 3 per cent to US$9.3 billion as at 30 June 2023 from US$9.3 billion 
as at 31 December 2022, mainly driven by growth in new business, offset by adverse operating 
variances and foreign exchange rates. Operating return on embedded value was 20.5 per cent 
annualised for 1H23.

Profitability & scale

Our total weighted premium income was up 3 per cent in 1H23 on a constant exchange rate basis, 
totalling US$3.4 billion, driven by our growth in new business, but impacted by the run-off of our 
scaled back corporate-owned life insurance (“COLI”) business in Japan. Our operating expense ratio 
was 14.8 per cent in 1H23, decreased by 0.1 percentage points from 2022 on actual exchange rate 
basis, as a result of the slower growth in premiums  despite continued cost control.

In line with our Group strategy, we have continued our focus on embedding protection within our 
product offerings with our protection value of new business up 25 per cent to US$236 million, with a 
protection ratio of 49.0 per cent in 1H23.

Operating profit before tax increased by 56 per cent to US$307 million in 1H23, which is primarily 
attributable to strong results delivered by Hong Kong and Japan, with our Emerging Markets 
segments now also generating operating profit (compared to losses in the prior corresponding 
period), offset by lower operating profit in Thailand due to higher claims (as customers resume 
medical treatments post pandemic lockdown).

Embedded value operating profit grew by 8 per cent to US$538 million, of which US$482 million was 
driven by value of new business.

Capital

Our adjusted net underlying free surplus generation was US$334 million in 1H23, due to the strong 
growth in our value of new business, with reducing new business strain. 

Free surplus, on a gross of financing basis, increased slightly to US$4.4 billion as at 30 June 2023, 
primarily driven by free surplus generated from the in-force portfolio, less new business strain, and 
foreign exchange movements.

FWD Group’s Local Capital Summation Method (“LCSM”) cover ratio (on the prescribed capital 
requirement basis) under the new GWS regime was strong at 300 per cent as at 30 June 2023 up from 
288 per cent as at 31 December 2022.

On 24 August 2023, Fitch assigned FWD Group’s core life insurance operating entities an insurer 
financial strength (“IFS”) rating of “A”, while Moody’s assigned a notional insurance financial strength 
rating of “A3”, to the FWD Group’s major life insurance operating entities, affirming the strong 
capitalisation of the Group.
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Growth & value creation

New business performance

New business sales increased by 19 per cent to US$845 million compared with 1H22. Our  new 
business sales increased in all markets as they recovered from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and benefited from the reopening of the Hong Kong border with Mainland China, while Japan 
continued to have some impact from the scaled back COLI business.

New business sales, value of new business and new business margin by segment

New business sales (APE) Value of new business New business 
margin (% APE)

US$ millions, unless stated 1H23 1H22 AER % CER % 1H23 1H22 AER % CER % 1H23 1H22

Hong Kong  245  188  30 %  30 % 148 103  43 %  43 %  60.3 %  54.8 %

Thailand  342  260  31 %  34 % 172 144  20 %  21 %  50.3 %  55.2 %

Japan  65  93  (30) %  (23) % 70 72  (3) %  7 %  108.2 %  77.7 %

Emerging Markets  192  190  1 %  5 % 92 86  7 %  10 %  47.9 %  45.2 %

Total  845  732  15 %  19 % 482 405  19 %  22 %  57.1 %  55.4 %

Value of new business increased by 22 per cent to US$482 million in 1H23 (compared with 1H22), with 
growth across all of our reporting segments, driven by strong execution of our strategic initiatives. 

Our new business margin increased by 1.8 percentage points to 57.1 per cent in 1H23, driven mainly by 
changes in re-pricing and impact of higher interest rates.

Hong Kong’s new business grew very strongly in 
1H23 with overall value of new business 
increasing by 43 per cent primarily driven by 
offshore sales from Mainland Chinese visitors 
(“MCVs”) as the border with Hong Kong reopened 
in January 2023, with full resumption in normal 
travel in February 2023. New business margins 
increased by 5.4 percentage points to 60.3 per 
cent, driven by the improvement in channel and 
re-pricing.

Thailand’s value of new business increased by 21 
per cent, driven by strong growth in both our 
agency channel and our bancassurance sales 
through Siam Commercial Bank (“SCB”). 

“ Hong Kong sales 
recovered strongly 
after the Mainland 
China border 
reopening.

”
New business margin decreased by 5.1 percentage points to 50.3 per cent, as our business focused on 
tactically growing sales in the bancassurance channel, where margins continue to be amongst the 
highest in the industry. We extended our long term exclusive distribution partnership with SCB for a 
further two years in April 2023. This extension demonstrates the strength of our partnership with SCB 
and will allow us to deliver on our strategy of enhancing our bancassurance channel and cementing 
our bancassurance leadership in Thailand.

Our Japan business continued to grow  in individual protection products, focusing on protection and 
medical and strengthening our independent financial advisor (“IFA”) platform. Our individual focused 
strategy has shown positive results in 1H23 with individual value of new business increasing 20 per 
cent in 1H23.
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Emerging Markets delivered 10 per cent growth in value of new business in 1H23. Growth was 
impacted by market disruption in Vietnam, which we expect to continue for the remainder of 2023. 
Emerging Markets continued to increase protection ratios across the portfolio, with a 2.5 percentage 
points increase in the new business margin in 1H23 to 47.9 per cent. 

Under the new IFRS 17 accounting standard, we calculate a new business contractual service margin 
(“CSM”), which is similar in concept to value of new business (“VNB”), differing principally in the 
following ways:

• Risk adjustment: Under IFRS 17, there is an explicit risk adjustment margin to cover the risk of
deviation from the best estimate non-market assumptions.  This is normally covered by the implicit
risk premium embedded in the risk discount rate under traditional VNB reporting basis.

• Cost of capital: VNB measures shareholders’ profit taking into account the cost of holding required
capital whereas CSM is measuring the profitability of the contract before any cost of capital.

• Valuation differences: Differences include discount rate (risk free  rates with allowance of illiquidity
premium vs risk discount rate for VNB), non-attributable expenses to new business CSM and tax.

Value of new business and contractual service margin comparison

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 1H22 AER % / 
change

CER % / 
change

Value of new business 482 405  19 %  22 %

Risk adjustment (57) (54)  4 % na

Cost of capital 54 24  126 % na

Valuation differences 257 363  (29) % na

New business contractual service margin (gross of tax) 737 738  — %  3 %

New business contractual service margin (net of tax) 608 610  — %  3 %

New business CSM (net of tax) / VNB (%)  126 %  150 %  (24) % na

The new business CSM grew less than the growth in value of new business mainly due to changes in 
interest rates and new business mix (new business CSM grew 19 percent excluding economic 
assumption change). As new business CSM is based on the current risk free rates, it will inherently 
have more volatility than value of new business which is based on long term interest assumptions.

Present value of new business premiums (“PVNBP”) increased by 2 per cent to US$4.4 billion in 1H23 
due to business mix changes and lower single premium sales. Our new business margin as a 
percentage of PVNBP increased by 1.9 percentage points to 11.1 per cent due to re-pricing and higher 
interest rates.

Present value of new business premiums

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 1H22 CER %/change

Present value new business premiums (PVNBP) 4,353 4,387  2 %

New business margin (% PVNBP)  11.1 %  9.2 %  1.9 pps
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Embedded value

Embedded value as at 30 June 2023 was US$6.1 billion, up 4 per cent from 31 December 2022. The 
increase was primarily driven by embedded value operating profit of US$0.5 billion, partially offset by 
negative foreign exchange movements, corporate expenses and financing costs.

The operating variances, as a part of embedded value operating profit, negatively impacted 
embedded value by US$0.2 billion in 1H23, primarily driven by expense and persistency variances. 
Expense variances, though negative, showed a continued improvement in 1H23. Persistency variances 
were impacted adversely by the high interest rate environment and unfavourable experience in 
Vietnam and Thailand markets. Please see ‘Analysis of embedded value operating profit’ section for 
more details on operating variances.

Analysis of embedded value

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022

Opening embedded value 6,066 5,731 

Impact of HK RBC early adoption — 433 

Expected return on embedded value 307 543 

VNB 482 823 

Operating variances (189) (311) 

Operating assumption changes (62) (29) 

Embedded value operating profit 538 1,027 

Economic variances¹ 40 (792) 

Economic assumption changes — 247 

Other items (105) (259) 

Embedded value profit 473 656 

Corporate centre expenses (73) (120) 

Financing (118) (190) 

Acquisitions and disposals (22) (18) 

Capital movements — 400 

Foreign exchange (262) (393) 

Closing embedded value 6,064 6,066 

Note:
1. HK RBC impact was reflected from second half of 2022; should HK RBC impact be reflected from the beginning of 2022, the economic variance 

would be further improved as a result of better matching of asset and liabilities valuations.
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Projected distributable earnings of in-force business

1H23 2022

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated Undiscounted Discounted Undiscounted Discounted

1 - 5 years 2,036 1,656 2,125 1,733

6 - 10 years 2,562 1,432 2,638 1,493

11 - 15 years 2,228 881 2,263 915

16 - 20 years 1,752 491 1,836 528

21 years and thereafter 24,012 1,082 22,324 1,089

Total 32,591 5,542 31,185 5,758

Growth in our distributable earnings reflect the overall growth of our business. The expected 
undiscounted earnings increased by 5 per cent in 1H23 driven by the addition of new business in 1H23. 
The discounted cashflows decreased slightly due to a one-off change of FWD Re reserving basis from 
IFRS4 to IFRS17, which increased total embedded value, but reduced value of in-force.

Embedded value equity summary

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022 AER % CER %

Embedded value 6,064 6,066  — %  4 %

Goodwill and Intangibles 3,253 3,222  1 %  2 %

Embedded value equity 9,317 9,288  — %  3 %

Embedded value equity as at 30 June 2023 was US$9.3 billion, which increased by US$29 million, up 
3 per cent from 31 December 2022.
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Profitability & scale

Total premiums

Total weighted premium income (“TWPI”) was up 3 per cent on a constant exchange rate basis, 
totalling US$3.4 billion in 1H23, which was impacted by lower single premium sales in Hong Kong and 
continued run-off of in-force COLI business in Japan (following the change in tax regulations in 2019).

Total weighted premium income by segment

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 1H22 AER % CER %

Hong Kong 866 875  (1) %  (1) %

Thailand 1,288 1,186  9 %  10 %

Japan 883 1,021  (14) %  (4) %

Emerging Markets 359 341  5 %  9 %

Total weighted premium income 3,396 3,423  (1) %  3 %

Protection ratio

Increasing the protection ratio is a core strategic priority for us, with the protection value of new 
business growing 25 per cent to US$236 million in 1H23. The protection ratio increased by 1.0 
percentage point to 49.0 per cent in 1H23, driven by continued strong execution of our protection 
strategy.

Protection value of new business

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 1H22 AER % CER %

Protection value of new business 236 196  21 %  25 %

Protection ratio  49.0 %  48.4 %  0.6 %  1.0 %

Operating profit

We achieved a strong improvement in profitability amid challenging global macroeconomic 
headwinds. Total IFRS operating profit before tax (“OPBT”), increased by 56 per cent to US$307 
million in 1H23.

Operating profit before tax by segment

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 1H22 AER % CER %

Hong Kong 133 43  204 %  204 %

Thailand 82 94  (14) %  (13) %

Japan 123 117  5 %  15 %

Emerging Market 25 (2) na na

Corporate and Others (56) (44)  26 %  26 %

Operating profit before tax 307 208  48 %  56 %
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Hong Kong’s operating profit before tax increased by 204 per cent to US$133 million, which was 
mainly from the continued growth of our in-force portfolio and new business and lower non-
attributable expense.

Thailand operating profit before tax fell by 13 per cent to US$82 million in 1H23 primarily as a result of 
higher claims expenses (as customers resume medical treatments post pandemic lockdown), which 
have offset the profit from the growth of our in-force portfolio and new business.

Japan delivered an operating profit before tax of US$123 million, up 15 per cent from 1H22  mainly due 
to the higher investment margin of our investments managed by Apollo.

Emerging Markets made an operating profit before tax of US$25 million in 1H23, compared to a loss of 
US$2 million in 1H22, as our business in these markets continue to achieve scale in these fast-growing 
countries.

The operating loss before tax in Corporate and Others segment increased by 26 per cent to US$56 
million, driven by continued investment in resource and IT platform to support fast growing of our 
underlying business and digital platform for better underwriting, claims and customer engagement 
experience.

IFRS operating profit

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 1H22 AER % / change

Net contractual service margin release 354 255  39 %

Operating variances (1) 27  (102) %

Risk adjustment release 27 26  4 %

Others (27) (12)  127 %

Net Insurance Service Result 354 295  20 %

Investment return 878 357  146 %

Net finance expenses (703) (236)  198 %

Net Investment Result 175 121  45 %

Operating profit before tax (pre-corporate overheads) 529 416  27 %

Net other fees 15 16  (3) %

Non-attributable expenses - Group office (62) (34)  79 %

Non-attributable expenses - Business units (167) (182)  (8) %

Finance costs (14) (7)  99 %

Associates and joint ventures 6 (1) na

Operating profit before tax 307 208  48 %

Pre-tax operating margin1 (%)  9.0 %  6.1 %  48.8 pps

There are three major components of operating profit under IFRS 17: the insurance service result, the 
net investment result, and other revenue and expenses. 

Under IFRS 17, CSM release is the key driver of operating profit, and forms part of insurance contract 
liabilities alongside the best estimate liabilities, with a risk adjustment for non-financial risks. The 
calculation of each component of the insurance contract liabilities involves discounting, based on 
current risk-free rates and an illiquidity premium depending on product type.

Note:
1. Operating profit before tax divided by total weighted premium income.
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The CSM represents the stock of future profits that are yet to be earned on our in-force business and 
will release over time into operating profit and net profit. The CSM balance has built up over time 
through the addition of successive cohorts of profitable new business over many years with a 
cumulative discounted value of expected future profits of US$5.4 billion as at 30 June 2023.

The release of the CSM is the largest contributor to the operating profit, with the US$354 million 
CSM release in 1H23 equating to an annualised rate1 of 13.1 per cent (12.3 per cent excluding one-off 
items) on the US$5.4 billion opening CSM balance (compared to 2022 amortisation rate of 10.6 per 
cent). The release of the CSM grew 39 per cent in 1H23 from 1H22 mainly due to the growth in CSM 
balance.

Insurance profit grew 20 per cent to US$354 million in 1H23 year on year, mainly driven by the growth 
in the release of CSM, offset by adverse operating variances mainly due to higher claims expenses (as 
customers resume medical treatments post pandemic lockdown).

The net insurance result contributed 67 per cent of our total operating profit before tax before 
corporate overheads, highlighting the quality of our business and strong execution of our protection 
focused strategy.

The net investment result of US$175 million in 1H23 relates mostly to non-participating business and 
the return on surplus assets, and was increased by 45 per cent from 1H22 due to business growth and 
higher market returns.

Other revenue and expenses are mainly composed of overhead expenses in business units and the 
Group Office that under IFRS 17 are not directly attributable to the insurance service result. Group 
Office costs increased 79 per cent due to investment in resource and IT platform to support 
fast growing of our underlying business and digital platform for better underwriting, claims and 
customer engagement experience, with underlying growth of 38 per cent which excludes one-
off true up of incentive cost. Non-attributable business unit expenses reduced 8 per cent due to 
strong cost control and change in the attribution rate.

Total investment return of US$878 million equates to a 3.0 per cent average return on assets 
backing our non-par business and surplus assets, which stood at US$30 billion at 30 June 2023. Fixed 
income and cash, which account for more than 85 per cent of the invested assets, at an average book 
yield of 2.9 per cent.

The investment return is partially offset by US$703 million of insurance finance expenses, which 
represents the unwind of the discount rate on non-par insurance liabilities and the interest required on 
the participating business. 

Finally, to derive operating profit before tax, other revenue and non-attributable expenses of US$214 
million and finance costs of US$14 million on leases and repurchase agreements.

Note:
1. The CSM amortisation rate is calculated based on the opening balance, and is shown on annualised basis.
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Given our high rates of new business CSM relative to the CSM balance (representing over 25 per cent 
in 2022 and 1H23), our CSM balance grew 18 per cent in 2022 on an operating basis (before market 
and foreign exchange movements), demonstrating the strong growth and quality of our business. This 
growth was lower in 1H23 due to adverse operating variances (6 per cent annualised excluding 
assumption changes).

Analysis of contractual service margin

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022

5,400 5,015 

712 1,362 

21 21 

(330) 62 

Opening contractual service margin
New business contractual service margin* 

Interest accretion

Operating variances and assumption changes 

Contractual service margin release (354) (531) 

Operating change in contractual service margin 50 915 

Economic variances and assumption changes 329 (556) 

Foreign exchange (220) (240) 

Others (115) 267 

Closing contractual service margin 5,444 5,400 

Closing contractual service margin (net of tax) 4,462 4,404 

*	excluding BRI Life.

Our CSM at the start of the year was US$5.4 billion, with 1H23 new business added US$712 million 
with a further US$21 million coming from the expected return on the in-force CSM as it unwinds by 
one year. Negative operating variances of US$330 million related largely to persistency experience 
and operating assumption changes. Lastly, US$354 million of CSM was released into the insurance 
service result.

Driven by our continued delivery of growth in high-quality new business, our operating CSM 
increased by US$50 million in 1H23. 

Our closing CSM as at 30 June 2023 was impacted by US$329 million of economic variances and 
US$220 million of negative foreign exchange movements.
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Analysis of net profit

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 1H22

Net profit / (loss) 44 (52) 

Profit / (loss) before tax from continuing operations 110 (48) 

Market related:

Short-term fluctuations in investment return 64 100 

Loss component on onerous contracts 9 20 

Other non-operating investment return (14) (11) 

Non-market related:

Finance costs 69 52 

M&A, business set up and restructuring related costs (6) 36 
IPO related costs including incentive costs 34 34 

Other non-operating items 9 (3) 
Implementation costs for IFRS 9, 17 and GWS 32 28 

Operating profit before tax 307 208 

Tax on operating profit before tax (67) (45) 

Operating profit after tax 240 163 

Our operating profit after tax was US$240 million in 1H23, up 56 per cent from 1H22. Our reported net 
profit for 1H23 was US$44 million in 1H23, up from a loss of US$52 million in 1H22.

The key difference between operating profit after tax and reported net profit are as follows:

• One-off implementation costs of IFRS 9, 17 and GWS (US$32 million) and IPO related costs
(US$34 million);

• Market related fluctuations impacting the reported profit totalling US$59 million; and

• Group finance costs of US$69 million, up from US$52 million from 1H22 due to higher interest
rates.

Expense ratio

Our expense ratio has decreased by 0.1 percentage points compared with 2022, driven by robust cost 
control, and offset by lower growth in total weighted premium income.

Expense ratio by segment

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022 AER Change

Hong Kong  13.6 %  13.3 %  0.3 pps

Thailand  9.0 %  9.5 %  (0.5)  pps

Japan  10.1 %  9.9 %  0.2 pps

Emerging Markets  32.6 %  31.1 %  1.5 pps

Expense ratio  14.8 %  14.9 %  (0.1) pps

Our positive operating leverage was evident across all our business units except Hong Kong, mainly 
due to higher bonus accrual and lower total premiums (from lower single premiums mix), and Japan 
(due to COLI business), with Emerging Markets impacted by Vietnam market disruption.
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Embedded value operating profit

Embedded value operating profit (before operating assumption changes and other operating 
variances) was US$592 million in 1H23. The key drivers of value creation were the in-force profit from 
expected returns of US$307 million, and US$482 million from value of new business, and offset by 
operating variances and assumption changes.

Analysis of embedded value operating profit

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 1H22 AER 
Change

CER 
Change

Expected return on embedded value 307 248  24 % na

Value of new business 482 405  19 %  22 %

Operating variances (189) (127)  49 % na

   - Expense and commission (70) (84)  (16) % na

   - Mortality and morbidity (11) 20  (155) % na

   - Persistency (116) (54)  117 % na

   - Others 8 (9) na na

Operating assumption changes (62) (12)  428 % na

Embedded value operating profit 538 515  5 %  8 %

Embedded value operating profit (before operating 
assumption changes and other operating variances) 592 536  11 %  14 %

Operating return on embedded value  20.5 %  20.9 %  (0.4)  pps (0.8) pps

Embedded value operating profit increased by 8 per cent primarily driven by resilient new business 
contribution which grew by 22 per cent in 1H23. 

This was offset by negative operating variances, which were mainly due to:

• Expense and commission: Our expense overruns continue to reduce in 1H23, as our business 
continued to achieve scale and as integration synergies were extracted. 

• Mortality and morbidity: We continued to experience positive mortality experience compared 
to our expectation. However, for morbidity, we experienced some slight adverse experience 
as our customers resumed medical treatments post pandemic lockdowns.

• Persistency: The negative persistency variance was largely due to the high interest rate 
environment and the unfavourable experience in Thailand and Vietnam. In Vietnam, 
unfavourable lapses were due to market disruption. In Thailand, we experienced higher than 
expected unit-linked lapses and higher than expected persistency on saving products that 
offer stable return.

Our negative operating assumption changes of US$62 million were in relation to persistency.
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IFRS balance sheet

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022 AER %

Assets
Financial investments 43,094 42,431  2 %

Investment property 587 641  (8) %

Cash and cash equivalents 1,729 1,474  17 %

Intangible assets 3,218 3,207  — %

Other assets 3,129 2,837  10 %

Total assets 51,757 50,590  2 %

Liabilities
Insurance and investment contract liabilities 38,756 37,216  4 %

Borrowings 2,215 2,216  — %

Other liabilities 2,585 2,669  (3) %

Less total liabilities 43,556 42,101  3 %

Equity
Total equity 8,201 8,489  (3) %

Less perpetual securities 1,354 1,354  — %

Less non-controlling interests 1,817 1,718  6 %

Total equity attributable to Shareholders of the Company 5,030 5,417  (7) %

Adjusted total equity attributable to shareholders 6,768 7,134  (5) %
Contractual service margin (net of tax) 4,462 4,404  1 %

Comprehensive equity 11,230 11,538  (3) %

Debt & borrowings 3,569 3,570  — %

Leverage ratio (shareholders’ equity)  34.3 %  33.3 %  1.0  pps

Leverage ratio (comprehensive equity)  24.0 %  23.6 %  0.4  pps

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company reduced from US$5.4 billion as at 31 
December 2022 to US$5.0 billion as at 30 June 2023, due to an increase of net reported profit of 
US$44 million yet offset by the negative impact of foreign exchange movements during the period.

Total assets grew by 2 per cent during 1H23 and liabilities grew by 3 per cent, in line with growth in 
the business (offset by foreign exchange impacts).

Under IFRS 17, comprehensive equity is defined as total equity plus the contractual service margin 
balance, which totalled US$11.2 billion as at 30 June 2023.

Our debt leverage ratio as at 30 June 2023 is 34.3 per cent, up from 33.3 per cent as at 31 December 
2022, mainly due to adverse foreign exchange movements during the period.

Our leverage ratio as at 30 June 2023  based on a comprehensive equity definition (shareholders’ 
equity plus net contractual service margin) was 24.0 per cent.

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

24  FWD Group Holdings Limited Interim Report 2023



Analysis of comprehensive equity

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022 1H22

Opening comprehensive equity 11,538 11,573 11,573

Net profit / (loss) (11) (403) (80)

Fair value gains/(losses) on assets 731 (4,043) (3,656)

Net finance income/(expenses) from insurance and 
reinsurance contracts (843) 3,885 3,726

Foreign currency translation adjustments (223) (187) (464)

Other capital movements (20) 410 189

Net contractual service margin movement 58 303 14

Total movement in comprehensive equity (308) (35) (271)

Closing comprehensive equity 11,230 11,538 11,302

The table below compares the new IFRS 17 comprehensive equity (equity plus the contractual service 
margin), which is similar in concept to embedded value equity, differing principally in risk adjustment, 
cost of capital and valuation as discussed earlier.

Comprehensive equity and embedded value equity comparison

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022 AER %

Shareholders' equity  6,768  7,134  (5) %

Net contractual service margin  4,462  4,404  1 %

IFRS 17 comprehensive equity  11,230  11,538  (3) %

Risk adjustment  491  467  5 %

Cost of capital  (765)  (735)  4 %

Valuation differences  (1,639)  (1,982)  (17) %

Embedded value equity  9,317  9,288  — %
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Investment portfolio by asset class

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 %  of total 2022 % of total

Fixed income investments 33,072  73 % 32,625  73 %

Government bonds 15,772  35 % 15,411  35 %

Government agency bonds 1,885  4 % 1,573  4 %

Corporate bonds 13,128  29 % 13,619  31 %

Structured securities and others 2,287  5 % 2,022  5 %

Equities 739  2 % 381  1 %

Investment funds 8,019  18 % 7,576  17 %

Investment properties 587  1 % 641  1 %

Others 2,993  7 % 3,323  7 %

Cash 1,729  4 % 1,474  3 %

Loan and deposit 1,116  2 % 1,530  3 %

Derivatives 148  — % 319  1 %

Total invested assets 45,410  100 % 44,546  100 %

Unit-linked 2,609  6 % 2,408  5 %

Participating 12,502  28 % 12,077  27 %

Non-participating and others 30,299  67 % 30,061  67 %

Our total invested assets were US$45.4 billion as at 30 June 2023, up 2 per cent from the US$44.5 
billion as at 31 December 2022.

Our liabilities are backed 83 per cent by fixed income assets, reflecting the protection focus on our 
business. Equities represented 15 per cent of our portfolio (of which around 64 per cent were in the 
participating funds), followed by 1 per cent in investment properties.

Our fixed income portfolio yield was 2.9 per cent per annum for 1H23, compared to 2.8 per cent for 
2022. 

As at 30 June 2023, 91 per cent of the corporate bonds we invested in were investment grade.
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Capital

Free surplus

Free surplus is the excess of adjusted net worth over required capital including consolidated reserving 
and capital requirements. The Group holds free surplus to enable it to invest in new business, take 
advantage of inorganic opportunities, and absorb the effects of capital market stress conditions.

In 1H23, free surplus, on a gross of financing basis, was US$4.4 billion, up from US$4.1 billion as at 31 
December 2022, driven by  free surplus generated from the in-force portfolio, less new business 
strain, and foreign exchange movements.

Free surplus analysis

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022

Opening free surplus  4,141  4,471 

Underlying free surplus generation  731  1,753 

of which the impact of HK RBC early adoption  —  1,183 

Free surplus used to fund new business  (2)  (165) 

Acquisition and disposals  (40)  (23) 

Investment return variances and other items  (268)  (1,755) 

Foreign exchange movement  (77)  (102) 

Capital movements  —  400 

Financing and finance costs  (119)  (439) 

Dividends  —  — 

Closing free surplus  4,366  4,141 

Underlying free surplus generation is an operating metric that measures the expected amount of free 
surplus generated from in-force business over the period excluding investment in new business, 
finance costs, investment return variances and other non-operating items. 

In 1H23, underlying free surplus generation was US$731 million, mainly from Hong Kong and Japan.

Our adjusted net underlying free surplus generation¹ was US$334 million in 1H23 (up from US$259 
million in 1H22), due to the strong growth in our value of new business, with reducing new business 
strain.

Note:
1. See section 2.7 of the supplementary embedded value section for details.
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Regulatory capital

The HKIA introduced a GWS framework in 2021, which includes an assessment of the capital 
adequacy of the Group. The Group has been subject to the HKIA’s GWS framework since 14 May 
2021, when FWD Management Holdings was designated as our designated insurance holding 
company. In addition, our operating subsidiaries are subject to solvency and capital adequacy 
requirements in the jurisdictions in which they operate and are incorporated and/or domiciled.

Under the GWS framework, a supervised group’s capital adequacy is measured with reference to the 
Group capital adequacy requirements. With respect to local business operations, capital adequacy 
and solvency are measured with reference to relevant local regulations. 

The Group capital requirements are determined in accordance with the Insurance (Group Capital) 
Rules. As at 30 June 2023, the group available capital includes US$2.6 billion of  Group Tier 2 capital, 
of which US$2.6 billion are financial instruments, which, under transitional arrangements, receive full 
capital credit up to the tenth anniversary of designation of FWD Management Holdings as the DIHC, 
with the capital credit reducing from after the tenth anniversary date at the rate of 20 per cent per 
annum until the fifteenth anniversary. 

These requirements are based on the HKIA’s prescribed “summation approach” and are referred to as 
the Local Capital Summation Method (“LCSM”). Under the LCSM, the group available capital and 
group required capital are calculated as the sum of the available capital and minimum and prescribed 
required capital requirements respectively for each entity within the Group according to the 
respective local regulatory requirements, subject to any variation considered necessary by the HKIA.

The group minimum capital requirement (“GMCR”) is the sum of the minimum capital requirements of 
each entity within the Group. The group prescribed capital requirement (“GPCR”) is the sum of the 
prescribed capital requirements of each entity within the Group, and represents the level below which 
the HKIA may intervene on grounds of capital adequacy.

The Group LCSM cover ratios are calculated as the ratios of the group available capital to our capital 
requirements on the MCR and PCR bases, while the tier 1 cover ratio (MCR basis) is calculated as the 
ratio of the Group Tier 1 capital to our GMCR.

FWD Group LCSM cover ratios

US$ millions, unless otherwise stated 1H23 2022

Group available capital 5,944 5,406

  of which Tier 1 capital 3,379 2,834

Group minimum capital requirement (GMCR) 990 868

Group prescribed capital requirement (GPCR) 1,981 1,877

Group LCSM free surplus (PCR basis) 3,964 3,529

Group LCSM tier 1 cover ratio (MCR basis)¹  341 %  327 %

Group LCSM cover ratio (PCR basis)²  300 %  288 %

Our LCSM cover ratio (PCR basis) and LCSM tier 1 cover ratio (MCR basis) increased in 1H23 mainly 
due to in-force business free surplus generation and change in statutory reserving basis for FWD Re 
from an IFRS4 basis to an IFRS17 basis, partially offset by capital market and foreign exchange 
movements. 

Notes:  
1. Also defined as the ‘tier 1 group capital coverage ratio’.
2. Also defined as the ‘eligible group capital resources coverage ratio’.
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FWD Group Holding Limited Ratings

On 24 August 2023, FWD Group was assigned its inaugural investment grade credit ratings from Fitch 
and Moody’s. 

• Fitch assigned the company an issuer default rating of “BBB+”, with a stable outlook while 
Moody’s assigned the company an issuer rating of “Baa2”, with a positive outlook. 

• Fitch affirmed FWD Group’s core life insurance operating entities insurer financial strength 
(“IFS”) rating of “A”, while Moody’s assigned a notional insurance financial strength rating of 
“A3”, to the FWD Group’s major life insurance operating entities.

Our investment grade credit ratings will allow us to more effectively and efficiently access the credit 
markets through FWD Group as we continue to execute our growth strategy. 

Group LCSM cover sensitivities

Group LCSM cover ratio (PCR basis) sensitivities arising from changes to the central assumptions 
from equity price and interest rate movements and applied consistently with those in EV, are shown 
below. The interest rate sensitivities apply a 50 basis points movement in current bond yields and the 
corresponding movement on discount rates applied to the calculation of liabilities. The amount of 
eligible debt capital is equal to the carrying value and is unchanged in the sensitivity calculations.

FWD Group (PCR basis) 1H23

Central value  300 %

Impact of equity price changes

10 per cent increase in equity prices 2 pps

10 per cent decrease in equity prices (2) pps

Impact of interest rate changes

50 basis points increase in interest rates (1) pps

50 basis points decrease in interest rates 7 pps

International developments

The International Association of Insurance Supervisors (“IAIS”), of which HKIA is a member, adopted 
the Common Framework for the Supervision of Internationally Active Insurance Groups (“ComFrame” 
and “IAIGs”) on 14 November 2019. ComFrame establishes supervisory standards and guidance 
focusing on the effective group-wide supervision of IAIGs. Insurance groups are identified as IAIGs 
according to the criteria set out in ComFrame. On 13 January 2023, FWD Group was identified as an 
IAIG by its group supervisor, the HKIA.
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Operational highlights – geographical markets

Hong Kong & Macau 

Key highlights

Operating profit before tax

US$133 million ↑ 204%
(1H22: US$43 million)

New business sales

US$245 million ↑ 30%
(1H22: US$188 million)

Value of new business

US$148 million ↑ 43%
(1H22: US$103 million)

New business margin

60.3% ↑ 5.4 pps
(1H22: 54.8%)

Value of new business
contribution to Group

31%

Market and strategy overview

We commenced our life insurance business in 
Hong Kong and Macau in 2013, when we acquired 
ING’s life insurance business. We grew our 
presence in Hong Kong by acquiring MetLife 
Limited and Metropolitan Life Insurance 
Company of Hong Kong Limited in 2020.

While Hong Kong is a mature insurance market, 
the demand for life insurance products continues 
to grow, driven by solid demographic and 
macroeconomic tailwinds. With favourable 
demographic trends, there is growing demand for 
retirement and health products, as well as 
untapped potential in medical protection 
products.

The expanding affluent class in recent years has 
also contributed to an expanding high net worth 
(“HNW”) individual population providing further 
potential for future growth in this sector.

Benefited by geographical proximity, it is popular 
among MCVs to seek additional insurance 
protection in Hong Kong and Macau.

Historically, insurance sales to MCVs have 
contributed to a significant portion of total 
industry sales (including FWD), which slowed 
during the COVID-19 pandemic due to travel 
restrictions. The Mainland China border with 
Hong Kong and Macau reopened in January 
2023, with full resumption of normal travel in 
February 2023.

As a result, the industry and we have seen a 
significant increase in sales to MCVs during 1H23.

We expect that these changes will in turn 
continue to accelerate the digital transformation 
of the insurance industry in Hong Kong, which 
better fits the evolving consumer behaviour, with 
consumers increasingly seeking digital solutions 
for their insurance needs, which is core to our 
strategy.
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Furthermore, the regulators have been introducing favourable policies and measures to support the 
growth of the insurance industry, including tax incentives to stimulate demand and the promotion of 
remote insurance sales in Hong Kong.

We believe that, as a starting point, the proposed Hong Kong regulatory changes to implement 
Insurance Connect will allow us to capitalise on the significant potential in the Greater Bay Area 
region in China, and we believe we are well-positioned to tap into the accessible customer base upon 
its implementation, which is a valuable opportunity for our Hong Kong business.

Business highlights

FWD operates a multi-channel distribution model in Hong Kong and Macau, including tied agents, 
bancassurance, brokerage and neo-insurance.

Our agency distribution channel has grown significantly in recent years. Our MDRT-registered agent 
force ranked the fourth largest in Hong Kong. Our agency recruitment strategy mainly focuses on 
organic recruitment. We have been investing in our in-house agency leaders to recruit and build up 
our sales force.

For our bancassurance channel, we cooperate with banks including Bank of Communications, China 
Construction Bank, E.Sun Commercial Bank, Industrial Commercial Bank of China, CMB Wing Lung 
Bank-Macau Branch and Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited under a non-exclusive, preferred 
banking partnership model where we align our product proposition with the banks’ segmentation 
strategy, provide tailored training programmes for banks and deploy digital tools to help us and our 
banking partners to enhance the sales and customer journey. 

Through our bancassurance partners and bank-based brokers, we are able to present diverse and 
tailored product solutions to a wide group of HNW and mass affluent customers. Additionally, our 
long-term partnerships with the Hong Kong-incorporated bank subsidiaries of leading PRC banks 
allow us to tap into the vast population across the Greater Bay Area region in China.

For our brokerage/IFA channel, brokers in Hong Kong strategically target MCVs and HNW individuals 
and we believe that our brokers are well-positioned to take advantage of the forecasted market 
growth and potential insurance opportunities in the Greater Bay Area in China. We are also aiming to 
roll out a self- service portal to our brokers for enhancement of the customer experience.

Financial highlights

FWD Hong Kong and Macau overall new business sales increased by 30 per cent compared to last 
year, to US$245 million, driven by strong growth in offshore business as the border with Mainland 
China reopened in January 2023 (offset by large one-off group sale in 1H22).

Value of new business grew 43 per cent in 1H23 to US$148 million, driven by growth in MCV sales and 
re-pricing.

New business margin increased by 5.4 percentage points to 60.3 per cent compared with last year, 
which was driven by favourable product mix shift as well as margin improvement from re-pricing 
some of our key savings products.

Operating profit before tax has increased by 204 per cent to US$133 million, primarily from higher 
premium based revenue and improved expense margin.
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Thailand & Cambodia

Key highlights

Operating profit before tax

US$82 million ↓ 13%
(1H22: US$94 million)

New business sales

US$342 million ↑ 34%
(1H22: US$260 million)

Value of new business

US$172 million ↑ 21%
(1H22: US$144 million)

New business margin

50.3% ↓ 5.1 pps
(1H22: 55.2%)

Value of new business
contribution to Group

36%

Note:
1. Based on 1H23 statistics from the Thai Life Assurance Association.

Market and strategy overview

We commenced our life insurance business in 
Thailand in 2013, when we acquired ING’s life 
insurance business, which included an exclusive 
distribution relationship with TMB Bank Public 
Company Limited.

In 2019, we acquired the life insurance entity of 
SCB and entered into an exclusive long term 
distribution partnership with the bank, which is 
the largest bank in Thailand by market 
capitalisation. 

On a new business sales basis1, we are the second 
largest life insurance company in Thailand and 
the largest bancassurer.

We launched our operations in Cambodia in 
September 2021, leveraging our digital 
capabilities and other operations in Thailand 
enabling an efficient capital structure. 

The insurance market in Thailand has faced 
headwinds in recent years, as a result of social 
commotion, regulatory changes, and the 
COVID-19 pandemic, but grew again from  2022. 

We believe that there is significant untapped 
potential within the Thailand life insurance market 
as the population remains substantially under 
insured. In addition, Thailand’s aging population 
has increased the demand for protection, medical 
and pension products.

We operate under a multi-channel distribution 
model in Thailand, including bancassurance, 
agency, brokerage and direct channels. FWD 
Thailand’s key strategy is to continue to deliver on 
our exclusive partnership with SCB  
complemented with growing our quality agency 
and partnerships channels.
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Business highlights

FWD Thailand’s successful digital integration with SCB Life allowed us to target customers and cross-
sell insurance products, and significantly enhanced our business scale, distribution reach and brand 
visibility. By leveraging our partnership with SCB, we have continued to grow our business in Thailand  
significantly, being the largest bancassurer in Thailand on a new business sales1 basis.

We extended our long term exclusive distribution partnership with SCB for a further two years in April 
2023. This extension demonstrates the strength of our partnership with SCB and will allow us to 
deliver on our strategy of enhancing our bancassurance channel and cementing our bancassurance 
leadership in Thailand.

We have worked closely with SCB to build data analytics models, including Propensity to Buy and 
Next Best Offer, which analyse a customer’s life stage, coverage gap, persona and purchase 
behaviour to predict what is the next best appropriate product for the customers, prompting 
customised recommendations that are tailored to cover the customer’s specific protection needs.

Our second largest distribution channel in Thailand is the agency channel (the sixth largest in Thailand 
in on a new business sales1 basis). To meet evolving customer needs, we are offering more riders 
through the agency channel. Riders are insurance policy provisions that add benefits to amend the 
terms of a base insurance policy to provide additional options and coverage. 

We ranked as the second largest life insurer in digital sales in Thailand on a new business sales1 basis, 
and have introduced a number of new products and tools. We currently offer products such as life 
insurance, personal accident and health products through our eCommerce platform on a D2C basis. 

Financial highlights

FWD Thailand new business sales grew 34 per cent relative to 1H22, growing across all our key 
distribution channels. 

Value of new business increased 21 per cent relative to 1H22, predominantly driven by top line growth 
rates as we continue to expand our reach in all key channels across Thailand.

New business margin decreased to 50.3 per cent in 1H23 (from 55.2 per cent in 1H22), as our business 
focused on tactically growing sales of more savings oriented business in the bancassurance channel, 
where margins continue to be amongst the highest in the industry.

Operating profit before tax has decreased by 13 per cent to US$82 million in 1H23, mainly due to 
increased level of claims in the period.

Note:
1. Based on 1H23 statistics from the Thai Life Assurance Association.

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

33



Japan

Key highlights

Operating profit before tax

US$123 million ↑ 15%
(1H22: US$117 million)

New business sales

US$65 million ↓ 23%
(1H22: US$93 million)

Value of new business

US$70 million ↑ 7%
(1H22: US$72 million)

New business margin

108.2% ↑ 30.4 pps
(1H22: 77.7%)

Value of new business
contribution to Group

15%

Market and strategy overview

FWD entered Japan with the acquisition of AIG 
Fuji Life in 2017, which was subsequently 
rebranded FWD Japan.

From 2017 to early 2018, COLI products were a 
major source of our revenue. However, changes 
to tax regulations have significantly impacted the 
sales of COLI products in early 2019. In response 
to these changes, we accelerated our strategic 
shift from COLI products to individual protection 
products sold through the IFA channel 
accordingly.

We believe that we operate a competitive and 
sustainable business model focused on the 
specialised but large individual protection market. 
We aim to gain market share and believe that 
there is ample room to grow in this market 
segment.

Our value of new business from individual 
protection business grew 20 per cent to US$68 
million from  1H22, aided by the successful launch 
of our high margin medical product, which  
accounted for 96 per cent of our value of new 
business in 1H23.

Overall, in 1H23, our value of new business 
increased by 7 per cent to US$70 million from 
1H22.

We will continue to drive operational efficiencies 
through the transformation and digitalisation of 
our operations and continued pivot to the 
individual protection business.

Our distribution model in Japan is primarily based 
on the IFA channel, supplemented by our direct 
channel. In Japan, IFAs distribute products using 
various methods, including shop-type agencies 
with retail-style outlets and case agencies, which 
sell insurance products to small- to mid-size 
enterprise (SME) and HNW customers in person 
or by mail.
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We are regularly refreshing our IFA solicitor force to capture the top nationwide IFA partners in the 
market while reducing the number of IFAs with low productivity. We also distribute our products 
under a long-term distribution agreement with AIG through its subsidiary, AIG General Insurance 
Company, Ltd. (formerly known as Fuji Fire & Marine, Ltd).

Our direct to customer (“D2C”) distribution is primarily operated through telemarketing from our call 
centre in Okinawa, which enables customers to buy our insurance products directly on the phone. To 
date, a smaller contribution of sales was generated through other direct channels such as our website.

Business highlights

The COVID-19 pandemic has brought challenges to many insurance providers in Japan, in particular 
to those who incur high labour costs from their large and nationwide sales forces. We operate with a 
relatively small sales force in Japan and recently have focused on shifting our sales away from face- 
to-face methods, particularly in the brokerage and IFA channel as part of our efforts to digitalise our 
operations.

Instead of deploying our sales force throughout Japan, we support our sales team from our call centre 
in Okinawa to expand our distribution coverage and increase cross-selling between our channels, 
especially in distant areas and those with low sales activity. We believe that such initiatives have 
enhanced our product sales, strengthened our relationships with IFAs and improved customer 
experience.

In addition, we have invested heavily in research and development in accordance with our 
digitalisation strategy. Our operations are supported by robust technology capabilities and digital 
infrastructure which is cloud-based and seamlessly integrated across our business functions.

As part of our business digitalisation, we have introduced multiple key technologies and initiatives 
that cover key areas of our operation. For example, we have increased our operational efficiency, and 
business scalability through digitalisation of our operations and utilisation of cloud infrastructure to 
host our applications and servers. We have also enhanced customer satisfaction in claims processing 
through automation. Our Straight-Through Processing (STP) and AI Claims 2.0 systems have 
increased processing speed, reduced error ratios and waiting time by employing analytics-driven 
software.

Financial highlights

FWD Japan reported 1H23 new business sales of US$65 million down 23 per cent from 1H22, 
impacted by some slowdown in our individual protection business and scaled back  COLI business.

Our value of new business was US$70 million in 1H23, up 7 per cent from 1H22. Overall VNB margin 
increased to 108.2 per cent in 1H23 (from 77.7 per cent in 1H22) due to increased protection mix.

Operating profit before tax was US$123 million in 1H23, up 15 per cent from US$117 million from 1H22, 
primarily due to higher investment returns.
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Emerging Markets

Key highlights

Operating profit before tax

US$25 million ↑ na
(1H22: US$(2) million)

New business sales

US$192 million ↑ 5%
(1H22: US$190 million)

Value of new business

US$92 million ↑ 10%
(1H22: US$86 million)

New business margin

47.9% ↑ 2.5 pps
(1H22: 45.2%)

Value of new business
contribution to Group

19%

Strategy and business highlights

Emerging Markets include our businesses in the 
Philippines, Indonesia, Singapore, Vietnam and 
Malaysia. Apart from the Philippines, FWD 
entered in these markets via small acquisitions of 
legacy platforms and has in the last few years 
invested in expanding distribution and 
digitalisation, resulting in reaching critical 
growth.

We aim to transform our newly formed exclusive 
partnerships with leading banks in respective 
markets, accelerate FWD Elite agency growth, 
establish new ecosystem partnerships for direct 
strategy, and drive superior customer service 
through digital end-to-end customer journeys.

Except for Singapore, these markets share 
features such as a large and expanding labour 
force, robust economic growth underpinning a 
growing middle class with wealth accumulation, 
improving financial inclusion across socio- 
economic classes accelerated by increased 
access to technology, and an under-penetrated 
and underserved population.

Growing health and protection awareness in 
these markets is expected to increase per capita 
spending on insurance.

Emerging Markets have been a key growth engine 
for us. We believe that we are well-positioned to 
capture the substantial and dynamic 
opportunities in these markets, leveraging our 
digitally empowered and diverse distribution 
channels and customer propositions.

As of 30 June 2023, we had over 36,400 agents, 
13 bancassurance partners, as well as various 
brokerage/IFA partners, digital platforms and 
eCommerce partners in the Emerging Markets. 
Among our Business Units, our digital adoption is 
most progressed in Emerging Markets with a 100 
per cent agency digital adoption ratio and 100 per 
cent eSubmission in all markets and fully 
automated underwriting available in the 
Philippines, Indonesia, Singapore, and Malaysia. 
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Vietnam

We commenced our operations in Vietnam in 2016 following our acquisition of Great Eastern Life 
(Vietnam) Company Limited. We have an exclusive bancassurance long term partnership with 
Vietcombank (“VCB”), the leading commercial bank in Vietnam.

FWD Vietnam offers products ranging from universal life, unit-linked, endowment, to a suite of riders 
serving as add-on protection products as well as standalone protection products such as cancer care, 
critical illness, Medicare, term life and credit life. We design our products under a customer-led 
approach. We simplified our contract wording to be reader-friendly and easy-to-understand for 
customers and offering more products online. We believe that our higher rider attachments drive an 
increased protection ratio, serve customer needs and improve our profit margin. 

We operate a multi-channel distribution model in Vietnam, including tied agency, bancassurance, 
broker/IFA, and direct channels. 

FWD Vietnam’s operations in Vietnam is among the most digitally-advanced of our business. Our 
agency force can utilise a variety of digital tools including eRecruit, eLearning, FWD Ezi (our 
electronic application submission system) and iRIS. We are also transforming our bancassurance 
partnerships with NextGen Banca, under which we utilise data and customer analytics to better serve 
our customers.  In addition to adopting a cashless and paperless sales model, we have also 
implemented other initiatives such as eClaims, ePolicy, eCash withdrawal to enhance the customer 
experience.

The Philippines

Since entering the market in 2014 under a new licence, we have and continue to develop new 
products and services to meet the protection and investment needs of our target customers, including 
tech-savvy customers, mass affluent, HNW and overseas foreign workers segments.

We continue to develop a trusted and digitally-literate agency force through Elite recruitment and 
MDRT development. We also forged a successful long-term exclusive bancassurance partnership with 
Security Bank in 2015, through which we effectively utilise both bank staff and our insurance 
specialists to optimise sales productivity. We also operate a direct digital channel and have 
proactively integrated our online and offline offerings to increase our sales.

We were the first insurance provider in the country to launch in-market 24-hour customer service, to 
obtain approvals from the regulators to offer remote insurance sales through the use of electronic 
signatures and to conduct remote recruitment by self-certifying agents during the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Philippines was also among the first markets where we launched AI2, our AI-driven 
financial planning tool.

Indonesia

FWD Indonesia, which is our regulated insurance subsidiary operating our insurance business in 
Indonesia, received a Shariah-compliant life insurance license in 2015 and launched its first Shariah 
product in 2016 aimed at the majority Muslim population in the country. We completed the 
acquisition of PT Commonwealth Life in 2020 and integrated the two companies under one platform 
with unified products and systems. 

In March 2021, we subscribed for 29.9 per cent of the issued share capital in BRI Life. We also agreed 
to provide additional capital contribution to BRI Life, which is expected to increase our stake in BRI 
Life to approximately 44 per cent across a three-year period. As at 30 June 2023, we have an equity 
interest of 39.8 per cent in BRI Life. Concurrently with our initial subscription into BRI Life, BRI Life 
entered into a 15-year distribution partnership with Bank BRI, the largest bank in Indonesia by market 
capitalisation. As such this collaboration strategically complements our own agency channel and our 
partnership with PT Bank Commonwealth.
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FWD Indonesia operates both through agency and bancassurance channels. Our bancassurance 
channel comprises exclusive bancassurance partnerships with PT Bank Commonwealth and non-
exclusive bancassurance partnerships with KEB Hana Bank and PT Bank Mestika Dharma Tbk. 

Since the inception of the business, FWD Indonesia has operated on a paperless and cashless basis, 
including eSubmission, electronic signature as well as electronic policy issuance and delivery. We 
have also recently launched an eClaims process and an ePolicy assistant to allow our customers to 
complete a substantial amount of their transactions with us online by themselves. For our distribution 
channels, we have automated our agency recruitment process and provide eTraining through our 
eLicensing platform to onboard our new agents.

Singapore

We acquired a controlling stake in Shenton Insurance Pte. Ltd. in 2016. Subsequently, we acquired the 
entire remaining stake in the company, and it became our wholly owned subsidiary in 2019.

While our application programming interface (“API”)-enabled D2C platform focuses on mass 
customers as a primary target segment in Singapore, we are increasingly focused on expanding our 
reach to penetrate affluent and HNW individuals through the fast-growing IFA channel given 
Singapore’s status as one of the largest offshore wealth management hubs in the world. 

FWD Singapore currently distributes our products in Singapore direct and IFA channels. We acquire 
customers on a D2C basis through our website, search engines and affiliate partnerships as well as 
O2O1 cross-selling opportunities. Our IFAs can leverage various digital tools, such as our platform that 
allows remote sales, transactions and customer consultation.

Our customers in Singapore enjoy a seamless and paperless purchase journey through our fully digital 
platform and technology-enabled IFA channel. We are automating our underwriting process, which is 
integrated along with other digital tools into our sales support application FWD Smart. In  1H23, all of 
our new insurance applications and most service requests in Singapore were submitted online.

Malaysia

We commenced operations in Malaysia with our acquisition of HSBC’s 49 per cent stake in HSBC 
Amanah Takaful in 2019. FWD Takaful’s product portfolio includes unit-linked products, traditional 
products, premium-paying riders, advisory and other individual and group products. In general, we 
are shifting our focus away from savings to protection products, including term life, critical illness, 
cancer, hospital cash benefit and medical. We are also extending the coverage of many of our 
products to the insured’s family and children.

FWD Takaful operates a multi-channel distribution model, including (i) a bancatakaful partnership 
with HSBC Amanah Malaysia Berhad, (ii) an agency channel, which benefited from access to FWD 
Affiliates, (iii) a direct channel for online D2C sales, and (iv) other channels that provide takaful 
protection for government servants.

In April 2023, we acquired, with local investors, a 70 per cent effective interest in Gibraltar BSN Life 
Berhad (now rebranded as FWD Insurance Berhad), an insurance company in Malaysia. This 
acquisition enables our Group to enter into the life insurance market in Malaysia alongside our 
existing takaful presence, and allows us to create a full-service offering in Malaysia to offer both 
family takaful and life insurance solutions in a rapidly growing market with long-term potential for 
growth.

We utilise various digital tools to manage and enhance the performance of our distribution channels. 
We use our iRIS tool to monitor sales through our agents. We allow our agents to use our AI² 
application to analyse customer data and provide better services. 

Note:
1. O2O collectively refers to online-to-online, online-to-offline and offline-to-online.
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Emerging Markets financial highlights

Emerging Markets new business sales grew 5 per cent in 1H23, comparing with the previous year with 
growth impacted by market disruption in Vietnam, the largest of our Emerging Markets business 
units.

Value of new business grew 10 per cent in 1H23, comparing with previous year, with new business 
margin increased by 2.5 percentage points to 47.9 per cent compared to 1H22.

The Emerging Markets segment made an operating profit before tax of US$25 million in 1H23, 
improving from an operating loss of US$2 million in 1H22, due to the increased cost allocations from 
new business sales resulting from our growth, highlighting strong progress of scaling up our 
operations in the relevant countries. The expense ratio reduced 0.9 percentage points to 32.6 per cent 
as our markets continued to gain scale. 
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Independent review report
To the shareholders of FWD Group Holdings Limited 富衛集團有限公司 

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Introduction
We have reviewed the accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements of FWD 
Group Holdings Limited 富 衛 集 團 有 限 公 司  (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (together, the 
"Group") as at 30 June 2023 which comprise the interim consolidated statement of financial positions 
as at 30 June 2023 and the related interim consolidated statements of income, comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the six-month periods then ended; and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  Management is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with International 
Accounting Standard 34 "Interim Financial Reporting" ("IAS 34"). Our responsibility is to express a 
conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review. Our report is made solely to you, 
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.  We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Scope of Review
We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, 
"Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity". A 
review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible 
for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is 
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all 
significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion.

Conclusion
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the interim 
financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34.

Certified Public Accountants 
Hong Kong
29 August 2023
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Interim condensed consolidated income statement

US$m Notes
Six months ended

30 June 2023

Six months ended
30 June 2022

(Restated)

Year ended
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Insurance revenue 7 1,366 1,177 2,408 

Insurance service expenses 9,15 (955) (791) (1,817)

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held 15 (57) (109) (146)

Insurance service result 354 277 445 

Interest revenue 522 452 951 

Other investment gains/(losses) 201 (629) (939)

Net impairment loss on financial assets (1) (14) (29)

Investment return 8 722 (191) (17)
Net finance (expenses)/income from insurance 

contracts (591) 243 86
Net finance expenses from reinsurance contracts 

held (10) (20) (23)

Movement in investment contract liabilities 3 1  2

Net investment result 124 33 48 

Net insurance and investment result 8 478 310 493 

Other revenue 7 69 18 38 

General and other expenses 9 (357) (316) (689)

Borrowings and other finance costs 10 (83) (59) (128)
Profit/(loss) before share of profit/(loss) from 
associates and joint ventures 107 (47) (286)
Share of profit/(loss) from associates and joint 

ventures 13 3 (1) 2

Profit/(loss) before tax 110 (48) (284)

Tax expense 11 (66) (4) (36)

Net profit/(loss) 44 (52) (320)

Net profit/(loss) attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company (32) (59) (302)

Perpetual securities 55 28  83

Non-controlling interests 21 (21) (101)
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Interim condensed consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

US$m
Six months ended

30 June 2023

Six months ended
30 June 2022

(Restated)

Year ended
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Net profit/(loss)  44  (52)  (320) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss:
Fair value gains/(losses) on debt securities at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (net of tax of: 30 June 
2023: US$154m, 30 June 2022: US$(785m) and 31 December 
2022: US$(851m))  669  (3,757)  (4,242) 

Fair value losses on debt securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income transferred to income on disposal 
and impairment (net of tax of: 30 June 2023: US$nil, 30 
June 2022: US$7m and 31 December 2022: US$3m)  62  101  199 

Net finance (expenses)/income from insurance contracts (net 
of tax of: 30 June 2023:US$(221m) , 30 June 2022: 
US$837m and 31 December 2022: US$917m)  (885)  3,743  3,917 

Net finance income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts 
held  42  (17)  (32) 

Cash flow hedges (net of tax of: 30 June 2023:US$nil, 30 
June 2022: US$(2m) and 31 December 2022: US$(1m))  3  (6)  (8) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments  (223)  (464)  (187) 
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) from associates 

and joint ventures  3  (5)  — 

 (329)  (405)  (353) 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Effect of re-measurement of net liability of defined benefit 

schemes  —  1  2 

Total other comprehensive loss  (329)  (404)  (351) 

Total comprehensive loss  (285)  (456)  (671) 

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company  (263)  (352)  (558) 

Perpetual securities  55  28  83 

Non-controlling interests  (77)  (132)  (196) 
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Interim condensed consolidated statement of 
financial position

US$m Notes
As at

30 June 2023

As at
31 December 2022

(Restated)

As at
1 January 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

ASSETS
Intangible assets 12  3,218  3,207  3,348 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 13  462  407  342 

Property, plant and equipment  127  139  159 

Investment property 14  587  641  663 

Insurance contract assets 15  737  722  741 

Reinsurance contract assets 15  726  725  1,020 

Financial investments 16, 18
At fair value through other comprehensive income 

debt securities  31,047  30,815  36,243 

At fair value through profit or loss

Debt securities  2,025  1,810  755 

Equity securities  739  381  1,055 

Interests in investment funds  8,019  7,576  7,435 

Derivative financial instruments 17  148  319  120 

Loans and deposits  1,116  1,530  896 

 43,094  42,431  46,504 

Deferred tax assets  338  238  1 

Current tax recoverable  23  32  20 

Other assets 19  716  574  597 

Cash and cash equivalents 20  1,729  1,474  2,652 

 51,757  50,590  56,047 

Assets classified as held-for-sale  —  —  107 

Total assets  51,757  50,590  56,154 
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US$m Notes
As at

30 June 2023

As at
31 December 2022

(Restated)

As at
1 January 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

LIABILITIES
Insurance contract liabilities 15 38,607 37,019 42,061 

Reinsurance contract liabilities 15 295 463 456 

Investment contract liabilities 21 149 197 272 

Borrowings 22 2,215 2,216 2,212 

Derivative financial instruments 17 394 134 157 

Provisions 40 15 18 

Deferred tax liabilities 227 269 326 

Current tax liabilities 434 385 22 

Other liabilities 23 1,195 1,403 1,483 

43,556 42,101 47,007 
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as 

held-for-sale — — 67 

Total liabilities 43,556 42,101 47,074 

EQUITY
Share capital and share premium 24 6,411 6,411 6,019 

Other reserves 24 68 81 98 

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings (582) (438) 13

Amounts reflected in other comprehensive income (867) (637) (386)

Fair value reserve 24 (2,417) (2,953) (33) 

Insurance finance reserve 24 2,005 2,620 (187) 

Cash flow hedge reserve 24 (11) (15) (9) 

Defined benefit obligation revaluation reserve 3 3 2 

Foreign currency translation reserve 24 (452) (295) (162) 
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 
and joint ventures 5 3 3 

Total equity attributable to Shareholders of the 
Company 5,030 5,417 5,744 

Perpetual securities 24 1,354 1,354 1,607 

Non-controlling interests 24 1,817 1,718 1,729 

Total equity 8,201 8,489 9,080 

Total liabilities and equity 51,757 50,590 56,154 

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 August 2023.

Director Director
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Interim condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity

Attributable to Shareholders of the Company

Other comprehensive income

US$m Notes

Share
Capital

and share
premium

Other 
reserves

Accumulated
losses

Amounts 
reflected in 

other 
comprehensive 

income
Fair value

reserve
Insurance 

finance reserve

Cash flow 
hedge

reserve

Defined 
benefit 

obligation 
revaluation 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation
reserve

Share of other 
comprehensive 

income of 
associates and 
joint ventures

Perpetual
securities

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2023, as previously reported  6,411  81  (1,036)  (3,493)  (3,168)  —  (15)  3  (315)  2  1,354  389  3,706 

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 17, net of tax  —  —  672  2,784  143  2,620  —  —  20  1  —  1,329  4,785 

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9, net of tax  —  —  (74)  72  72  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (2) 

Restated balance at 1 January 2023  6,411  81  (438)  (637)  (2,953)  2,620  (15)  3  (295)  3  1,354  1,718  8,489 

Net gain/(loss)  —  —  (32)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  55  21  44 

Other comprehensive income items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

Fair value gains on debt securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  —  —  —  484  484  —  —  —  —  —  —  185  669 

Fair value losses on debt securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income transferred to income on disposal and 
impairment  —  —  —  45  45  —  —  —  —  —  —  17  62 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts  —  —  —  (639)  —  (639)  —  —  —  —  —  (246)  (885) 

Net finance income from reinsurance contracts held  —  —  —  30  —  30  —  —  —  —  —  12  42 

Cash flow hedges  —  —  —  4  —  —  4  —  —  —  —  (1)  3 

Foreign currency translation adjustments  —  —  —  (157)  —  —  —  —  (157)  —  —  (66)  (223) 

Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint 
ventures  —  —  —  2  —  —  —  —  —  2  —  1  3 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  —  —  (32)  (231)  529  (609)  4  —  (157)  2  55  (77)  (285) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries 5  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  29  29 

Issuance of shares by subsidiaries  —  (18)  —  2  8  (7)  —  —  1  —  —  16  — 

Distribution paid 24  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (55)  —  (55) 

Share-based compensation 27  —  5  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  2  7 

Transactions with non-controlling interests 24  —  —  (113)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  129  16 

Others  —  —  1  (1)  (1)  1  —  —  (1)  —  —  —  — 

Balance at 30 June 2023 (Unaudited)  6,411  68  (582)  (867)  (2,417)  2,005  (11)  3  (452)  5  1,354  1,817  8,201 
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Attributable to Shareholders of the Company

Other comprehensive income

US$m Notes

Share
Capital

and share
premium

Other 
reserves

Accumulated
losses

Amounts 
reflected in 

other 
comprehensive 

income
Fair value

reserve
Insurance 

finance reserve
Cash flow hedge

reserve

Defined benefit 
obligation 

revaluation 
reserve

Foreign currency 
translation

reserve

Share of other 
comprehensive 

income of 
associates and 
joint ventures

Perpetual
securities

Non- controlling 
interests Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2022, as previously reported  6,019  98  (283)  (187)  (21)  —  (9)  2  (162)  3  1,607  1,693  8,947 

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 17, net of tax  —  —  285  (187)  —  (187)  —  —  —  —  —  36  134 

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9, net of tax  —  —  11  (12)  (12)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1) 

Restated balance at 1 January 2022  6,019  98  13  (386)  (33)  (187)  (9)  2  (162)  3  1,607  1,729  9,080 

Net gain/(loss)  —  —  (59)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  28  (21)  (52) 

Other comprehensive income items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

Fair value losses on debt securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  —  —  —  (2,731)  (2,731)  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1,026)  (3,757) 

Fair value losses on debt securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income transferred to income on disposal and 
impairment  —  —  —  73  73  —  —  —  —  —  —  28  101 

Net finance income from insurance contracts  —  —  —  2,720  —  2,720  —  —  —  —  —  1,023  3,743 

Net finance expenses from reinsurance contracts held  —  —  —  (12)  —  (12)  —  —  —  —  —  (5)  (17) 

Cash flow hedges  —  —  —  (4)  —  —  (4)  —  —  —  —  (2)  (6) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments  —  —  —  (337)  —  —  —  —  (337)  —  —  (127)  (464) 

Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint 
ventures  —  —  —  (3)  —  —  —  —  —  (3)  —  (2)  (5) 

Other comprehensive income items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

Effect of remeasurement of net liability of defined benefit 
schemes  —  —  —  1  —  —  —  1  —  —  —  —  1 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  —  —  (59)  (293)  (2,658)  2,708  (4)  1  (337)  (3)  28  (132)  (456) 

Issuance of shares 24  200  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  200 

Issuance of shares by subsidiaries  —  (38)  6  4  17  (16)  —  —  3  —  —  28  — 

Redemption of perpetual securities 24  —  —  (2)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (248)  —  (250) 

Distribution paid 24  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (33)  —  (33) 

Share-based compensation 27  —  7  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  2  9 

Transactions with non-controlling interests 24  —  —  (96)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  96  — 

Disposal of subsidiary  —  —  —  (2)  (1)  —  —  —  (1)  —  —  (1)  (3) 

Others  (8)  (1)  2  1  2  (1)  —  (1)  1  —  —  1  (5) 

Restated balance at 30 June 2022 (Unaudited)  6,211  66  (136)  (676)  (2,673)  2,504  (13)  2  (496)  —  1,354  1,723  8,542 
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Attributable to Shareholders of the Company

Other comprehensive income

US$m Notes

Share
Capital

and share
premium

Other 
reserves

Accumulated
losses

Amounts 
reflected in 

other 
comprehensive 

income
Fair value

reserve
Insurance 

finance reserve
Cash flow hedge

reserve

Defined benefit 
obligation 

revaluation 
reserve

Foreign currency 
translation

reserve

Share of other 
comprehensive 

income of 
associates and 
joint ventures

Perpetual
securities

Non- controlling 
interests Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2022, as previously reported  6,019  98  (283)  (187)  (21)  —  (9)  2  (162)  3  1,607  1,693  8,947 

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 17, net of tax  —  —  285  (187)  —  (187)  —  —  —  —  —  36  134 

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9, net of tax  —  —  11  (12)  (12)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1) 

Restated balance at 1 January 2022  6,019  98  13  (386)  (33)  (187)  (9)  2  (162)  3  1,607  1,729  9,080 

Net gain/(loss)  —  —  (302)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  83  (101)  (320) 

Other comprehensive income items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

Fair value losses on debt securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  —  —  —  (3,081)  (3,081)  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1,161)  (4,242) 

Fair value losses on debt securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income transferred to income on disposal and 
impairment  —  —  —  144  144  —  —  —  —  —  —  55  199 

Net finance income from insurance contracts  —  —  —  2,846  —  2,846  —  —  —  —  —  1,071  3,917 

Net finance expenses from reinsurance contracts held  —  —  —  (23)  —  (23)  —  —  —  —  —  (9)  (32) 

Cash flow hedges  —  —  —  (6)  —  —  (6)  —  —  —  —  (2)  (8) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments  —  —  —  (137)  —  —  —  —  (137)  —  —  (50)  (187) 

Other comprehensive income items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

Effect of remeasurement of net liability of defined benefit 
schemes  —  —  —  1  —  —  —  1  —  —  —  1  2 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  —  —  (302)  (256)  (2,937)  2,823  (6)  1  (137)  —  83  (196)  (671) 

Issuance of shares 24  400  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  400 

Issuance of shares by subsidiaries  —  (38)  6  4  17  (16)  —  —  3  —  —  28  — 

Redemption of perpetual securities 24  —  —  (2)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (248)  —  (250) 

Distribution paid 24  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (87)  —  (87) 

Share-based compensation 27  —  19  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  7  26 

Transactions with non-controlling interests 24  —  —  (151)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  151  — 

Disposal of subsidiary  —  —  —  (2)  (1)  —  —  —  (1)  —  —  (1)  (3) 

Transfer to legal reserve  —  3  (3)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Others  (8)  (1)  1  3  1  —  —  —  2  —  (1)  —  (6) 

Restated balance at 31 December 2022  6,411  81  (438)  (637)  (2,953)  2,620  (15)  3  (295)  3  1,354  1,718  8,489 
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Interim condensed consolidated statement of cash 
flows

US$m Notes
Six months ended

30 June 2023

Six months ended
30 June 2022

(Restated)

Year ended
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax:  110  (48)  (284) 

Adjustments for:

Financial investments  (42)  1,165  (1,077) 

Insurance and reinsurance contract balances  211  (1,880)  (1,017) 

Investment contract liabilities  (48)  (44)  (75) 
Other non-cash operating items, including investment 
income and the effect of exchange rate changes on 
certain operating items  (348)  469  737 

Operating cash items: 

Dividend received  106  110  189 

Interest received  617  576  1,185 

Interest paid  (9)  (2)  (10) 

Income tax paid  (72)  (25)  (39) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  525  321  (391) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 5  17  —  — 

Acquisition of interest in an associate 13  (51)  (54)  (54) 

Dividend and distribution from joint ventures 13  —  5  7 

Payments for intangible assets  (43)  (438)  (483) 

Payments for investment properties  —  (29)  (64) 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (7)  (5)  (11) 
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash 

disposed  —  38  38 

Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets  4  13  13 

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment  —  1  1 

Net cash used in investing activities  (80)  (469)  (553) 
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US$m Notes
Six months ended

30 June 2023

Six months ended
30 June 2022

(Restated)

Year ended
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of ordinary shares 24.1  —  200  400 

Transaction costs on issuance of ordinary shares  —  (31)  (31) 

Repayment of bank borrowings 22  —  —  (50) 

Proceeds from bank borrowings 22  —  —  50 

Restricted cash for bank borrowings  (1)  4  (3) 

Distributions paid on perpetual securities 24.3  (55)  (33)  (87) 

Redemption of perpetual securities 24.3  —  (250)  (250) 

Transaction with non-controlling interests 24.5  1  —  — 

Principal portion of lease payments  (22)  (25)  (42) 

Finance costs paid on lease liabilities  (2)  (2)  (4) 

Finance costs paid on borrowings  (68)  (45)  (96) 

Finance costs paid on distribution agreement payable  (3)  (72)  (74) 

Payment for listing related expenses  (1)  (1)  (3) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (151)  (255)  (190) 
NET INCREASED/ (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  294  (403)  (1,134) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  1,474  2,654  2,654 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents  (39)  (60)  (46) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD  1,729  2,191  1,474 
Included in cash and cash equivalents per the 

consolidated statement of financial position 20  1,729  2,191  1,474 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements and 
significant accounting policies

1. Corporate Information

1.1 General information

FWD Group Holdings Limited 富衛集團有限公司 (the “Company” or “FWD Group Holdings Limited”), 
is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 
18 March 2013. The address of the Company registered office is Vistra (Cayman) Limited, P.O. Box 
31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands.

The Company is a holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “FWD Group” or 
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of products and services focusing on life 
insurance, general insurance, and investment services (the “Insurance Business”).

As at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, the immediate and ultimate holding company of the 
Company was PCGI Holdings Limited. PCGI Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Li Tzar Kai, 
Richard, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group (the “Ultimate Controlling Shareholder”).

1.2 History and reorganisation of the Group

1.2.1 Historical holding structure

The historical holding structure of the Group prior to the completion of the reorganisation was as 
follows:

• The Company was and continues to be the immediate holding company of FWD Group Limited 
(“FGL”).

• PCGI Limited was the immediate holding company of FWD Limited (“FL”), an exempted company 
with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. As at 1 January 2020, 
PCGI Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Li Tzar Kai, Richard.

• PCGI Limited and the Company were the immediate holding companies of PCGI Intermediate 
Limited and PCGI Intermediate Holdings (II) Limited (collectively, the “Financing Entities”), 
respectively.
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1. Corporate Information (Continued)

1.2 History and reorganisation of the Group (Continued)

1.2.2. Reorganisation of the Group

The Group underwent the following reorganisation steps (“Reorganisation”):

1. On 17 December 2020, the Company and PCGI Limited carried out a merger under the laws 
of the Cayman Islands (the “Merger”), pursuant to which:

i. The Company assumed all the assets, liabilities and business of PCGI Limited, and PCGI 
Limited ceased to exist according to the laws of the Cayman Islands; and

ii. The Company issued 18,486,640 ordinary shares to Mr. Li Tzar Kai, Richard on a one-to-
one basis of his holding of ordinary shares of PCGI Limited.

Following the Merger, the share capital and share premium of the Company increased by 
US$18m and US$1,831m, respectively. The Company became the immediate investment 
holding company of FL, FGL and the Financing Entities.

2. On 23 December 2020, Mr. Li Tzar Kai, Richard transferred his holding of 18,486,640 ordinary 
shares of the Company to PCGI Holdings Limited in exchange for 18,486,640 ordinary shares 
of PCGI Holdings Limited. Following such transfer, the Company became the wholly owned 
subsidiary of PCGI Holdings Limited.

3. On 23 December 2020, the Company transferred its shareholding in the Financing Entities 
and novated the bank borrowings and guaranteed notes of US$1,296m and a related party 
balance of US$420m to PCGI Holdings Limited by way of capitalisation (the “Transfer and 
Novation of Borrowings and Related Parties Balances”). Refer to Notes 22, 24 and 28 for 
further details. PCGI Holdings Limited replaced the Company (itself and as successor of PCGI 
Limited) as the guarantor of certain notes issued by the Financing Entities. After the 
completion of the Transfer and Novation of Borrowings and Related Parties Balances, 
US$1,716m was capitalised as share premium.

4. On 20 August 2021, the name of the Company was changed from PCGI Intermediate 
Holdings Limited to FWD Group Holdings Limited.

5. On 20 August 2021, the Company effected a share split of all of the Company’s issued and 
outstanding ordinary shares on a 1-for-100 basis (“Share Split”), pursuant to which the par 
value of each ordinary share was adjusted from US$1 to US$0.01. On the same date, PCGI 
Holdings Limited surrendered 1,514,065,560 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each for nil 
consideration pursuant to a form of surrender letter (“Share Surrender”). Accordingly, the par 
value of the ordinary shares surrendered at an amount of US$15m was transferred from share 
capital to capital redemption reserve. The Share Split and Share Surrender effectively 
resulted in a 1-for-30 split of the Company’s issued ordinary shares.

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

52  FWD Group Holdings Limited Interim Report 2023



1. Corporate Information (Continued)

1.2 History and reorganisation of the Group (Continued)

1.2.2 Reorganisation of the Group (Continued)

6. On 14, 15 and 20 December 2021, and 14 and 27 January 2022, the Company allotted and 
issued in aggregate 259,170,649 ordinary shares to certain investors.

7. On 10 January 2022, the Company adopted the dual foreign name of “FWD Group Holdings 
Limited 富衛集團有限公司”.

8. On 19 December 2022, the Company allotted and issued 31,897,926 ordinary shares to PCGI 
Holdings Limited (“December 2022 Pre-IPO Investment”). Following the December 2022 Pre-
IPO Investment, PCGI Holdings Limited holds approximately 77.7% shareholding in the 
Company. Refer to Note 24 for further details.  

9. On 31 July 2023, the Company issued in aggregate 34,756,740 management shares 
(“Management Shares”), 120,099,900 series P conversion shares (“Series P Conversion 
Shares”) and 196,083,810 Series A, B-2 and B-3 conversion shares (“Series A, B-2 and B-3 
Conversion Shares”) to the non-controlling interest holders of FL and FGL, and the non-
controlling interest holders of FL and FGL sold and the Company purchased their holdings of 
ordinary shares, preference shares and convertible preference shares (as applicable) in FL 
and FGL, respectively (the “Exchange of Share Capital of FL and FGL”). These Management 
Shares, Series P Conversion Shares and Series A, B-2 and B-3 Conversion Shares will be 
mandatorily converted into ordinary shares of the Company upon completion of an initial 
public offering of the Company. 

Immediately after the completion of the Exchange of Share Capital of FL and FGL, FL and 
FGL have become wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

The following reorganisation steps are expected to be completed conditional on and upon an initial 
public offering of the Company taking place:

Management Shares, Series P Conversion Shares and Series A, B-2 and B-3 Conversion Shares will be 
mandatorily converted into ordinary shares of the Company through the consolidation, redesignation 
and reclassification of the Management Shares, Series P Conversion Shares and Series A, B-2 and B-3 
Conversion Shares by operation of the laws of the Cayman Islands (the "Conversion of Shares"). 
Immediately after the Conversion of Shares, the Company will only have ordinary shares in issue.

When these conditional reorganisation steps are completed they are expected to be accounted for in 
accordance with the Company’s accounting policy noted in Note 2.2(3).

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

53



2. Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements for six months ended 30 June 2023 have 
been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared, on a going concern 
basis, under the historical cost convention, except for investment property, the re-measurement of 
financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), certain 
financial assets and liabilities measured or designated at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and 
derivative financial instruments, all of which are carried at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale are 
stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. The interim condensed 
consolidated financial statements do not include all the information and disclosures required in the 
annual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the Group’s annual consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The accounting policies adopted in these interim condensed consolidated financial statements are 
consistent with those followed in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2022, except for the adoption of the following new standards and new amendments to the 
standards from 1 January 2023.

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

The following relevant new standards have been adopted for the first time for the years and 
periods presented:

i. IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

a. Recognition, measurement and presentation of insurance contracts

IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts held and investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features. It introduces a model that 
measures groups of contracts based on the Group’s estimates of the present value of 
future cash flows that are expected to arise as the Group fulfils the contracts, an 
explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk and a contractual service margin 
(“CSM”).

Under IFRS 17, insurance revenue in each reporting period represents the changes in 
the liabilities for remaining coverage that relate to services for which the Group 
expects to receive consideration and an allocation of premiums that relate to 
recovering insurance acquisition cash flows. In addition, investment components are 
no longer included in insurance revenue and insurance service expenses.

Insurance finance income and expenses, disaggregated between profit or loss and 
OCI for insurance contracts, are presented separately from insurance revenue and 
insurance service expenses.

The Group applies the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”) to simplify the 
measurement of contracts in the group business and non-life products with a 
coverage period of one year or less, except for groups of acquired contracts that do 
not qualify for the PAA. When measuring liabilities for remaining coverage, the PAA 
is similar to the Group’s previous accounting treatment.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

i. IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (Continued)

a. Recognition, measurement and presentation of insurance contracts (Continued)

Previously, certain acquisition costs were recognised and presented as separate 
assets from the related insurance contracts (‘deferred acquisition costs’) until those 
costs were included in profit or loss. Under IFRS 17, only insurance acquisition cash 
flows that arise before the recognition of the related insurance contracts are 
recognised as separate assets and are tested for recoverability. These assets are 
presented in the carrying amount of the related portfolio of contracts and are 
derecognised once the related contracts have been recognised.

Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts held other than insurance finance 
income and expenses are now presented as a single net amount in profit or loss. 
Previously, amounts recovered from reinsurers and reinsurance expenses were 
presented separately.

For an explanation of how the Group accounts for insurance and reinsurance 
contracts held under IFRS 17, see Note 2.3.

b. Transition

Full retrospective approach

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 17 have been 
applied using a full retrospective approach to the extent practicable. The Company 
has applied the full retrospective approach on transition to all contracts issued on or 
after 1 January 2021. Under the full retrospective approach, at 1  January 2022 the 
Group:

• identified, recognised and measured each group of insurance and reinsurance 
contracts held as if IFRS 17 had always been applied;

• derecognised previously reported balances that would not have existed if IFRS 17 
had always been applied. These included some deferred acquisition costs for 
insurance contracts, intangible assets related to insurance contracts (previously 
referred to as ‘value of business acquired’), policy loans classified as financial 
investments, insurance receivables and payables. Under IFRS 17, they are 
included in the measurement of the insurance contracts;

• recognised any resulting net difference in equity. The carrying amount of 
goodwill from previous business combinations were not adjusted.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

i. IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (Continued)

b. Transition (Continued)

The Group has applied the transition provisions in IFRS 17 and has not disclosed the 
impact of the adoption of IFRS 17 on each financial statement line item. The effects of 
adopting IFRS 17 on the consolidated financial statements at 1  January 2022 are 
presented in the statement of changes in equity.

The Group applied the modified retrospective approach or the fair value approach in 
IFRS 17 to identify, recognise and measure certain groups of contracts at 1 January 
2022 when it was impracticable to apply the full retrospective approach.

The Group considered the full retrospective approach impracticable under any of the 
following circumstances.

• The effects of retrospective application were not determinable because the 
information required had not been collected (or had not been collected with 
sufficient granularity) and was unavailable because of system migrations, data 
retention requirements or other reasons. Such information included for certain 
contracts:

– expectations about a contract’s profitability and risks of becoming onerous 
required for identifying groups of contracts; 

– information about historical cash flows and discount rates required for 
determining the estimates of cash flows and risk adjustment for non-
financial risk on initial recognition and subsequent changes on a 
retrospective basis;

– information required to allocate fixed and variable overheads to groups of 
contracts, because the Group’s previous accounting policies did not require 
such information; and

– information about changes in assumptions and estimates, which might not 
have been documented on an ongoing basis.

• The full retrospective approach required assumptions about what Group 
management’s intentions would have been in previous periods or significant 
accounting estimates that could not be made without the use of hindsight. Such 
assumptions and estimates included for certain contracts:

– expectations at contract inception about policyholders’ shares of the 
returns on underlying items at contract inception required for identifying 
direct participating contracts;

– assumptions about the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, because the 
Group had not been subject to any accounting or regulatory framework that 
required an explicit margin for non-financial risk.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

i. IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (Continued)

b. Transition (Continued)

Modified retrospective approach

The application of the full retrospective approach on transition for certain portfolios 
was determined to be impracticable for the Company, as obtaining all required 
historical data for its existing products from the actuarial valuation reports was not 
possible. Therefore, the Company has used reasonable and supportable information 
from its existing reporting systems, which resulted in the closest outcome to the full 
retrospective approach.

Fair value approach

The Company has applied the fair value approach on transition for all other groups of 
contracts as, prior to transition, it grouped contracts from multiple cohorts and years 
into a single unit for accounting purposes. Obtaining reasonable and supportable 
information to apply the full retrospective approach was impracticable without 
undue cost or effort. The Company has determined the CSM of the liability for 
remaining coverage at the transition date, as the difference between the fair value of 
the group of insurance contracts and the fulfilment cash flows measured at that date. 
In determining fair value, the Company has applied the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair 
Value Measurement.

The Company used the income approach to fair value the insurance contracts at the 
transition date.

Irrespective of the transition approach used, the following items have not been 
applied retrospectively.

• The consequential amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations introduced by 
IFRS 17 require the Group to classify contracts acquired as insurance contracts 
based on the contractual terms and other factors at the date of acquisition. This 
requirement was not applied to business combinations before 1 January 2023, 
for which the Group classified contracts acquired as insurance contracts based 
on the conditions at contract inception.

To indicate the effect of applying the modified retrospective approach or the fair 
value approach on the CSM, insurance revenue and insurance finance income or 
expenses, the Group has provided additional disclosures in Notes 8 and 15.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

i. IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (Continued)

b. Transition (Continued)

Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows

The Group also applied the modified retrospective approach to identify, recognise 
and measure certain assets for insurance acquisition cash flows at 1 January 2022.

It was impracticable to apply the full retrospective approach because:

• data had not been collected with sufficient granularity;

• information required to identify fixed and variable overheads as relating to 
acquisition activities and to allocate them to groups of contracts was not 
available; or

• original assumptions about the manner in which the Group would have expected 
insurance acquisition cash flows to be recovered, which were required to 
allocate them to renewals, could not be made without the use of hindsight.

ii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognition, classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impairment of 
financial assets and hedge accounting, which replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.

IFRS 9 includes three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at 
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is 
generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and whether 
the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”). 
For impairment, IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking 
‘expected credit loss’ (“ECL”) model. The new impairment model applies to financial 
assets measured at amortised cost, debt investments at FVOCI and lease receivables. 
Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39. For financial 
liabilities, IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Group. Refer to Note 2.2 for the 
Group's new accounting policies adopted in accordance with IFRS 9.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

ii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied 
retrospectively, except as described below.

• The comparative financial statements have been restated. The Group has elected to 
adopt the classification overlay and apply ECL model to financial instruments that had 
been derecognised before 1 January 2023.

• The Group has elected, as an accounting policy choice under IFRS 9, to continue to 
apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39.

• The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and 
circumstances that existed before 1 January 2023:

– The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held;

– The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets 
and financial liabilities as measured at FVTPL;

– If a financial asset had low credit risk at 1  January 2023, then the Group 
determined that the credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since 
initial recognition.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

ii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement

The following table shows a reconciliation between the carrying amounts of the Group’s 
financial assets under IAS 39 to the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at the date of initial 
application, 1  January 2023. The measurement categories of the Group’s financial 
liabilities did not change upon adoption of IFRS 9.

IAS 39 measurement
Re-

classification4

Re-
measurement - 

ECL

IFRS 9 measurement

US$m Category Amount Category Amount

Financial investments

Debt securities1
FVTPL 

(designated)  225 N/A

 131 

Debt 
securities 

FVTPL
(mandatory)  131 

 94 

Debt 
securities 

FVOCI  94 

  AFS  32,493 N/A

 30,721 

Debt 
securities 

FVOCI  30,721 

   1,575 

Debt 
securities 

FVTPL
(mandatory)  1,575 

 197 

Investment 
funds3 
FVTPL

(mandatory)  197 

Equity securities2
FVTPL 

(designated)  7,864 N/A

   381 

Equity 
securities 

FVTPL
(mandatory)  381 

 7,379 

Investment 
funds3
FVTPL

(mandatory)  7,379 

 104 

Debt 
securities 

FVTPL 
(mandatory)  104 

 

Derivative financial 
instruments, net

FVTPL
(held for 
trading)  185  185 

FVTPL
(mandatory)  185 

Loans and deposits, excluding 
policy loans L&R  1,532  1,532  (2) 

Amortised 
cost  1,530 

Total financial assets  42,299  42,299  (2)  42,297 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

ii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

L&R: Loans and receivables

AFS: Available for sale

Note:

1 Certain debt securities previously classified as AFS under IAS 39 were classified as FVTPL 
because their cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding. Debt securities that were classified as FVOCI under IFRS 9 because their 
contractual cash flows demonstrate solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding. The Group reviewed its business model over these debt securities and concluded 
that the return of investment shall be achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
sale of these investments.

2 The Group designated certain debt securities in policyholder and shareholder investments as 
at FVTPL under IAS 39. Upon initial application of IFRS 9, the Group revoked its previous 
designation and classified these debt securities based on their contractual cash flows 
characteristics and business model assessment.

3 Equity securities are mandatorily measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9. As such, these investments 
are no longer required to be designated at FVTPL.

4 Under IAS 39, certain investment funds were designated as at FVTPL because the Group 
managed them and evaluated their performance on a fair value basis. The Group also 
designated some investment funds as AFS. Under IFRS 9, these investments are mandatorily 
measured at FVTPL because they represent either redeemable units of the funds or units of 
funds with a limited life and their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal outstanding.

5 This includes certain reclassification from equity securities at FVTPL to debt securities at 
FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9 requirements as well as to conform presentation for 
comparison purpose. 

The Group’s accounting policies on the classification of financial instruments under IFRS 
9 are set out in Note 2.2.1. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

ii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation between the carrying amounts under IAS 39 to 
the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2022.

IAS 39 measurement
Re-

classification4

Re-
measurement - 

ECL

IFRS 9 measurement

US$m Category Amount Category Amount

Financial investments

Debt securities1
FVTPL 
(designated)  79 N/A

 3 

Debt 
securities 
FVTPL
(mandatory)  3 

 76 

Debt 
securities 
FVOCI  76 

  AFS  37,156 N/A

 36,167 

Debt 
securities 
FVOCI  36,167 

   752 

Debt 
securities 
FVTPL
(mandatory)  752 

 237 

Investment 
funds3 
FVTPL
(mandatory)  237 

Equity securities2
FVTPL 
(designated)  8,253 N/A

   1,055 

Equity 
securities 
FVTPL
(mandatory)  1,055 

 7,198 

Investment 
funds3
FVTPL
(mandatory)  7,198 

 

Derivative financial 
instruments, net

FVTPL
(held for 
trading)  (37)  (37) 

FVTPL
(mandatory)  (37) 

Loans and deposits, excluding 
policy loans L&R  897  897  (1) 

Amortised 
cost  896 

Total financial assets  46,348  46,348  (1)  46,347 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

ii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The following tables reconcile the closing impairment allowance under IAS 39 with the 
opening loss allowance under IFRS 9.

US$m
31 December 2022

IAS 39 Reclassification Remeasurement
1 January 2023

IFRS9

Debt securities at FVOCI under IFRS 9

From available-for-sale under IAS 39  (14)  9  (45)  (50) 
Loans and deposits at amortised cost under 

IFRS 9
From loans and receivables under IAS 39, 

excluding policy loans  (1)  —  (2)  (3) 

Total  (15)  9  (47)  (53) 

US$m
31 December 2021

IAS 39 Reclassification Remeasurement
1 January 2022

IFRS9

Debt securities at FVOCI under IFRS 9

From available-for-sale under IAS 39  (14)  9  (19)  (24) 
Loans and deposits at amortised cost under 

IFRS 9
From loans and receivables under IAS 39, 

excluding policy loans  —  —  (1)  (1) 

Total  (14)  9  (20)  (25) 

Refer to Note 26 for further details of the loss allowance under IFRS 9.

Impact of transition to IFRS 9 on reserves and accumulated losses

The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on the Group’s reserves and accumulated losses as at 1 
January 2023 is as follows:

US$m Accumulated losses Fair value reserve

Closing balance under IAS 39 as at 31 December 2022  (1,036)  (3,168) 

Reclassify investments from AFS to FVTPL  (58)  58 
Recognition of IFRS 9 ECL for debt securities at FVOCI and loans 

and deposits at amortised cost  (35)  33 

Deferred tax in relation to IFRS 9 application1  19  (19) 

Other deferred tax impact1  —  143 

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 17, net of tax  672  — 

Opening balance under IFRS 9, as at 1 January 2023  (438)  (2,953) 

Note:
1. In the consolidated financial statements prepared under IAS 39 and IFRS 4, there are unrecognised deferred tax assets in 

relation to the fair value losses on available for sale financial assets as it was not considered probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which these deductible temporary difference can be utilised. In the consolidated financial statements prepared 
under IFRS 9 and IFRS 17, there are additional deferred tax liabilities recognised as a result of increase in taxable temporary 
differences arisen from restated insurance contract balances, and deferred tax assets for the deductible temporary differences 
in relation to the fair value losses on FVOCI debts instruments were recognised as sufficient taxable temporary differences are 
expected to reverse in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (Continued)

ii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impact of transition to IFRS 9 on reserves and accumulated losses (Continued)

The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on the Group’s reserves and accumulated losses as at 
1 January 2022 is as follows:

US$m Accumulated losses Fair value reserve

Closing balance under IAS 39 as at 31 December 2021  (283)  (21) 

Reclassify investments from AFS to FVTPL  26  (26) 
Recognition of IFRS 9 ECL for debt securities at FVOCI and loans and 

deposits at amortised cost  (14)  13 
Deferred tax in relation to IFRS 9 application  (1)  1 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 17, net of tax  285  — 
Opening balance under IFRS 9, as at 1 January 2022  13  (33) 

iii. Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate 
or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form 
part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture (long-term interests). 
Therefore, an entity applies IFRS 9, rather than IAS 28, including the impairment 
requirements under IFRS 9, in accounting for such long-term interests. The amendments 
also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any adjustments 
to the carrying amount of long-term interests that arise from applying IAS 28 Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures. The Group applied these amendments concurrently 
with the application of IFRS 9, and there was no significant impact to its consolidated 
financial statements.

iv. Other amendments 
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 2 Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting 

Policies (2024)
• Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates (2023)
• Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

Single Transaction (2023)

The above amendments to the standards did not have a significant impact to the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted for annual period beginning on 1 
January 2023

The following relevant new standards and amendments to standards have been issued but are 
not effective for annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 and have not been early adopted:
• Amendments to IAS 1, Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants (2024)
• Amendment to IFRS 16, Leases on sale and leaseback (2024)
• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 

and its Associate of Joint Venture (Deferred)

The Group is assessing the impact of these amendments. 
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2..2 Financial Instruments

2.2.1     Classification and measurement of financial instruments

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). Financial assets 
are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business 
model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the 
first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

(1) Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated as at FVTPL:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

(2) Financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

Financial asset is measured at FVOCI are initially recognised at fair value plus attributable 
transaction costs. The difference between the initial recognition amount and par value is 
amortised. Interest income from FVOCI debt securities is recognised in investment income in 
the consolidated income statements using the effective interest method. FVOCI debt 
securities are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value, except for 
relevant foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate fair value reserve within equity. Foreign 
currency translation differences on these debt securities are calculated as if they were carried 
at amortised cost and are recognised in the consolidated income statements as investment 
experience. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statements.

On initial recognition of an equity security that is not held for trading, the Group may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income 
on an investment-by-investment basis.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2..2 Financial Instruments (Continued)

2.2.1     Classification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

(3) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above 
are measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial recognition the Group may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at 
FVOCI	as	at	FVTPL	 if	doing	so	eliminates	or	significantly	 reduces	an	accounting	mismatch	
that	would	otherwise	arise.

Dividend income from equity securities or investment funds at fair value through profit or loss 
is recognised in investment income in the consolidated income statements, generally when 
the security becomes ex-dividend. Interest income is recognised on an accrued basis. For all 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, changes in fair value are recognised in other 
investment gains/(losses).

Transaction costs in respect of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are expensed as they are incurred.

(4) Business model assessment

The Group assesses the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held for 
each portfolio of financial assets because this best reflects the way that the business is 
managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 
practice, including whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the 
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or 
realising cash flows through the sale of assets;

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s 
management;

• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held 
within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

• how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on 
the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and

• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and 
expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not 
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group’s stated 
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2..2 Financial Instruments (Continued)

2.2.1     Classification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

(4) Business model assessment (Continued)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for 
derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s 
continuing recognition of the assets.

For a majority of debt investments, the objective of the Group’s business model is to fund 
insurance contract liabilities. The Group undertakes significant buying and selling activity on a 
regular basis to rebalance its portfolio of assets and to ensure that contractual cash flows from 
the financial assets are sufficient to settle insurance contract liabilities. The Group determines 
that both collecting contractual cash flows as they come due and selling financial assets to 
maintain the desired asset profile are integral to achieving the business model’s objective.

Loans and deposits are held in separate portfolios for long-term yield. These assets may be 
sold, but such sales are not expected to be more than infrequent. The Group considers that 
these assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect the 
contractual cash flows.

(5) Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

For the purposes of this assessment, principal is defined as the fair value of the financial asset 
on initial recognition. However, the principal may change over time – e.g. if there are 
repayments of principal.

Interest is defined as consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic 
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual 
terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a 
contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it 
would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:

• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

• leverage features;

• prepayment and extension features;

• terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 
asset arrangements); and

• features that modify consideration for the time value of money (e.g. periodic reset of 
interest rates).
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2..2 Financial Instruments (Continued)

2.2.1     Classification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

(5) Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are SPPI (Continued)

A prepayment feature is consistent with the SPPI criterion if the prepayment amount 
substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding, which may include reasonable compensation for early termination of the 
contract. In addition, for a financial asset acquired at a premium or discount to its contractual 
par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially 
represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which 
may also include reasonable compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with 
this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant on initial recognition.

Some prepayment features permit the debtor to prepay the debt instrument at an amount 
calculated as the remaining contractual cash flows discounted at the current market 
benchmark interest rate plus a fixed spread. The Group has determined that these prepayment 
features are consistent with the SPPI criterion. Because the Group would be compensated 
only for the change in the market benchmark interest rate and for lost interest margin, the 
prepayment penalty would not include any non-SPPI risks and may be seen as reasonable 
compensation.

(6) Realised gains and losses on financial assets

Realised gains and losses on FVOCI debt securities are determined as the difference between 
the sale proceeds and amortised costs and the cumulative gains and losses are reclassified to 
profit or loss from other comprehensive income.

Cumulative gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income on FVOCI equity 
securities are not reclassified to profit or loss but transferred to retained earnings on disposal 
of an investment.

Purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognised on the trade date, which is the 
date at which the Group commits to purchase or sell the assets.

(7) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, into one of the following categories:

• financial liabilities at FVTPL, and within this category as:

– held-for-trading;

– derivative hedging instruments; or

– designated as at FVTPL; and

• financial liabilities at amortised cost.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2..2 Financial Instruments (Continued)

2.2.1     Classification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

(7) Financial liabilities (Continued)

The Group has designated investment contract liabilities as at FVTPL on initial recognition if 
the related assets are measured at FVTPL and the designation eliminates a measurement 
inconsistency.

All investment contract liabilities have a unit-linking feature whereby the amount due to 
contract holders is contractually determined on the basis of specified assets. The effect of the 
unit-linking feature on the fair value of the liability is asset-specific performance risk and not 
credit risk, and the liabilities are fully collateralised. The Group has determined that any 
residual credit risk is insignificant and has not had any impact on the fair value of the liabilities.

(8) Derecognition and offset

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a financial asset, it derecognises the financial asset if it no longer has control 
over the asset. In transfers where control over the asset is retained, the Group continues to 
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. The extent of continuing 
involvement is determined by the extent to which the Group is exposed to changes in the fair 
value of the asset.

Financial liabilities are generally derecognised when their contractual obligations expire or are 
discharged or cancelled. If the terms of a financial instrument are modified, then the Group 
evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified financial instrument are substantially 
different. If the cash flows are substantially different, in which case, a new financial instrument 
based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. If a financial instrument measured at 
amortised cost is modified but not substantially, then it is not derecognised.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

(9) Loans and deposits

Loans and deposits are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, 
they are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment 
losses. Interest income from loans and receivables is recognised in investment income in the 
consolidated income statements using the effective interest method.

(10) Term deposits

Deposits include time deposits with financial institutions which do not meet the definition of 
cash and cash equivalents as their maturity at acquisition exceeds three months. Certain of 
these balances are subject to regulatory or other restriction as disclosed in Note 18 Financial 
Investments. Deposits are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.2.1     Classification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

(11) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with maturities at acquisition of three months or less, 
which are held for cash management purposes. Cash and cash equivalents also include cash 
received as collateral for derivative transactions, and repo and reverse repo transactions. Cash 
and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Bank deposits which are restricted to use are included in ‘‘restricted cash’’ within "other 
assets" in the consolidated statement of financial position. Restricted cash are excluded from 
cash and cash equivalents.

2.2.2     Fair values of non-derivative financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, 
having regard to the specific characteristics of the asset or liability concerned, assuming that the 
transfer takes place in the most advantageous market to which the Group has access. The fair values 
of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss and available for sale securities) are based on quoted market prices at the date of the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Group is the current bid price, which is considered to be the price within the bid-ask spread that is 
most representative of the fair value in the circumstances. The fair values of financial instruments that 
are not traded in active markets are determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety 
of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions at each reporting date. The 
objective of using a valuation technique is to estimate the price at which an orderly transaction would 
take place between market participants at the date of the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Financial instruments carried at fair value are measured using a fair value hierarchy described in Note 
18.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.2.3   Impairment of financial assets

(1) General

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (ECL) on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at FVOCI.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL, except for Stage 2 
and Stage 3 assets where a lifetime ECL is recognised.

ECL is assessed in three stages:

Stage 1: if the financial asset is not credit-impaired upon origination and the credit risk on the 
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance 
is measured at an amount up to 12-month ECL; 

Stage 2: if the financial asset is not credit-impaired upon origination but the credit risk on the 
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL. Lifetime ECL results from all possible 
default events over the expected life of the financial instrument; and

Stage 3: if the financial asset is credit-impaired, with one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred, 
the loss allowance is also measured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL. 

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum contractual 
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 

For debt securities at low credit risk at the reporting date, it is assumed that the credit risk has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition, and hence, the loss allowance is measured 
at an amount up to 12-month ECL.

(2) Measurement of ECL

ECL is calculated as a probability-weighted forward-looking estimate of credit losses. Credit 
losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the 
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive).

(3) Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, debt investments at FVOCI and lease receivables are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to mitigating actions. 
The criteria of “default” are consistent with those of “credit-impaired”.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.2.3   Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(3) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

• significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• a breach of contract such as a default or past-due event;

• the restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not 
otherwise consider;

• the debtor entering bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation becoming probable; or

• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A financial asset that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition 
is usually considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not 
receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of 
impairment.

(4) Presentation of ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position and income statement

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as 
follows:

• financial assets measured at amortised cost: the loss allowance is deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets; and

• debt investments measured at FVOCI: the loss allowance does not reduce the carrying 
amount of the financial assets (which are measured at fair value) but gives rise to an equal 
and opposite gain in OCI.

ECL is recognised as “Net impairment loss on financial assets” in the consolidated income 
statement.

(5) Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally 
the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of 
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. 
This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.

Although the Group expects no significant recovery from amounts written off, financial assets 
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities and company activities, that 
may result in recovery of written off amounts.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.2.4   Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments primarily include foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and 
bond forwards that derive their value mainly from underlying foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and bond prices. All derivatives are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at their fair value, which represents their cost excluding transaction costs which are 
expensed. They are subsequently remeasured at their fair value, with movements in this value 
recognised in profit or loss. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices or, if these are not 
available, by using valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or option pricing 
models. All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair values are positive and as liabilities when 
the fair values are negative.

(1) Derivative instruments for economic hedges

Whilst the Group enters into derivative transactions to provide economic hedges under the 
Group’s risk management framework, it adopts hedge accounting to these transactions only in 
limited circumstances. This is either because the transactions would not meet the specific 
IFRS rules to be eligible for hedge accounting or the documentation requirements  to meet 
hedge accounting criteria would be unduly onerous. Where hedge accounting does not apply, 
these transactions are treated as held for trading and fair value movements are recognised 
immediately in other investment gains/(losses).

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit 
or loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

(2) Derivative instruments for hedge accounting

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as: 

• Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised 
asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment. 

• Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly 
probable forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm 
commitment.

(i) Fair value hedge

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the fair value of a 
recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment (or an identified 
portion of such asset, liability or firm commitment), changes in the fair value of the 
derivative are recorded in the consolidated income statements, together with any 
changes in fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged 
risk. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer 
meets the criteria for hedge accounting; or the Group revokes the designation of the 
hedge relationship, the cumulative adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged 
item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to the consolidated 
income statements over the residual period to maturity.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.2.4   Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

(2) Derivative instruments for hedge accounting (Continued)

(ii) Cash flow hedge

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in 
cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction or 
the foreign currency risk of a committed future transaction, the effective portion of 
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated separately in the hedging reserve under equity.  The ineffective 
portion of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated income 
statements.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset or a non-financial liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss is 
removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the 
non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a 
financial asset or a financial liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed 
from equity and recognised in the consolidated income statements in the same period 
or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects the 
consolidated income statements (such as when the interest income or expense is 
recognised).

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy 
statements, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and 
recognised in the consolidated income statements in the same period or periods during 
which the hedged forecast transaction affects the consolidated income statements.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer 
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, or the Group revokes the designation of the 
hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the 
associated cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in 
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs.  If the hedged 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss 
recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statements.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.2.4   Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

(3) Embedded derivatives

Embedded derivatives are derivatives embedded within other non-derivative host financial 
instruments to create hybrid instruments. When the host contract is a financial asset in the 
scope of IFRS 9, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification and 
the embedded derivative is not separated from the host contract.

A derivative embedded in a host insurance or reinsurance contract is not accounted for 
separately from the host contract if the embedded derivative itself meets the definition of an 
insurance or reinsurance contract.

For other contracts, where the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives 
are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host instrument, and 
where the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss, the embedded derivative is bifurcated and carried at fair value as a 
derivative in accordance with IFRS 9. 

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts

Consistent accounting policies for the measurement and recognition of insurance and investment 
contracts have been adopted throughout the Group.

(1) Product classification

The Group classifies its contracts written including reinsurance issued or reinsurance 
contracts held as either insurance contracts or investment contracts, depending on the level of 
insurance risk. Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk, 
while investment contracts are those contracts without significant insurance risk. The 
significance of insurance risk is dependent on both the probability of an insured event and the 
magnitude of its potential effect.  Some insurance and investment contracts, referred to as 
participating business, have discretionary participation features, "DPF", which may entitle the 
customer to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional non-guaranteed 
benefits, such as policyholder dividends or bonuses. The Group applies the same accounting 
policies for the recognition and measurement of obligations arising from investment contracts 
with DPF as it does for insurance contracts. The Group refers to such contracts as 
participating business.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

In the event that a scenario (other than those lacking commercial substance) exists in which an 
insured event would require the Group to pay significant additional benefits to its customers, the 
contract is accounted for as an insurance contract. For investment contracts that do not contain DPF, 
IFRS 9 Financial Instrument, and, if the contract includes an investment management element, IFRS 
15, Revenue from contracts with customers, are applied. Once a contract has been classified as an 
insurance contract, reclassification is not subsequently performed unless the terms of the agreements 
are later amended. 

Certain insurance and investment contracts with DPF supplement the amount of guaranteed benefits 
due to policyholders. These contracts are distinct from other insurance and investment contracts as 
the Group has discretion in the amount and/or timing of the benefits declared, and how such benefits 
are allocated between groups of policyholders. Customers may be entitled to receive, as a 
supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits or bonuses: 

• that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;

• whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the Group; and

• that are contractually based on:

– the performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract;

– realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the 
issuer; or

– the profit or loss of the entity, fund or other entity that issues the contract. 

In some jurisdictions, participating business is written in a participant fund which is distinct from the 
other assets of the Group. The allocation of benefits from the assets held in such participating funds is 
subject to minimum policyholder participation mechanisms which are established by regulation. The 
extent of such policyholder participation may change over time. The current policy participation in 
declared dividends for locations with participating funds is set out below:

Current policyholder

Country participation

Malaysia  90 %

Vietnam 70%/75%

In some jurisdiction participating business is not written in a distinct fund and the Group refers to this 
as other participating business.

Insurance contracts are classified as direct participating contracts or contracts without direct 
participation features. Direct participating contracts are contracts for which, at inception:

• the contractual terms specify that the policyholder participates in a share of a clearly identified 
pool of underlying items;

• the Group expects to pay to the policyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the fair 
value returns on the underlying items; and 

• the Group expects a substantial proportion of any change in the amounts to be paid to the 
policyholder to vary with the change in fair value of the underlying items.

All other insurance contracts and all reinsurance contracts held are classified as contracts without 
direct participation features. Some of these contracts are measured under the premium allocation 
approach (“PAA”).
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

The Group’s products may be divided into the following main categories:

Basis of accounting for

Policy type Description of benefits payable Insurance contract liabilities Investment contract

Traditional 
participating life 
assurance with DPF

Participating funds
Participating products include protection 
and savings element. The basic sum 
assured, payable on death or maturity, 
may be enhanced by dividends or bonuses, 
the aggregate amount of which is 
determined by the performance of a 
distinct fund of assets and liabilities. The 
timing and bonus declarations is at the 
discretion of the insurer. Local regulators 
generally prescribed a minimum 
proportion of policyholder participation in 
declared dividend.

Insurance contracts liabilities make provision for the 
present value of guaranteed benefits, non-guaranteed 
participation and future administrative expenses that 
are directly attributable to the contract less estimated 
future gross premiums to be collected from 
policyholders. In addition, a contractual service margin 
representing the unearned profit the Group will 
recognise as it provides service to the contract is 
recognised.

Not applicable, as contracts with DPF are 
accounted for as insurance contracts 
under IFRS 17.

Other participating business
Participating products include protection 
and savings elements. The basic sum 
assured, payable on death or maturity, 
may be enhanced by dividends or bonuses, 
the timing or amount of which are at the 
discretion of the insurer taking into 
account factors such as investment 
experience.

Insurance contract liabilities make provision for the 
present value of guaranteed benefits, non-guaranteed 
participation and future administrative expenses that 
are directly attributable to the contract less estimated 
future gross premiums to be collected from 
policyholders. 
In addition, a contractual service margin representing 
the unearned profit the Group will recognise as it 
provides service to the contract is recognised.

Not applicable, as contracts with DPF are 
accounted for as insurance contracts 
under IFRS 17.

Takaful Products combine savings with protection, 
with an arrangement based on mutual 
assistance under which takaful 
participants agree to contribute to a 
common fund (Family risk fund) providing 
for mutual financial benefits payable on 
the occurrence of pre-agreed events.

Insurance contract liabilities reflect the present value of 
future policy benefits to be paid, the future 
administration expenses that are directly related to the 
contract and the mutual financial benefits to be paid 
from the common fund, less the present value of 
estimated future gross premiums to be collected from 
policyholders. In addition, a contractual service margin 
representing the unearned profit the Group will 
recognise as it provides service to the contract is 
recognised.

Not applicable

Non-participating 
life assurance, 
annuities and other 
protection products

Benefits payable are not at the discretion 
of the insurer

Insurance contract liabilities reflect the present value of 
future policy benefits to be paid and the future 
administration expenses that are directly attributable to 
the contract, less the present value of estimated future 
gross premiums to be collected from policyholders. In 
addition, a contractual service margin representing the 
unearned profit the Group will recognise as it provides 
service to the contract is recognised.

Investment contract liabilities without DPF 
are measured at amortised cost

Universal life Benefits are based on an account balance, 
credited with interest at a rate set by the 
insurer, and a death benefit, which may be 
varied by the customer.

Insurance contract liabilities reflect the present value of 
future policy benefits to be paid and the future 
administration expenses that are directly attributable to 
the contract, less the present value of estimated future 
gross premiums to be collected from policyholders. 
In addition, a contractual service margin representing 
the unearned profit the Group will recognise as it 
provides service to the contract is recognised.

Not applicable as such contracts generally 
contain significant insurance risk

Unit-linked These may be primarily savings products 
or may combine savings with an element 
of protection

Insurance contract liabilities reflect the present value of 
future policy benefits to be paid and the future 
administration expenses that are directly attributable to 
the contract, less the present value of estimated future 
gross premiums to be collected from policyholders. 
In addition, a contractual service margin representing 
the unearned profit the Group will recognise as it 
provides service to the contract is recognised.

Investment contract liabilities are 
measured at fair value (determined with 
reference to the accumulation value)
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1     Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF

(1) Separating components from insurance and reinsurance contracts issued 

At inception, the Group separates the following components from an insurance or reinsurance 
contract and accounts for them as if they were stand-alone financial instruments:

• derivatives embedded in the contract whose economic characteristics and risks are not 
closely related to those of the host contract, and whose terms would not meet the 
definition of an insurance or reinsurance contract as a stand-alone instrument; and

• distinct investment components: i.e. investment components that are not highly inter-
related with the insurance components and for which contracts with equivalent terms are 
sold, or could be sold, separately in the same market or the same jurisdiction.

After separating any financial instrument components, the Group separates any promises to 
transfer to policyholders distinct goods or services other than insurance coverage and 
investment services and accounts for them as separate contracts with customers (i.e. not as 
insurance contracts). A good or service is distinct if the policyholder can benefit from it either 
on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the policyholder. A good or 
service is not distinct and is accounted for together with the insurance component if the cash 
flows and risks associated with the good or service are highly inter-related with the cash flows 
and risks associated with the insurance component, and the Group provides a significant 
service of integrating the good or service with the insurance component.

(2) Aggregation and recognition of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued

Insurance contracts are aggregated into groups for measurement purposes. Groups of 
insurance contracts are determined by identifying portfolios of insurance contracts, each 
comprising contracts subject to similar risks and managed together, and dividing each 
portfolio into annual cohorts (i.e. by year of issue) and each annual cohort into three groups 
based on the profitability of contracts:

• any contracts that are onerous on initial recognition;

• any contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant possibility of becoming 
onerous subsequently; and

• any remaining contracts in the annual cohort.

An insurance contract issued by the Group is recognised from the earliest of:

• the beginning of its coverage period (i.e. the period during which the Group provides 
services in respect of any premiums within the boundary of the contract);

• when the first payment from the policyholder becomes due or, if there is no contractual 
due date, when it is received from the policyholder; and

• when facts and circumstances indicate that the contract is onerous.

An insurance contract acquired in a transfer of contracts or a business combination is 
recognised on the date of acquisition.

When the contract is recognised, it is added to an existing group of contracts or, if the 
contract does not qualify for inclusion in an existing group, it forms a new group to which 
future contracts are added. Groups of contracts are established on initial recognition and their 
composition is not revised once all contracts have been added to the group.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1     Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(3) Insurance acquisition cash flows

Insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated to groups of insurance contracts using a 
systematic and rational method and considering, in an unbiased way, all reasonable and 
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.

If insurance acquisition cash flows are directly attributable to a group of contracts, then they 
are allocated to that group and to the groups that will include renewals of those contracts. The 
Group expects to recover part of the related insurance acquisition cash flows through 
renewals of these contracts. The allocation to renewals is based on the manner in which the 
Group expects to recover those cash flows.

If insurance acquisition cash flows are directly attributable to a portfolio but not to a group of 
contracts, then they are allocated to groups in the portfolio using a systematic and rational 
method.

Insurance acquisition cash flows arising before the recognition of the related group of 
contracts are recognised as an asset. Insurance acquisition cash flows arise when they are 
paid or when a liability is required to be recognised under a standard other than IFRS 17. Such 
an asset is recognised for each group of contracts to which the insurance acquisition cash 
flows are allocated.

The asset is derecognised, fully or partially, when the insurance acquisition cash flows are 
included in the measurement of the group of contracts.

When the Group acquires insurance contracts in a transfer of contracts or a business 
combination, at the date of acquisition it recognises an asset for insurance acquisition cash 
flows at fair value for the rights to obtain:

• renewals of contracts recognised at the date of acquisition; and

• other future contracts after the date of acquisition without paying again insurance 
acquisition cash flows that the acquiree has already paid.

At each reporting date, the Group revises the amounts allocated to groups to reflect any 
changes in assumptions that determine the inputs to the allocation method used. Amounts 
allocated to a group are not revised once all contracts have been added to the group.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(3) Insurance acquisition cash flows (Continued)

Recoverability assessment

At each reporting date, if facts and circumstances indicate that an asset for insurance 
acquisition cash flows may be impaired, then the Group:

a. recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed the expected net cash inflow for the related group; and

b. if the asset relates to future renewals, recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss to 
the extent that it expects those insurance acquisition cash flows to exceed the net cash 
inflow for the expected renewals and this excess has not already been recognised as an 
impairment loss under (a).

The Group reverses any impairment losses in profit or loss and increases the carrying amount 
of the asset to the extent that the impairment conditions have improved.

(4) Contract boundaries

The measurement of a group of contracts includes all of the future cash flows within the 
boundary of each contract in the group. The contract boundary is reassessed at each reporting 
date to include the effect of changes in circumstances on the Group’s substantive rights and 
obligations and, therefore, may change over time.

Cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and 
obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Group can compel the 
policyholder to pay premiums or has a substantive obligation to provide services (including 
insurance coverage and any investment services).

A substantive obligation to provide services ends when:

• the Group has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and 
can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or 

• the Group has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio that contains the 
contract and can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risks of that portfolio, 
and the pricing of the premiums up to the reassessment date does not take into account 
risks that relate to periods after the reassessment date.

The reassessment of risks considers only risks transferred from policyholders to the Group, 
which may include both insurance and financial risks.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(5) Measurement – Contracts not measured under the PAA

Initial measurement

On initial recognition, the Group measures a group of insurance contracts as the total of (a) 
the fulfilment cash flows, which comprise estimates of future cash flows, adjusted to reflect 
the time value of money and the associated financial risks, and a risk adjustment for non-
financial risk; and (b) the Contractual Service Margin, “CSM”. The fulfilment cash flows of a 
group of insurance contracts do not reflect the Group’s non-performance risk.

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk for a group of insurance contracts, determined 
separately from the other estimates, is the compensation required for bearing uncertainty 
about the amount and timing of the cash flows that arises from non-financial risk.

The CSM of a group of insurance contracts represents the unearned profit that the Group will 
recognise as it provides services under those contracts. On initial recognition of a group of 
insurance contracts, if the total of (a) the fulfilment cash flows, (b) any cash flows arising at 
that date and (c) any amount arising from the derecognition of any assets or liabilities 
previously recognised for cash flows related to the group (including assets for insurance 
acquisition cash flows under (3)) is a net inflow, then the group is not onerous. In this case, the 
CSM is measured as the equal and opposite amount of the net inflow, which results in no 
income or expenses arising on initial recognition.

For groups of contracts acquired in a transfer of contracts or a business combination, the 
consideration received for the contracts is included in the fulfilment cash flows as a proxy for 
the premiums received at the date of acquisition. In a business combination, the consideration 
received is the fair value of the contracts at that date.

If the total is a net outflow, then the group is onerous. In this case, the net outflow is 
recognised as a loss in profit or loss, or as an adjustment to goodwill or a gain on a bargain 
purchase if the contracts are acquired in a business combination. A loss component is created 
to depict the amount of the net cash outflow, which determines the amounts that are 
subsequently presented in profit or loss as reversals of losses on onerous contracts and are 
excluded from insurance revenue.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(5) Measurement – Contracts not measured under the PAA (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts at each reporting date is the sum of the 
liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims. The liability for remaining 
coverage comprises (a) the fulfilment cash flows that relate to services that will be provided 
under the contracts in future periods and (b) any remaining CSM at that date. The liability for 
incurred claims includes the fulfilment cash flows for incurred claims and expenses that have 
not yet been paid, including claims that have been incurred but not yet reported.

The fulfilment cash flows of groups of insurance contracts are measured at the reporting date 
using current estimates of future cash flows, current discount rates and current estimates of 
the risk adjustment for non-financial risk. Changes in fulfilment cash flows are recognised as 
follows.

Changes relating to future services Adjusted against the CSM (or recognised in the insurance 
service result in profit or loss if the group is onerous)

Changes relating to current or past services Recognised in the insurance service result in profit or loss

Effects of the time value of money, financial risk 
and changes therein on estimated future cash 
flows

Recognised as insurance finance income or expenses

The CSM of each group of contracts is calculated at each reporting date as follows.

Insurance contracts without direct participation features

The carrying amount of the CSM at each reporting date is the carrying amount at the start of 
the year, adjusted for:

• the CSM of any new contracts that are added to the group in the year;

• interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM during the year, measured at the 
discount rates on nominal cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on any 
underlying items determined on initial recognition;

• changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, except to the extent that:

– any increases in the fulfilment cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the CSM, in 
which case the excess is recognised as a loss in profit or loss and creates a loss 
component; or

– any decreases in the fulfilment cash flows are allocated to the loss component, 
reversing losses previously recognised in profit or loss;

• the effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and

• the amount recognised as insurance revenue because of the services provided in the year.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(5) Measurement – Contracts not measured under the PAA (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services comprise:

• experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the year that relate to future 
services and related cash flows, measured at the discount rates determined on initial 
recognition;

• changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the liability for remaining 
coverage, measured at the discount rates determined on initial recognition, except for 
those that arise from the effects of the time value of money, financial risk and changes 
therein;

• differences between (a) any investment component expected to become payable in the 
year, determined as the payment expected at the start of the year plus any insurance 
finance income or expenses related to that expected payment before it becomes payable; 
and (b) the actual amount that becomes payable in the year;

• differences between any loan to a policyholder expected to become repayable in the year 
and the actual amount that becomes repayable in the year; and

• changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future services.

Changes in discretionary cash flows are regarded as relating to future services and 
accordingly adjust the CSM.

Direct participation contracts

Direct participating contracts are contracts under which the Group’s obligation to the 
policyholder is the net of:

• the obligation to pay the policyholder an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying 
items; and

• a variable fee in exchange for future services provided by the contracts, being the amount 
of the Group’s share of the fair value of the underlying items less fulfilment cash flows 
that do not vary based on the returns on underlying items. The Group provides investment 
services under these contracts by promising an investment return based on underlying 
items, in addition to insurance coverage.

When measuring a group of direct participating contracts, the Group adjusts the fulfilment 
cash flows for the whole of the changes in the obligation to pay policyholders an amount equal 
to the fair value of the underlying items. These changes do not relate to future services and are 
recognised in profit or loss. The Group then adjusts any CSM for changes in the amount of the 
Group’s share of the fair value of the underlying items, which relate to future services, as 
explained below.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(5) Measurement – Contracts not measured under the PAA (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

The carrying amount of the CSM at each reporting date is the carrying amount at the start of 
the year, adjusted for:

• the CSM of any new contracts that are added to the group in the year;

• the change in the amount of the Group’s share of the fair value of the underlying items and 
changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, except to the extent that:

– the Group has applied the risk mitigation option to exclude from the CSM changes in 
the effect of financial risk on the amount of its share of the underlying items or 
fulfilment cash flows;

– a decrease in the amount of the Group’s share of the fair value of the underlying items, 
or an increase in the fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, exceeds the 
carrying amount of the CSM, giving rise to a loss in profit or loss (included in insurance 
service expenses) and creating a loss component; or

– an increase in the amount of the Group’s share of the fair value of the underlying items, 
or a decrease in the fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, is allocated to 
the loss component, reversing losses previously recognised in profit or loss (included in 
insurance service expenses);

• the effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and

• the amount recognised as insurance revenue because of the services provided in the year.

Changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services include the changes relating to 
future services specified above for contracts without direct participation features (measured 
at current discount rates) and changes in the effect of the time value of money and financial 
risks that do not arise from underlying items – e.g. the effect of financial guarantees.

(6) Measurement – Contracts measured under the PAA

The Group generally uses the PAA to simplify the measurement of groups of contracts in the 
following circumstances:

• when the coverage period of each contract in the group is one year or less; or

• the Group reasonably expects that the resulting measurement of the LRC would not differ 
materially from the result of applying the accounting policies of contracts not measured 
under the PAA.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(6) Measurement – Contracts measured under the PAA (Continued)

On initial recognition of each group of contracts, the carrying amount of the liability for 
remaining coverage is measured at the premiums received on initial recognition minus any 
insurance acquisition cash flows allocated to the group at that date, and adjusted for any 
amount arising from the derecognition of any assets or liabilities previously recognised for 
cash flows related to the group (including assets for insurance acquisition cash flows for life 
insurance contracts). For non-life insurance contracts, the Group has chosen to expense 
insurance acquisition cash flows when they are incurred.

Subsequently, the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage is increased by any 
premiums received and the amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows recognised as 
expenses, and decreased by the amount recognised as insurance revenue for services 
provided and any additional insurance acquisition cash flows allocated after initial recognition. 
On initial recognition of each group of contracts, the Group expects that the time between 
providing each part of the services and the related premium due date is no more than a year. 
Accordingly, the Group has chosen not to adjust the liability for remaining coverage to reflect 
the time value of money and the effect of financial risk.

If at any time during the coverage period, facts and circumstances indicate that a group of 
contracts is onerous, then the Group recognises a loss in profit or loss and increases the 
liability for remaining coverage to the extent that the current estimates of the fulfilment cash 
flows that relate to remaining coverage exceed the carrying amount of the liability for 
remaining coverage. The fulfilment cash flows are discounted (at current rates) if the liability 
for incurred claims is also discounted.

The Group recognises the liability for incurred claims of a group of insurance contracts at the 
amount of the fulfilment cash flows relating to incurred claims. The future cash flows are 
discounted (at current rates) unless they are expected to be paid in one year or less from the 
date the claims are incurred.

(7) Derecognition and contract modification

The Group derecognises a contract when it is extinguished – i.e. when the specified 
obligations in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

The Group also derecognises a contract if its terms are modified in a way that would have 
changed the accounting for the contract significantly had the new terms always existed, in 
which case a new contract based on the modified terms is recognised. If a contract 
modification does not result in derecognition, then the Group treats the changes in cash flows 
caused by the modification as changes in estimates of fulfilment cash flows.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(7) Derecognition and contract modification (Continued)

On derecognition of a contract from within a group of contracts not measured under the PAA:

1. the fulfilment cash flows allocated to the group are adjusted to eliminate those that relate 
to the rights and obligations derecognised;

2. the CSM of the group is adjusted for the change in the fulfilment cash flows, except 
where such changes are allocated to a loss component; and

3. the number of coverage units for the expected remaining services is adjusted to reflect 
the coverage units derecognised from the group.

If a contract is derecognised because it is transferred to a third party, then the CSM is also 
adjusted for the premium charged by the third party, unless the group is onerous.

If a contract is derecognised because its terms are modified, then the CSM is also adjusted for 
the premium that would have been charged had the Group entered into a contract with the 
new contract’s terms at the date of modification, less any additional premium charged for the 
modification. The new contract recognised is measured assuming that, at the date of 
modification, the Group received the premium that it would have charged less any additional 
premium charged for the modification.

(8) Presentation

Portfolios of insurance contracts that are assets and those that are liabilities, and portfolios of 
reinsurance contracts held that are assets and those that are liabilities, are presented 
separately in the statement of financial position. Any assets or liabilities recognised for cash 
flows arising before the recognition of the related group of contracts (including any assets for 
insurance acquisition cash flows) are included in the carrying amount of the related portfolios 
of contracts.

The Group disaggregates amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and OCI into 
(a) an insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and insurance service expenses; 
and (b) insurance finance income or expenses.

Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts held are presented separately from income 
and expenses from insurance contracts.

The Group does not disaggregate changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk 
between the insurance service result and insurance finance income or expenses. All changes 
in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk are included in the insurance service result.

Insurance revenue and insurance service expenses exclude any investment components.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(8) Presentation (Continued)

Insurance revenue – Contracts not measured under the PAA

The Group recognises insurance revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations – i.e. as it 
provides services under groups of insurance contracts. For contracts not measured under the 
PAA, the insurance revenue relating to services provided for each year represents the total of 
the changes in the liability for remaining coverage that relate to services for which the Group 
expects to receive consideration, and comprises the following items:

• A release of the CSM, measured based on coverage units provided.

• Changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk relating to current services.

• Claims and other insurance service expenses incurred in the year, generally measured at 
the amounts expected at the beginning of the year. This includes amounts arising from the 
derecognition of any assets for cash flows other than insurance acquisition cash flows at 
the date of initial recognition of a group of contracts, which are recognised as insurance 
revenue and insurance service expenses at that date.

• Other amounts, such as experience adjustments for premium receipts for current or past 
services

In addition, the Group allocates a portion of premiums that relate to recovering insurance 
acquisition cash flows to each period in a systematic way based on the passage of time. The 
Group recognises the allocated amount, as insurance revenue and an equal amount as 
insurance service expenses.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(8) Presentation (Continued)

Insurance revenue – Contracts not measured under the PAA

Release of the CSM

The amount of the CSM of a group of insurance contracts that is recognised as insurance 
revenue in each year is determined by identifying the coverage units in the group, allocating 
the CSM remaining at the end of the year (before any allocation) equally to each coverage unit 
provided in the year and expected to be provided in future years, and recognising in profit or 
loss the amount of the CSM allocated to coverage units provided in the year. The number of 
coverage units is the quantity of services provided by the contracts in the group, determined 
by considering for each contract the quantity of benefits provided and its expected coverage 
period. The coverage units are reviewed and updated at each reporting date.

Services provided by insurance contracts include insurance coverage and, for all direct 
participating contracts, investment services for managing underlying items on behalf of 
policyholders. In addition, insurance contracts without direct participation features may also 
provide investment services for generating an investment return for the policyholder, but only 
if:

• an investment component exists or the policyholder has a right to withdraw an amount;

• the investment component or withdrawal amount is expected to include an investment 
return; and

• the Group expects to perform investment activities to generate that investment return.

The expected coverage period reflects expectations of lapses and cancellations of contracts, 
as well as the likelihood of insured events occurring to the extent that they would affect the 
expected coverage period. The period of investment services ends no later than the date on 
which all amounts due to current policyholders relating to those services have been paid.

Insurance revenue – Contracts measured under the PAA

For contracts measured under the PAA, the insurance revenue for each period is the amount 
of expected premium receipts for providing services in the period. The Group allocates the 
expected premium receipts to each period by the passage of time.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.1      Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (Continued)

(8) Presentation (Continued)

Loss components

For contracts not measured under the PAA, the Group establishes a loss component of the 
liability for remaining coverage for onerous groups of insurance contracts. The loss 
component determines the amounts of fulfilment cash flows that are subsequently presented 
in profit or loss as reversals of losses on onerous contracts and are excluded from insurance 
revenue when they occur. When the fulfilment cash flows are incurred, they are allocated 
between the loss component and the liability for remaining coverage excluding the loss 
component on a systematic basis.

The systematic basis is determined by the proportion of the loss component relative to the 
total estimate of the present value of the future cash outflows, excluding investment 
component, plus the risk adjustment for non-financial risk at the beginning of each year (or on 
initial recognition if a group of contracts is initially recognised in the year).

Changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to future services and changes in the amount of the 
Group’s share of the fair value of the underlying items for direct participating contracts are 
allocated solely to the loss component. If the loss component is reduced to zero, then any 
excess over the amount allocated to the loss component creates a new CSM for the group of 
contracts.

Insurance service expenses

Insurance service expenses arising from insurance contracts are recognised in profit or loss 
generally as they are incurred. They exclude repayments of investment components and 
comprise the following items.

• Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses: For some contracts, incurred claims 
also include premiums waived on detection of critical illness.

• Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows: For contracts not measured under the 
PAA, this is equal to the amount of insurance revenue recognised in the year that relates to 
recovering insurance acquisition cash flows. For contracts measured under the PAA, other 
than non-life contracts, the Group amortises insurance acquisition cash flows on a 
straight-line basis over the coverage period of the group of contracts.

• Losses on onerous contracts and reversals of such losses.

• Adjustments to the liabilities for incurred claims that do not arise from the effects of the 
time value of money, financial risk and changes therein.

• Impairment losses on assets for insurance acquisition cash flows and reversals of such 
impairment losses.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.2   Reinsurance contracts held

To the extent that reinsurance contracts held do not transfer significant financial risk (as opposed to 
insurance risk) they are accounted for directly through the consolidated statements of financial 
position and are not included in reinsurance assets or liabilities.  A deposit asset or liability is 
recognised, based on the consideration paid or received less any explicitly identified premiums or fees 
to be retained by the reinsured.

For reinsurance contracts held that transferred significant insurance risk, they are accounted for as 
follows.

(1) Aggregation and recognition of reinsurance contracts held

Groups of reinsurance contracts held are established such that each group comprises a single 
contract. Some reinsurance contracts held provide cover for underlying contracts that are 
included in different groups. However, the Group concludes that the reinsurance contract’s 
legal form of a single contract reflects the substance of the Group’s contractual rights and 
obligations, considering that the different covers lapse together and are not sold separately. 
As a result, the reinsurance contract is not separated into multiple insurance components that 
relate to different underlying groups.

A group of reinsurance contracts held is recognised on the following date:

• Reinsurance contracts held initiated by the Group that provide proportionate coverage: 
The date on which any underlying insurance contract is initially recognised. 

• Other reinsurance contracts held initiated by the Group: The beginning of the coverage 
period of the group of reinsurance contracts held. However, if the Group recognises an 
onerous group of underlying insurance contracts on an earlier date and the related 
reinsurance contract was entered into before that earlier date, then the group of 
reinsurance contracts held is recognised on that earlier date. This applies to the Group’s 
excess of loss and stop loss reinsurance contracts held.

• Reinsurance contracts held acquired: The date of acquisition.

(2) Contract boundaries

The measurement of a group of contracts includes all of the future cash flows within the 
boundary of each contract in the group. The contract boundary is reassessed at each reporting 
date to include the effect of changes in circumstances on the Group’s substantive rights and 
obligations and, therefore, may change over time.

Cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and 
obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Group is compelled to pay 
amounts to the reinsurer or has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer. A 
substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer ends when the reinsurer:

• has the practical ability to reassess the risks transferred to it and can set a price or level of 
benefits that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or

• has a substantive right to terminate the coverage.

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

90  FWD Group Holdings Limited Interim Report 2023



2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.2   Reinsurance contracts held (Continued)

(3) Measurement – Contracts not measured under the PAA

To measure a group of reinsurance contracts held, the Group applies the same accounting 
policies as are applied to insurance contracts without direct participation features, with the 
following modifications.

The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts held at each reporting date is the 
sum of the asset for remaining coverage and the asset for incurred claims. The asset for 
remaining coverage comprises (a) the fulfilment cash flows that relate to services that will be 
received under the contracts in future periods and (b) any remaining CSM at that date.

The Group measures the estimates of the present value of future cash flows using assumptions 
that are consistent with those used to measure the estimates of the present value of future 
cash flows for the underlying insurance contracts, with an adjustment for any risk of non-
performance by the reinsurer. The effect of the non-performance risk of the reinsurer is 
assessed at each reporting date and the effect of changes in the non-performance risk is 
recognised in profit or loss.

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the amount of risk being transferred by the Group 
to the reinsurer.

On initial recognition, the CSM of a group of reinsurance contracts held represents a net cost 
or net gain on purchasing reinsurance. It is measured as the equal and opposite amount of the 
total of (a) the fulfilment cash flows, (b) any amount arising from the derecognition of any 
assets or liabilities previously recognised for cash flows related to the group, (c) any cash 
flows arising at that date and (d) any income recognised in profit or loss because of onerous 
underlying contracts recognised at that date. However, if any net cost on purchasing 
reinsurance coverage relates to insured events that occurred before the purchase of the 
group, then the Group recognises the cost immediately in profit or loss as an expense.

The carrying amount of the CSM at each reporting date is the carrying amount at the start of 
the year, adjusted for:

• the CSM of any new contracts that are added to the group in the year;

• interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM during the year, measured at the 
discount rates on nominal cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on any 
underlying items determined on initial recognition;

• income recognised in profit or loss in the year on initial recognition of onerous underlying 
contracts;

• reversals of a loss-recovery component to the extent that they are not changes in the 
fulfilment cash flows of the group of reinsurance contracts held;

• changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, measured at the discount 
rates determined on initial recognition, unless they result from changes in fulfilment cash 
flows of onerous underlying contracts, in which case they are recognised in profit or loss 
and create or adjust a loss-recovery component;

• the effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and

• the amount recognised in profit or loss because of the services received in the year.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.2   Reinsurance contracts held (Continued)

(3) Measurement – Contracts not measured under the PAA (Continued)

Reinsurance of onerous underlying insurance contracts

The Group adjusts the CSM of the group to which a reinsurance contract belongs and as a 
result recognises income when it recognises a loss on initial recognition of onerous underlying 
contracts, if the reinsurance contract is entered into before or at the same time as the onerous 
underlying contracts are recognised. The adjustment to the CSM is determined by multiplying:

• the amount of the loss that relates to the underlying contracts; and

• the percentage of claims on the underlying contracts that the Group expects to recover 
from the reinsurance contracts held.

For reinsurance contracts held acquired in a transfer of contracts or a business combination 
covering onerous underlying contracts, the adjustment to the CSM is determined by 
multiplying:

• the amount of the loss component that relates to the underlying contracts at the date of 
acquisition; and

• the percentage of claims on the underlying contracts that the Group expects at the date 
of acquisition to recover from the reinsurance contracts held.

For reinsurance contracts held acquired in a business combination, the adjustment to the CSM 
reduces goodwill or increases a gain on a bargain purchase.

If the reinsurance contract covers only some of the insurance contracts included in an onerous 
group of contracts, then the Group uses a systematic and rational method to determine the 
portion of losses recognised on the onerous group of contracts that relates to underlying 
contracts covered by the reinsurance contract.

A loss-recovery component is created or adjusted for the group of reinsurance contracts held 
to depict the adjustment to the CSM, which determines the amounts that are subsequently 
presented in profit or loss as reversals of recoveries of losses from the reinsurance contracts 
held and are excluded from the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid.

(4) Measurement – Contracts measured under the PAA

The Group applies the same accounting policies to measure a group of reinsurance contracts 
held, adapted where necessary to reflect features that differ from those of insurance 
contracts.

If a loss-recovery component is created for a group of reinsurance contracts held measured 
under the PAA, then the Group adjusts the carrying amount of the asset for remaining 
coverage instead of adjusting the CSM.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.2   Reinsurance contracts held (Continued)

(5) Derecognition and contract modification

The Group derecognises a contract when it is extinguished – i.e. when the specified 
obligations in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

The Group also derecognises a contract if its terms are modified in a way that would have 
changed the accounting for the contract significantly had the new terms always existed, in 
which case a new contract based on the modified terms is recognised. If a contract 
modification does not result in derecognition, then the Group treats the changes in cash flows 
caused by the modification as changes in estimates of fulfilment cash flows.

On derecognition of a contract from within a group of contracts not measured under the PAA:

• the fulfilment cash flows allocated to the group are adjusted to eliminate those that relate 
to the rights and obligations derecognised;

• the CSM of the group is adjusted for the change in the fulfilment cash flows; and

• the number of coverage units for the expected remaining services is adjusted to reflect the 
coverage units derecognised from the group.

If a contract is derecognised because it is transferred to a third party, then the CSM is also 
adjusted for the premium charged by the third party.

If a contract is derecognised because its terms are modified, then the CSM is also adjusted for 
the premium that would have been charged had the Group entered into a contract with the 
new contract’s terms at the date of modification, less any additional premium charged for the 
modification. The new contract recognised is measured assuming that, at the date of 
modification, the Group received the premium that it would have charged less any additional 
premium charged for the modification.

(6) Presentation

Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are assets and those that are liabilities, are 
presented separately in the statement of financial position. Any assets or liabilities recognised 
for cash flows arising before the recognition of the related group of contracts are included in 
the carrying amount of the related portfolios of contracts.

Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts held are presented separately from income 
and expenses from insurance contracts. Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts 
held, other than insurance finance income or expenses, are presented on a net basis as ‘net 
expenses from reinsurance contracts held in the insurance service result.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.2   Reinsurance contracts held (Continued)

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held comprise an allocation of reinsurance premiums paid 
less amounts recovered from reinsurers.

The Group recognises an allocation of reinsurance premiums paid in profit or loss as it receives 
services under groups of reinsurance contracts held. For contracts not measured under the PAA, the 
allocation of reinsurance premiums paid relating to services received for each period represents the 
total of the changes in the asset for remaining coverage that relate to services for which the Group 
expects to pay consideration.

For contracts measured under the PAA, the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid for each period is 
the amount of expected premium payments for receiving services in the period.

For a group of reinsurance contracts held covering onerous underlying contracts, the Group 
establishes a loss-recovery component of the asset for remaining coverage to depict the recovery of 
losses recognised:

• on recognition of onerous underlying contracts, if the reinsurance contract covering those 
contracts is entered into before or at the same time as those contracts are recognised; and

• for changes in fulfilment cash flows of the group of reinsurance contracts held relating to future 
services that result from changes in fulfilment cash flows of the onerous underlying contracts.

The loss-recovery component determines the amounts that are subsequently presented in profit or 
loss as reversals of recoveries of losses from the reinsurance contracts held and are excluded from the 
allocation of reinsurance premiums paid. It is adjusted to reflect changes in the loss component of the 
onerous group of underlying contracts, but it cannot exceed the portion of the loss component of the 
onerous group of underlying contracts that the Group expects to recover from the reinsurance 
contracts held.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.3     Investment contracts without DPF

Investment contracts without DPF which do not contain sufficient insurance risk are not 
considered as insurance contracts and are accounted for as a financial liability.

Revenue from these contracts consists of various charges (policy fees, handling fees, 
management fees and surrender charges) made against the contract for the cost of insurance, 
expenses and early surrender. First year charges are amortised over the life of the contract as 
the services are provided.

(1) Investment contract fee revenue

Customers are charged fees for policy administration, investment management, surrenders or 
other contract services. The fees may be fixed amounts or vary with the amounts being 
managed, and will generally be charged as an adjustment to the policyholder’s account 
balance. The fees are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received unless 
they relate to services to be provided in future periods, in which case they are deferred and 
recognised as the service is provided.

Origination and other “upfront” fees (fees that are assessed against the account balance as 
consideration for origination of the contract) are charged on some non-participating 
investment and pension contracts. Where the investment contract is measured at fair value, 
the front-end fees that relate to the provision of investment management services are 
amortised and recognised as the services are provided.

(2) Deferred origination costs

The costs of acquiring investment contracts with investment management services, including 
commissions and other incremental expenses directly related to the issue of each new 
contract, are deferred and amortised over the period that services are provided. Deferred 
origination costs are tested for recoverability at each reporting date.

The cost of acquiring new investment contracts without investment management services are 
included as part of the effective interest rate used to calculate the amortised cost of the 
related investment contract liabilities.

(3) Investment contract liabilities

Deposits collected and benefit payments under investment contracts without DPF are not 
accounted for through the consolidated income statements, except for the investment income 
and fees attributed to those contracts, but are accounted for directly through the consolidated 
statement of financial position as an adjustment to the investment contract liability, which 
reflects the account balance.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Insurance and Investment contracts (Continued)

2.3.2     Investment contracts without DPF (Continued)

(3) Investment contract liabilities (Continued)

The majority of the Group’s contracts classified as investment contracts are unit-linked 
contracts, with measurement directly linked to the underlying investment assets, which are 
portfolios maintained to meet specific investment objectives of policyholders who generally 
bear the credit and market risks on those investments. The liabilities are carried at fair value 
determined with reference to the accumulation value (current unit value) and an unearned 
revenue liability and sales inducement liability where applicable. The costs of policy 
administration, investment management, surrender charges and certain policyholder taxes 
assessed against customers’ account balances are included in revenue, and accounted for as 
described under “Investment contract fee revenue” above.

Non unit-linked investment contract liabilities are carried at amortised cost, being the fair 
value of consideration received at the date of initial recognition, less the net effect of principal 
payments such as transaction costs and front-end fees, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity value, and less any write-down for surrender payments. The effective interest 
rate equates the discounted cash payments to the initial amount. At each reporting date, the 
unearned revenue liability is determined as the value of the future best estimate cash flows 
discounted at the effective interest rate. Any adjustment is immediately recognised as income 
or expense in the consolidated income statements.

The amortised cost of the financial liability is never recorded at less than the amount payable 
on surrender, discounted for the time value of money where applicable, if the investment 
contract is subject to a surrender option.

(4) Deferred fee income liability

Deferred fee income liability represents upfront fees and other non-level charges that have 
been collected and released to the consolidated income statements over the estimated life of 
the business. A separate liability for accumulation value is established.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates And Assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
All estimates are based on management’s knowledge of current facts and circumstances, assumptions 
based on that knowledge and predictions of future events and actions. Actual results can always 
differ from those estimates, possibly significantly. Key judgments, estimates and assumptions are 
described below.

3.1   Level of aggregation and recognition of group of insurance contracts

For contracts issued to which the Group does not apply the premium allocation approach, the 
judgements exercised in determining whether contracts are onerous on initial recognition for those 
what have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently are:

• based on the likelihood of changes in assumptions which, if the occurred, would result in the 
contracts becoming onerous; and

• using information about profitability estimation for the relevant group of products.

The accounting policy on level of aggregation and recognition of group of insurance contracts is 
described in Note 2.3.

3.2   Insurance contracts not measured under the premium allocation approach

(1) Measurement

The asset or liability for groups of insurance contracts is measured as the total of fulfilment 
cash flows and CSM.

The fulfilment cash flows of insurance contracts (including investment contracts with DPF) 
represents the present value of estimated future cash outflows, less the present value of 
estimated future cash inflows and adjusted for a provision for the risk adjustment for non-
financial risk. The assumptions used and the techniques for estimating fulfilment cash flows 
and risk adjustment for non-financial risk are based on actual experience by each geographical 
market and policy form. The Group exercises significant judgement in making appropriate 
assumptions and techniques.

CSM represents the unearned profits that the Group will recognise as it provides services 
under the insurance contracts in a group. The amounts of CSM recognised in profit or loss are 
determined by identifying the coverage units in the group, allocating the CSM at the end of 
period equally to each coverage unit provided in the current period and expected to be 
provided in the future. The number of coverage units in a group is the quantity of the services 
provided by the contracts in the group, determined by considering for each contract the 
quantity of the services provided under a contract and its expected coverage period. The 
Group exercises judgements in determining the quantity of the services provided under a 
contract which will affect the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements as 
insurance revenue from insurance contracts issued.

The judgements exercised in the valuation of insurance contracts (including investment 
contracts with DPF) affect the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements as 
assets or liabilities of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF. Further details 
of the related accounting policies in respect of insurance contracts are provided in Note 2.3. 
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3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates And Assumptions 
(Continued)

3.2   Insurance contracts not measured under the premium allocation approach 
(Continued)

(2) Determination of coverage unit

The CSM of a group of contracts is recognised as insurance revenue in each period based on 
the number of coverage units provided in the period, which is determined by considering for 
each contract the quantity of the services provided, its expected coverage period and time 
value of money.

The quantity of services provided by insurance contracts could include insurance coverage, 
investment-return service and investment-related service, as applicable. In assessing the 
services provided by insurance contracts, the terms and benefit features of the contracts are 
considered.

For contracts providing predominately insurance coverage, the quantity of services is 
determined for the contract as a whole based on the expected maximum benefits less 
investment component. For contracts providing multiple services, the quantity of services is 
determined based on the benefits provided to policyholder for each service with the relative 
weighting considered in the calculation through the use of factors. Relevant elements are 
considered in determining the quantity of service including among others, benefit payments 
and premiums. The Group applies judgement in these determinations.

Expected coverage period is derived based on the likelihood of an insured event occurring to 
the extent they affect the expected duration of contracts in the group. Determining the 
expected coverage period is judgemental since it involves making an expectation of when 
claims and lapse will occur.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates And Assumptions 
(Continued)

3.3      Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial assets measured at amortised cost and 
debt securities measured at FVOCI. The measurement of ECL uses probability weighted forward-
looking models with significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour. 

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for 
measuring ECL, such as:

• Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition;

• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; and

• Establishing the methodology for incorporating forward-looking information into the measurement 
of ECL.

When determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both qualitative and 
quantitative information and analysis based on the Group’s experience, credit assessment performed 
by internal and external experts and forward-looking information. The Group determines a significant 
increase in credit risk based on various criteria for different categories of assets, including rating 
notch downgrade, days past due, expert judgement and other qualitative factors. 

The Group has assumed that the credit risk of a financial asset has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition if the financial asset has low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a 
financial asset to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally 
understood definition of “investment-grade”, with credit rating equivalent to be Baa3 or above. As a 
backstop, the Group considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs no later than when an 
asset is more than 30 days past due, unless there are other indications that there is no significant 
increase in credit risk. 

Details are further disclosed in Note 26.
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4. Exchange Rates
The Group’s principal operations during the reporting periods/year were located within the Asia-
Pacific region. The results and cash flows of these operations have been translated into US Dollars at 
the following average rates:

US dollar exchange rate

Six months ended 30 June Year ended

2023 2022 31 December 2022

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Hong Kong  7.84  7.83  7.83 

Japan  134.73  122.85  131.31 

Thailand  34.19  33.71  35.04 

Assets and liabilities have been translated into US Dollars at the following period/year end rates:

US dollar exchange rate

As at 
30 June 2023

As at 
31 December 2022

(Unaudited)

Hong Kong  7.84  7.80 

Japan  144.84  132.14 

Thailand  35.53  34.53 

Exchange rates are expressed in units of local currency per US$1.
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5. Changes In Group Composition (Continued)
This Note provides details of the major acquisition of subsidiaries that the Group has made for the six 
months ended 30 June 2023. 

Acquisition

FWD BSN Holdings Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia) (formerly known as “Gibraltar BSN Holdings Sdn Bhd”)

On 3 April 2023, FWD Management Holdings Limited (“FMH”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, with local investors, acquired 70% of share capital in FWD BSN Holdings Sdn. Bhd. 
(Malaysia), a company established under the laws of Malaysia, which is the holding company of FWD 
Insurance Berhad (Malaysia) (formerly known as “Gibraltar BSN Life Berhad”), a life insurance 
company in Malaysia (“GBSN Acquisition”) from the Prudential Insurance Company of America (the 
“Seller”). Total consideration of the GBSN Acquisition was US$20m. 

The initial accounting for the acquisition is incomplete for the valuation of assets and liabilities 
acquired, and related income taxes. Accordingly, these may be adjusted subsequently with a 
corresponding adjustment to goodwill.

Provisional negative goodwill arising on the GBSN Acquisition of US$48m is recognised in “other 
revenue” in the Group’s consolidated income statement. The amount of this provisional negative 
goodwill attributable to FMH is US$10m. The transaction resulted in a bargain purchase gain as the 
provisional fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired exceeds the sum of the consideration 
transferred at the date of acquisition.

The Group incurred US$2m of acquisition-related costs which were recognised as "other expenses" in 
the Group's consolidated income statement.  
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5. Changes In Group Composition (Continued)

5.1       Acquisition (Continued)

FWD BSN Holdings Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia) (formerly known as “Gibraltar BSN Holdings Sdn Bhd”) (Continued)

Details of the provisional fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and the provisional negative 
goodwill arising from the acquisition are set out as follows:

US$m Notes

Provisional fair values 
as at the date of 

acquisition
(Unaudited)

Intangible assets 12  2 

Property, plant and equipment  4 

Investment property 14  1 

Reinsurance contract assets 15  6 

Financial investments 16, 18
At fair value through other comprehensive income debt 
securities  288 

At fair value through profit or loss  124 

 412 

Other assets 19  5 

Cash and cash equivalents 20  37 

Insurance contract liabilities 15  (357) 

Deferred tax liabilities  (1) 

Other liabilities 23  (12) 

Net identifiable assets acquired  97 
Non-controlling interest measured with proportionate share 
approach  (29) 
Provisional negative goodwill arising on acquisition attributable to 
non-controlling interests  (38) 
Provisional negative goodwill arising on acquisition attributable to 
FMH  (10) 

Provisional negative goodwill arising on acquisition  (48) 

Total considerations from non-controlling interests  16 

Total considerations from FMH  4 

Total considerations  20 

Less:

Cash and cash equivalents held in acquired subsidiaries  (37) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (17) 

Concurrently, the Group received US$27m from the Seller for development of certain IT 
infrastructures and enhancement of operational efficiency. Accordingly, the net cash consideration 
received was US$7m. 
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6. Segment Information

The Group's operating segments, based on the reports received by the Group's Executive Committee 
preceding the Merger, are each of the geographical markets in which the Group operates. 

Each of the reportable segments, other than the "Corporate and Others" segment, writes life 
insurance business, providing life insurance, accident and health insurance and savings plans to 
customers in its local market, and distributes related investment and other financial service products. 
Certain businesses also write general insurance business ("Non-core business"). The reportable 
segments are Hong Kong (including Macau), Thailand (including Cambodia), Japan, Emerging 
Markets and Corporate and Others. Emerging Markets includes the Operating Group’s insurance 
operations in Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore and Vietnam. The activities of the 
Corporate and Others segment consist of the Operating Group's corporate functions, shared services 
and eliminations of intragroup transactions. 

As each reportable segment other than the Corporate and Others segment focuses on serving the life 
insurance needs of its local market, there are limited transactions between reportable segments. The 
key performance indicators reported in respect of each segment are: 

• Total weighted premium income ("TWPI") (Note 6.4);

• Investment return (Note 6.1);

• Operating expenses (Note 6.1);

• Adjusted operating profit before tax attributable to equity holders of FL and FGL (Note 6.2); 

• Adjusted operating profit after tax attributable to equity holders of FL and FGL (Note 6.2); and 

• Expense ratio, measured as operating expenses attributable to equity holders of FL and FGL 
divided by TWPI (Note 6.1).

The segment information has been prepared by (i) combining the carrying amounts of consolidated 
assets, liabilities, equities, income and expenses of the Group and (ii) eliminating the inter-company 
transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between companies within the 
Group. A reconciliation of adjusted operating profit after tax to profit/(loss) from continuing 
operations after tax has been included in Notes 6.2 and 6.3. 

The shareholders’ allocated segment equity represents the segment assets less segment liabilities in 
respect of each reportable segment less perpetual securities, fair value reserve, insurance finance 
reserve and non-controlling interests of FL and FGL.

In presenting net capital in/(out) flows to reportable segments, capital outflows consist of dividends 
and profit distributions to the Corporate and Others segment and capital inflows consist of capital 
injections into reportable segments by the Corporate and Others segment. Emerging Markets' capital 
inflows also include capital allocation for corporate functions. For the Group, net capital in/(out) flows 
reflect the amount received from shareholders by way of capital contributions. 
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.1 Segment results

US$m Hong Kong Thailand Japan
Emerging 
Markets

Corporate 
and Others Total

Six months ended 30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

TWPI  866  1,288  883  359  —  3,396 

Insurance revenue  498  319  356  171  —  1,344 

Insurance service expenses  (359)  (230)  (219)  (126)  —  (934) 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held  (8)  (4)  (47)  3  —  (56) 

Insurance service result  131  85  90  48  —  354 

Investment return  467  222  89  92  8  878 
Net finance expenses from insurance and reinsurance 

contract and movement of investment contract benefits  (427)  (179)  (25)  (72)  —  (703) 

Net insurance and investment result  171  128  154  68  8  529 

Other operating revenue  3  —  —  12  —  15 

General and other expenses  (32)  (46)  (30)  (59)  (62)  (229) 

Borrowings and other finance costs  (10)  —  (1)  (3)  —  (14) 
Segmental adjusted operating profit/(loss) before share 
of profit from associates and joint ventures  132  82  123  18  (54)  301 

Share of profit/(loss) from associates and joint

ventures  1  —  —  7  (2)  6 

Segmental adjusted operating profit/(loss)
before tax1  133  82  123  25  (56)  307 
Implementation costs for IFRS 9 and 17 and Group-wide 
Supervision  (32) 

Adjusted operating profit before tax  275 

Key operating ratio:
Expense ratio  13.6 %  9.0 %  10.1 %  32.6 %  —  14.8 %

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) before tax includes:

Operating expenses  (118)  (116)  (89)  (117)  (61)  (501) 

Note:
1. Excludes results of the Non-core business, comprising of US$9m operating loss before tax.

Segment information below represents the financial position of the Group:

US$m Hong Kong Thailand Japan
Emerging 
Markets

Corporate 
and Others

Adjusted 
Financial 
Position

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

Total assets  20,354  17,295  8,886  4,375  847  51,757 

Total liabilities  (17,284)  (13,957)  (7,690)  (2,346)  (2,279)  (43,556) 

Total equity  3,070  3,338  1,196  2,029  (1,432)  8,201 

Shareholders’ allocated equity  3,373  3,683  1,117  1,951  (2,783)  7,341 

Net capital in/(out) flows  (174)  (72)  (74)  185  135  — 

Total assets include:

Investment in associates and a  joint venture  8  —  —  421  33  462 
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.1 Segment results (Continued)

     Segment information is reconciled to the profit from continuing operations after tax, as shown below:

US$m
Segment 

information

Short-term 
fluctuations in 

investment return 
related to equities 

and property 
investments and 

other non-
operating 

investment return
Other non-

operating items
Operating 

Group Total

Six months ended 30 June 2023 
(Unaudited)

Insurance service result  354  —  —  354 Insurance service result

Investment return  878  (156)  —  722 Investment return
Net finance expenses from 
insurance and reinsurance contract 
and movement of investment 
contract benefits  (703)  106  (1)  (598) 

Net finance expenses from 
insurance and reinsurance 
contract and movement of 
investment contract benefits

Net insurance and investment 
result  529  (50)  (1)  478 

Net insurance and investment 
result

Other operating revenue  15  —  54  69 Other operating revenue

General and other expenses  (229)  —  (128)  (357) General and other expenses
Borrowings and other finance 
costs  (14)  —  (69)  (83) 

Borrowings and other finance 
costs

Segmental adjusted operating 
profit/(loss) before share of profit 
from associates and joint 
ventures  301  (50)  (144)  107 

Profit/(loss) before share of 
profit from associates and joint 
ventures

Share of profit/(loss) from 
associates and joint ventures  6  —  (3)  3 

Share of profit/(loss) from 
associates and joint ventures

Segmental adjusted operating 
profit before tax  307 
Implementation costs for IFRS 9 
and 17 and Group-wide Supervision  (32)  —  32  — 

Adjusted operating profit/(loss)  
before tax  275  (50)  (115)  110 

Adjusted profit/(loss) before
tax from continuing operations
of the Operating Group

 (66) Tax expense

 44 

Adjusted net profit from
continuing operations of the
Operating Group after tax
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.1 Segment results (Continued)

US$m Hong Kong Thailand Japan
Emerging 
Markets

Corporate 
and Others Total

Six months ended 30 June 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

TWPI  875  1,186  1,021  341  —  3,423 

Insurance revenue  406  284  347  127  —  1,164 

Insurance service expenses  (276)  (189)  (203)  (93)  —  (761) 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held  (52)  (5)  (51)  —  —  (108) 

Insurance service result  78  90  93  34  —  295 

Investment return  270  127  80  (114)  (6)  357 
Net finance expenses from insurance and reinsurance 

contract and movement of investment contract benefits  (254)  (83)  (28)  129  —  (236) 

Net insurance and investment result  94  134  145  49  (6)  416 

Other operating revenue  5  —  1  10  —  16 

General and other expenses  (54)  (39)  (28)  (61)  (34)  (216) 

Borrowings and other finance costs  (2)  (1)  (1)  (3)  —  (7) 
Segmental adjusted operating profit/(loss) before share 
of profit from associates and joint ventures  43  94  117  (5)  (40)  209 

Share of profit/(loss) from associates and joint ventures  —  —  —  3  (4)  (1) 

Segmental adjusted operating profit/(loss) before tax1  43  94  117  (2)  (44)  208 
Implementation costs for IFRS 9 and 17 and Group-wide 
Supervision  (28) 

Adjusted operating profit before tax  180 

Key operating ratios:
Expense ratio  12.8 %  9.2 %  9.2 %  33.4 %  —  13.5 %

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) before tax includes:

Operating expenses  (112)  (109)  (93)  (114)  (35)  (463) 

Note:
1. Excludes results of the Non-core business, comprising of US$1m operating loss before tax.

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

106  FWD Group Holdings Limited Interim Report 2023



6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.1 Segment results (Continued)

  Segment information is reconciled to adjusted profit from continuing operations after tax, as shown 
below:

US$m
Segment 

information

Short-term 
fluctuations in 

investment 
return related 
to equities and 

property 
investments 

and other non-
operating 

investment 
return

Other non-
operating items

Operating 
Group Total

Six months ended 30 June 2022 
(Restated) (Unaudited)

Insurance service result  295  —  (18)  277 Insurance service result

Investment return  357  (548)  —  (191) Investment return
Net finance expenses from 
insurance and reinsurance contract 
and movement of investment 
contract benefits  (236)  459  1  224 

Net finance expenses from 
insurance and reinsurance 
contract and movement of 
investment contract benefits

Net insurance and investment 
result  416  (89)  (17)  310 

Net insurance and investment 
result

Other operating revenue  16  —  2  18 Other operating revenue

General and other expenses  (216)  —  (100)  (316) General and other expenses

Borrowings and other finance costs  (7)  —  (52)  (59) 
Borrowings and other finance 
costs

Segmental adjusted operating 
profit/(loss) before share of profit 
from associates and joint ventures  209  (89)  (167)  (47) 

Profit/(loss) before share of 
profit from associates and joint 
ventures

Share of loss from associates and 
joint ventures  (1)  —  —  (1) 

Share of loss from associates and 
joint ventures

Segmental adjusted operating 
profit before tax  208 
Implementation costs for IFRS 9 and 
17 and Group-wide Supervision  (28)  —  28  — 

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) 
before tax  180  (89)  (139)  (48) 

Adjusted profit/(loss) before
tax from continuing operations
of the Operating Group

 (4) Tax expense

 (52) 

Adjusted net loss from
continuing operations of the
Operating Group after tax
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.1 Segment results (Continued)

US$m Hong Kong Thailand Japan
Emerging 
Markets

Corporate 
and Others Total

Year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

TWPI  1,664  2,166  1,757  708  —  6,295 

Insurance revenue  840  572  682  282  —  2,376 

Insurance service expenses  (637)  (398)  (424)  (237)  —  (1,696) 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held  (50)  (7)  (89)  1  —  (145) 

Insurance service result  153  167  169  46  —  535 

Investment return  658  305  172  (57)  (4)  1,074 
Net finance expenses from insurance and reinsurance 
contract and movement of investment contract benefits  (630)  (227)  (53)  82  —  (828) 

Net insurance and investment result  181  245  288  71  (4)  781 

Other operating revenue  11  1  3  21  (1)  35 

General and other expenses  (65)  (78)  (53)  (102)  (116)  (414) 

Borrowings and other finance costs  (9)  (3)  (2)  (5)  —  (19) 
Segmental adjusted operating profit/(loss) before share 
of profit from associates and joint ventures  118  165  236  (15)  (121)  383 

Share of profit/(loss) from associates and joint

ventures  —  —  —  18  (8)  10 

before tax1  118  165  236  3  (129)  393 
Implementation costs for IFRS 9 and 17 and Group-wide 
Supervision  (79) 

Adjusted operating profit before tax  314 

Key operating ratio:
Expense ratio  13.3 %  9.5 %  9.9 %  31.1 %  — %  14.9 %

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) before tax includes:

Operating expenses  (221)  (206)  (174)  (220)  (116)  (937) 

Note:
1. Excludes results of the Non-core business, comprising of US$(2)m operating loss before tax.

Segment information below represents the financial position of the Group:

US$m Hong Kong Thailand Japan
Emerging 
Markets

Corporate and 
Others

Adjusted 
Financial 
Position

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Total assets  19,912  17,260  8,839  3,555  1,024  50,590 

Total liabilities  (16,794)  (13,854)  (7,290)  (1,791)  (2,372)  (42,101) 

Total equity  3,118  3,406  1,549  1,764  (1,348)  8,489 

Shareholders’ allocated equity  3,473  3,884  1,168  1,773  (2,702)  7,596 

Net capital in flows  1  11  —  252  136  400 

Total assets include:

Investment in associates and a joint venture  8  —  —  364  35  407 
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.1 Segment results (Continued)

Segment information is reconciled to adjusted profit from continuing operations after tax, as shown 
below:

US$m
Segment 

information

Short-term 
fluctuations in 

investment 
return related 

to equities and 
property 

investments 
and other non-

operating 
investment 

return
Other non-

operating items
Operating 

Group Total

Year ended 31 December 2022 
(Restated) (Unaudited)

Insurance service result  535  —  (90)  445 Insurance service result

Investment return  1,074  (1,090)  (1)  (17) Investment return
Net finance expenses from 
insurance and reinsurance contract 
and movement of investment 
contract benefits  (828)  893  —  65 

Net finance expenses from 
insurance and reinsurance 
contract and movement of 
investment contract benefits

Net insurance and investment 
result  781  (197)  (91)  493 

Net insurance and investment 
result

Other operating revenue  35  —  3  38 Other operating revenue

General and other expenses  (414)  —  (275)  (689) General and other expenses

Borrowings and other finance costs  (19)  —  (109)  (128) 
Borrowings and other finance 
costs

Segmental adjusted operating 
profit/(loss) before share of profit 
from associates and joint ventures  383  (197)  (472)  (286) 

Profit/(loss) before share of 
profit from associates and joint 
ventures

Share of profit/(loss) from associates 
and joint ventures  10  —  (8)  2 

Share of profit/(loss) from 
associates and joint ventures

Segmental adjusted operating 
profit before tax  393 
Implementation costs for IFRS 9 and 
17 and Group-wide Supervision  (79)  —  79  — 

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) 
before tax  314  (197)  (401)  (284) 

Adjusted profit/(loss) before
tax from continuing operations
of the Operating Group

 (36) Tax expense

 (320) 

Adjusted net loss from
continuing operations of the
Operating Group after tax
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.2 Adjusted operating profit

The long-term nature of the Group's operations means that, for management's decision-making and 
internal performance management purposes, the Group evaluates its results and its operating 
segments using a financial performance measure referred to as "adjusted operating profit". Adjusted 
operating profit is provided to assist in the comparison of business trends in different reporting 
periods on a consistent basis and to enhance overall understanding of financial performance.

Adjusted operating profit includes among others the expected long-term investment returns for 
investments in equities, investment funds and real estate based on the assumptions applied by the 
Group in the calculations of Embedded Value. The Group defines adjusted operating profit as loss of 
the Group from continuing operations after tax adjusted to exclude the following items:

Market related

• Short-term fluctuations in investment return related to equities, interests in investment funds and 
investment property;

• Loss component on onerous VFA contracts, relating to market movements; and 

• Any other items which, in the Directors’ view, should be disclosed separately to enable a full 
understanding of the Group’s financial performance.   

Non-market related

• Finance costs related to borrowings and long-term payables;

• M&A, business set up and restructuring related costs; 

• IPO related costs including incentive costs; and

• Any other items which, in the Directors’ view, should be disclosed separately to enable a full 
understanding of the Group’s financial performance.   

The Group considers that the presentation of adjusted operating profit enhances the understanding 
and comparability of its performance and that of its operating segments on an ongoing basis. The 
Group considers that trends can be more clearly identified without the significant impact of the one-
off costs of integration activities and the costs of servicing debt used to finance acquisition activities 
and the fluctuating effects of other non-operating items which are largely dependent on market 
factors. 
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.2 Adjusted operating profit (Continued)

Adjusted net profit/(loss) of the Group from continuing operations after tax is reconciled to the 
adjusted operating profit/(loss) after tax as follows:

US$m Notes
Six months ended

30 June 2023

Six months ended
30 June 2022

(Restated)

Year ended
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Adjusted net profit/(loss) of the Operating Group 
from continuing operations after tax  44  (52)  (320) 
Tax on adjusted operating profit before tax  67  45  94 

Tax impact from non-operating items  (1)  (41)  (58) 
Adjusted profit/(loss) of the Operating Group 
before tax from continuing operations 6.1  110  (48)  (284) 

Non-operating items, net of related changes in 
insurance and investment contract liabilities:

Market related:
Short-term fluctuations in investment return 
related to equities, investment funds
and property investments  64  100  187 

Loss component on onerous contracts  9  20  99 

Other non-operating investment return  (14)  (11)  10 

 59  109  296 

Non-market related:
Finance costs related to borrowings and long-term 
payables  69  52  109 
M&A, business set up and restructuring related 
costs  (6)  36  88 

IPO related costs including incentive costs  34  34  73 

Other non-operating items  9  (3)  32 

 106  119  302 
Adjusted operating profit before tax  275  180  314 
Tax adjusted on operating profit before tax  (67)  (45)  (94) 

Adjusted operating profit after tax  208  135  220 
Segmental adjusted operating profit before tax  307  208  393 
Tax on segmental adjusted operating profit before 
tax  (67)  (45)  (94) 

Segmental adjusted operating profit after tax  240  163  299 
Adjusted operating profit before tax attributable to:

Equity holders of FL and FGL  275  180  314 
Non-controlling interests  —  —  — 

Adjusted operating profit after tax attributable to:

Equity holders of FL and FGL  208  135  220 
Non-controlling interests  —  —  — 

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

111



6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.3 Adjusted results and financial position

The adjusted results and financial positions are the net profit/(loss) of the Operating Group for the six 
months ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, and for the year ended 31 December 2022, and the total 
assets, liabilities and equity of the Operating Group as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022 
excluding the results and certain balances attributable to the Transfer and Novation of Borrowings 
and Related Parties Balances and Exchange of Share Capital of FL and FGL, and the results and 
certain balances of the Company and the Financing Entities. 

Adjusted net profit/(loss) of the Operating Group 

The Transfer and Novation of Borrowings and Related Parties Balances and Exchange of Share Capital 
of FL and FGL had no impact on the net profit/(loss) of the Operating Group for the periods 30 June 
2023, 30 Jun 2022 and for the year ended 31 December 2022.

US$m
Six months ended 

30 June 2023

Six months ended 
30 June 2022

(Restated)

Year ended 
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Net profit/(loss) of the Group and adjusted net profit/
(loss) of the Operating Group  44  (52)  (320) 
Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company  (49)  (80)  (403) 
Perpetual securities  55  28  83 

Non-controlling interests  38 — —

Finance costs presented in the segmental information can be reconciled to the interim condensed 
consolidated income statement as follows:

US$m Notes
Six months ended 

30 June 2023

Six months ended 
30 June 2022

(Restated)

Year ended 31 December 
2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Finance costs, principally related to leases, included in 
adjusted operating
profit 6.1  14  7  19 
Finance costs related to borrowings and long-term 
payables 6.2  69  52  109 

Total  83  59  128 
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.3 Adjusted results and financial position (Continued)

Adjusted total assets and total liabilities of the Operating Group

The Transfer and Novation of Borrowings and Related Parties Balances and Exchange of Share Capital 
of FL and FGL had no impact on the total assets and the total liabilities of the Operating Group as at 
30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Adjusted total equity of the Operating Group

US$m
As at 

30 June 2023

As at 
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Total equity of the Group attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company  5,030  5,417 

Perpetual securities  1,354  1,354 

Non-controlling interests  1,817  1,718 

Total equity of the Group  8,201  8,489 
Add: Share capital and share premium  1,738  1,717 

Less: Non-controlling interests  (1,738)  (1,717) 

Adjusted total equity of the Operating Group attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company  6,768  7,134 
Perpetual securities  1,354  1,354 

Non-controlling interests  79  1 

Adjusted total equity of the Operating Group  8,201  8,489 

US$m 
Six months ended 

30 June 2023

Year ended 31 December 
2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Adjusted total equity of the Operating Group attributable to Shareholders 
of the Company  6,768  7,134 

Contractual Service Margin (net of tax)  4,462  4,404 

Comprehensive equity1  11,230  11,538 

Note: 
1. Comprehensive equity is defined as Adjusted total equity of the Operating Group attributable to Shareholders of the Company plus Contractual 

Service Margin (net of tax). 
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

6.4 Total Weighted Premium Income

For management decision-making and internal performance management purposes, the Group 
measures business volumes during the period using a performance measure referred to as TWPI. 
TWPI is presented based on the Group’s effective ownership interest in the Insurance Business.

TWPI consists of 100 per cent of renewal premiums, 100 per cent of first year premiums and 10 per 
cent of single premiums, before reinsurance ceded, and includes deposits and contributions for 
contracts that are accounted for as deposits in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. 

Management considers that TWPI provides an indicative volume measure of transactions undertaken 
in the reporting period that have the potential to generate profits for shareholders. The amounts 
shown are not intended to be indicative of premiums and fee income recorded in the consolidated 
income statement.

US$m
Six months ended 

30 June 2023
Six months ended 

30 June 2022
Year ended

31 December 2022

TWPI by geography (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Hong Kong  866  875  1,664 

Thailand  1,288  1,186  2,166 

Japan  883  1,021  1,757 

Emerging Markets  359  341  708 

Total  3,396  3,423  6,295 

First year premiums by geography
Hong Kong  182  91  167 

Thailand  315  234  434 

Japan  67  88  157 

Emerging Markets  122  133  291 

Total  686  546  1,049 

Single premiums by geography
Hong Kong  624  994  1,404 

Thailand  120  143  245 

Japan  —  —  — 

Emerging Markets  157  132  267 

Total  901  1,269  1,916 

Renewal premiums by geography
Hong Kong  622  685  1,356 

Thailand  961  937  1,708 

Japan  816  933  1,600 

Emerging Markets  221  195  390 

Total  2,620  2,750  5,054 
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7. Insurance Revenue and Other Revenue

US$m
Six months ended 

30 June 2023

Six months ended 
30 June 2022 

(Restated)

Year ended
31 December 2022

(Restated)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Contracts not measured under the PAA
Amounts relating to changes in liabilities for remaining 

coverage:

CSM recognised for services provided  398  346  675 
Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for risk 
expired  32  29  56 
Expected incurred claims and other insurance service 
expenses  522  482  976 

Recovery of insurance acquisition cash flows  337  241  545 

 1,289  1,098  2,252 

Contracts measured under the PAA  77  79  156 

Total insurance revenue  1,366  1,177  2,408 

Other revenue

Other revenue largely consists of asset management fees and administrative fee income.
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8. Investment Return and Net Finance Expenses from Insurance 
Contracts

Analysis of investment result in profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

US$m Note
Six months ended 30 

June 2023
Six months ended 30 
June 2022 (Restated)

Year ended 31 December 
2022 (Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Investment return:
Interest revenue B  522  452  951 

Other investment gains/(losses) C  201  (629)  (939) 

Net impairment loss on financial assets  (1)  (14)  (29) 

Amounts recognised in OCI  888  (4,442)  (4,902) 

Total investment return  1,610  (4,633)  (4,919) 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts:
Changes in fair value of underlying items of direct 

participating contracts  (705)  2,473  3,108 

Interest accreted  (203)  (186)  (205) 
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial 

assumptions  (880)  2,519  2,037 
Effect of measuring changes in estimates at current 

rates and adjusting the CSM at rates on initial 
recognition  69  1  (7) 

Net foreign exchange loss  22  16  (13) 

Total net finance expenses from insurance contracts A  (1,697)  4,823  4,920 

Net finance income from reinsurance contracts held:
Interest accreted  (2)  (5)  3 

Other  34  (32)  (58) 
Total net finance income from reinsurance contracts 
held A  32  (37)  (55) 

Movement in investment contract liabilities  3  1  2 

Net investment result  (52)  154  (52) 

Represented by:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss  124  33  48 

Amounts recognised in OCI  (176)  121  (100) 

 (52)  154  (52) 
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8. Investment Return and Net Finance Expenses from Insurance 
Contracts (Continued)

A. Insurance finance income and expenses

US$m
Six months ended 30 

June 2023
Six months ended 30 
June 2022 (Restated)

Year ended 31 
December 2022 

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Net finance (expenses)/income from insurance contracts
Recognised in profit or loss  (591)  243  86 

Recognised in OCI  (1,106)  4,580  4,834 

 (1,697)  4,823  4,920 

Net finance income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts
Recognised in profit or loss  (10)  (20)  (23) 

Recognised in OCI  42  (17)  (32) 

 32  (37)  (55) 

B. Interest revenue

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method are presented as below.

US$m
Six months ended 30 

June 2023
Six months ended 30 
June 2022 (Restated)

Year ended 31 
December 2022 

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Debt securities measured at FVOCI  482  427  892 

Financial investments measured at amortised cost  40  25  59 

 522  452  951 
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8. Investment Return and Net Finance Expenses from Insurance 
Contracts (Continued)

C.   Other investment gains/(losses)

US$m
Six months ended 

30 June 2023

Six months ended 
30 June 2022 

(Restated)

Year ended 31 
December 2022 

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Financial instruments mandatorily measured at FVTPL
Net fair value gains/(losses) on

Debt securities  9  (72)  (99) 

Derivatives  (423)  (498)  (327) 

Equity securities  (4)  (154)  (161) 

Interests in investment funds  69  (542)  (928) 

Dividend income  108  110  189 

Interest income  49  25  60 

Net foreign exchange gain  136  140  76 

 (56)  (991)  (1,190) 

Net losses on derecognition of debt investments at FVOCI  (59)  (95)  (174) 

Net foreign exchange gain on items not measured at FVTPL  300  441  394 

Lease income from investment properties  13  13  25 

Net fair value movement of investment properties  1  (2)  (3) 

Other investment income  2  5  9 

Total  201  (629)  (939) 

D.   Investment return in OCI related to insurance and reinsurance contracts held 
measured under the modified retrospective or fair value transition approach

On transition to IFRS 17, for certain groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts held, the Group 
determined the cumulative insurance finance income and expenses recognised in OCI at 1  January 
2022 using the modified retrospective approach or the fair value approach. The movement in the fair 
value reserve for the debt investments at FVOCI related to those groups of contracts was as follows. 

US$m
Six months ended 

30 June 2023
Six months ended 

30 June 2022
Year ended 31 

December 2022

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Fair value reserve
Balance at 1 January  (2,447)  (92)  (92) 
Change in fair value, net of fair value change transferred to 

income on disposal and impairment  448  (2,682)  (2,931) 

Related income tax  (99)  514  561 

Sharing to non-controlling interests1  8  14  15 

Balance at period end  (2,090)  (2,246)  (2,447) 

Note: 
1. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, FL and FGL issued ordinary shares to non-controlling 

interests holders. The fair value reserve attributable to shareholders of the Company was changed as a result of change in shareholding of non-
controlling interests.
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9. Expenses

US$m
Six months ended 

30 June 2023

Six months ended 
30 June 2022 

(Restated)

Year ended 
31 December 2022 

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Claims and benefits  435  375  861 

Loss on onerous insurance contracts  29  31  118 

Commission and other acquisition expenses  751  658  1,280 

Employee benefits expenses  320  300  605 

Depreciation  31  32  63 

Amortisation  22  16  32 

Marketing and advertising  32  20  51 

Professional service fees  83  69  189 

Information technology expenses  74  69  147 

Investment management expenses  41  30  69 

Others1  69  60  128 

 1,887  1,660  3,543 

Amounts attributed to insurance acquisition cash flows  (923)  (807)  (1,605) 

Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows  348  254  568 

Total  1,312  1,107  2,506 

Represented by:
Insurance service expenses  955  791  1,817 

General and other expenses - operating  229  216  414 

General and other expenses - non operating  128  100  275 

 1,312  1,107  2,506 

Note:
1. Includes travel and entertainment, bank charges, office related expenses and other general operating expenses.

10. Borrowing and Other Finance Costs
Borrowings and other finance costs may be analysed as follows:

US$m
Six months ended 

30 June 2023

Six months ended 
30 June 2022 

(Restated)

Year ended 
31 December 2022 

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Borrowings  69  47  103 

Lease liabilities  2  2  4 

Others  12  10  21 

Total  83  59  128 
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11. Income Tax

Tax benefit/(expense) 

Taxes on assessable profits have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries (or 
jurisdictions) in which the Group operates. The total tax benefit/(expense) comprises:

US$m
Six months ended 

30 June 2023
Six months ended 

30 June 2022 (Restated)
Year ended 31 December 

2022 (Restated)

(Unaudited)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Current income tax  (129)  (223)  (393) 

Deferred income tax on temporary differences  63  219  357 

Total  (66)  (4)  (36) 

The Group calculates income tax expense for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 2022 using the 
tax rate that would be applicable to the expected total annual profit/(loss) before tax. The Group’s 
effective tax rate for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 2022 and for the year ended 31 
December 2022 was -60.0% and 8.3% and 12.7% respectively. The difference is primarily explained by 
changes to the Group’s recognition of deferred tax assets and non-taxable/deductible items.

12. Intangible Assets

US$m Goodwill Distribution rights
Computer software 

and others Total

Cost
At 1 January 2022  1,596  1,731  242  3,569 

Additions  —  —  50  50 

Disposals  —  (11)  (1)  (12) 

Foreign exchange movements  (33)  (68)  (18)  (119) 

At 31 December 2022  1,563  1,652  273  3,488 
Acquisition of a subsidiary  —  —  2  2 

Additions  —  58  39  97 

Disposals  —  (2)  —  (2) 

Foreign exchange movements  (9)  (30)  (12)  (51) 

At 30 June 2023 (Unaudited)  1,554  1,678  302  3,534 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2022  (36)  (71)  (114)  (221) 

Amortisation charge for the year  —  (44)  (32)  (76) 

Disposals  —  3  —  3 

Foreign exchange movements  2  3  8  13 

At 31 December 2022  (34)  (109)  (138)  (281) 
Amortisation charge for the period  —  (21)  (22)  (43) 

Disposals  —  1  —  1 

Foreign exchange movements  (1)  2  6  7 

At 30 June 2023 (Unaudited)  (35)  (127)  (154)  (316) 
Net book value
At 31 December 2022  1,529  1,543  135  3,207 
At 30 June 2023 (Unaudited)  1,519  1,551  148  3,218 

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

120  FWD Group Holdings Limited Interim Report 2023



13. Investments In Associates And Joint Ventures

US$m
As at

30 June 2023

As at
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Group
Investments in associates  455  400 

Investments in joint ventures  7  7 

Total  462  407 

The Group’s interest in its key associates and joint venture are as follows:

Group’s interest %

Entity
Place of 
incorporation Principal activity

Type of 
investments

Type of shares 
held As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022

(Unaudited)

PT Asuransi BRI Life 
(“BRI Life”) Indonesia Life insurance Associate Ordinary  39.82 %  35.14 %

CompareAsia Group 
Capital Limited

Cayman 
Islands

Operation of online 
platforms and provision 
of insurance brokerage 
and marketing  services Associate Ordinary  29.82 %  29.82 %

One George Street 
LLP (“OGS”) Singapore

Investment in real estate 
properties in Singapore

Joint 
venture Ordinary  50.00 %  50.00 %

All associates and joint ventures are unlisted.

On 2 March 2022, the Group acquired an additional interest of 5.28% in BRI Life at a consideration of 
US$54m. As a result, the Group has a total of 35.14% effective ownership interest in BRI Life. On 2 
March 2023, the Group acquired an additional interest of 4.68% in BRI Life at a consideration of 
US$51m. As a result, the Group has a total of 39.82% effective ownership interest in BRI Life.

On 14 October 2022 and 23 December 2022, CompareAsia Group Capital Limited completed a series 
of capital restructuring transactions, as a result of which the Group has a total of 29.82% effective 
ownership interest in CompareAsia Group Capital Limited.

Dividend received from OGS during the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 and year 
ended 31 December 2022 was US$nil, US$5m and US$5m, respectively.

14. Investment Property
US$m

Fair value
At 1 January 2022  663 

Additions  64 

Fair value losses  (3) 

Foreign exchange movements  (83) 

At 31 December 2022  641 
Acquisition of a subsidiary  1 

Fair value gains  1 

Foreign exchange movements  (56) 

At 30 June 2023 (Unaudited) 587
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15. Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts

Insurance Contracts

US$m

As at
30 June 2023

As at
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Insurance contract assets  737  722 

Insurance contract liabilities  (38,607)  (37,019) 
Total  (37,870)  (36,297) 

Reinsurance Contracts Held

US$m

As at
30 June 2023

As at
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Reinsurance contract assets  726  725 

Reinsurance contract liabilities  (295)  (463) 
Total  431  262 

As at 30 June 2023, the maximum exposure to credit risk from reinsurance contracts held is US$726m 
(31 December 2022: US$725m). The credit risk arising from insurance contracts are not considered to 
be significant.

(a) Movement in insurance and reinsurance contract balances

The Group presents a table that separately analyses movements in the liabilities for remaining 
coverage and movements in the liabilities for incurred claims and reconciles these movements 
to the line items in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

A second reconciliation is presented for contracts not measured under the PAA, which 
separately analyses changes in the estimates of the present value of future cash flows, the risk 
adjustment for non-financial risk and the CSM.
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(a) Movement in insurance and reinsurance contract balances (continued)

(i) (a) Insurance contracts not measured under the premium allocation approach
Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims

Six months ended 30 June 2023 (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Liabilities for remaining coverage
Liabilities for 

incurred claims Total Liabilities for remaining coverage
Liabilities for 

incurred claims Total

US$m Note
Excluding loss 

component
Loss 

component
Excluding loss 

component
Loss 

component

Opening assets  785  (5)  (58)  722  717  (4)  28  741 

Opening liabilities  (35,696)  (168)  (1,108)  (36,972)  (40,798)  (69)  (1,141)  (42,008) 

Net opening balance  (34,911)  (173)  (1,166)  (36,250)  (40,081)  (73)  (1,113)  (41,267) 

Changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI

Insurance revenue 7
Contracts under the modified retrospective approach  76  —  —  76  102  —  —  102 

Contracts under the fair value approach  593  —  —  593  1,276  —  —  1,276 

Other contracts  620  —  —  620  874  —  —  874 

 1,289  —  —  1,289  2,252  —  —  2,252 

Insurance service expenses

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses  —  14  (502)  (488)  —  17  (1,008)  (991) 

Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows  (337)  —  —  (337)  (545)  —  —  (545) 

Losses and reversals of losses on onerous contracts  —  (26)  —  (26)  —  (117)  —  (117) 

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims  —  —  (13)  (13)  —  —  (22)  (22) 

 (337)  (12)  (515)  (864)  (545)  (100)  (1,030)  (1,675) 

Investment components  2,151  —  (2,151)  —  3,287  —  (3,287)  — 

Insurance service result  3,103  (12)  (2,666)  425  4,994  (100)  (4,317)  577 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 8  (1,635)  (6)  (56)  (1,697)  4,910  (3)  13  4,920 

Foreign exchange movement  978  1  40  1,019  1,574  3  128  1,705 

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  2,446  (17)  (2,682)  (253)  11,478  (100)  (4,176)  7,202 

Cash flows

Premium received  (4,655)  —  —  (4,655)  (7,649)  —  —  (7,649) 

Claims and other insurance service expenses paid; including investment components  —  —  2,504  2,504  —  —  4,123  4,123 

Insurance acquisition cash flows  910  —  —  910  1,341  —  —  1,341 

Total cash flows  (3,745)  —  2,504  (1,241)  (6,308)  —  4,123  (2,185) 

Net closing balance  (36,210)  (190)  (1,344)  (37,744)  (34,911)  (173)  (1,166)  (36,250) 

Closing assets  768  (18)  (14)  736  785  (5)  (58)  722 

Closing liabilities  (36,978)  (172)  (1,330)  (38,480)  (35,696)  (168)  (1,108)  (36,972) 

Net closing balance  (36,210)  (190)  (1,344)  (37,744)  (34,911)  (173)  (1,166)  (36,250) 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(a) Movement in insurance and reinsurance contract balances (continued)

(i) (a) Insurance contracts not measured under the premium allocation approach (Continued)
Analysis by measurement component

Six months ended 30 June 2023 (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

CSM CSM

US$m Note

Estimates of 
present 
value of 

future cash 
flows

Risk 
adjustment 

for non-
financial risk

Contracts 
under 

modified 
retrospective 

transition 
approach

Contracts 
under fair 

value 
transition 
approach

Other 
contracts

Subtotal Total Estimates of 
present 
value of 

future cash 
flows

Risk 
adjustment 

for non-
financial risk

Contracts 
under 

modified 
retrospective 

transition 
approach

Contracts 
under fair 

value 
transition 
approach

Other 
contracts

Subtotal Total

Opening assets  1,876  (87)  —  (243)  (824)  (1,067)  722  1,726  (92)  —  (472)  (421)  (893)  741 
Opening liabilities  (31,133)  (562)  (254)  (3,042)  (1,981)  (5,277)  (36,972)  (36,391)  (609)  (323)  (3,806)  (879)  (5,008)  (42,008) 
Net opening balance  (29,257)  (649)  (254)  (3,285)  (2,805)  (6,344)  (36,250)  (34,665)  (701)  (323)  (4,278)  (1,300)  (5,901)  (41,267) 
Changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI
Changes that relate to current services
CSM recognised for services received 7  —  —  16  172  210  398  398  —  —  35  381  259  675  675 

Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for 
risk expired  —  32  —  —  —  —  32  —  56  —  —  —  —  56 

Experience adjustments  34  —  —  —  —  —  34  (15)  —  —  —  —  —  (15) 
Changes that relate to future services
Contracts initially recognised in the year  905  (79)  —  —  (834)  (834)  (8)  1,747  (114)  —  —  (1,656)  (1,656)  (23) 
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM  (172)  (8)  (5)  48  137  180  —  (355)  67  24  320  (56)  288  — 

Changes in estimates that result in losses and 
reversals of losses on onerous contracts  (18)  —  —  —  —  —  (18)  (94)  —  —  —  —  —  (94) 

Changes that relate to past services
Adjustments to assets for incurred claims  (13)  —  —  —  —  —  (13)  (22)  —  —  —  —  —  (22) 
Insurance service result  736  (55)  11  220  (487)  (256)  425  1,261  9  59  701  (1,453)  (693)  577 
Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 8  (1,680)  1  (2)  (3)  (13)  (18)  (1,697)  4,945  —  (5)  (8)  (12)  (25)  4,920 
Effect of movements in exchange rates  705  28  7  165  114  286  1,019  1,387  43  15  300  (40)  275  1,705 
Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and  (239)  (26)  16  382  (386)  12  (253)  7,593  52  69  993  (1,505)  (443)  7,202 
Cash flows
Premium received  (4,655)  —  —  —  —  —  (4,655)  (7,649)  —  —  —  —  —  (7,649) 

Claims and other insurance service expenses paid; 
including investment components  2,504  —  —  —  —  —  2,504  4,123  —  —  —  —  —  4,123 

Insurance acquisition cash flows  910  —  —  —  —  —  910  1,341  —  —  —  —  —  1,341 
Total cash flows  (1,241)  —  —  —  —  —  (1,241)  (2,185)  —  —  —  —  —  (2,185) 
Net closing balance  (30,737)  (675)  (238)  (2,903)  (3,191)  (6,332)  (37,744)  (29,257)  (649)  (254)  (3,285)  (2,805)  (6,344)  (36,250) 
Closing assets  1,906  (99)  —  (220)  (851)  (1,071)  736  1,876  (87)  —  (243)  (824)  (1,067)  722 
Closing liabilities  (32,643)  (576)  (238)  (2,683)  (2,340)  (5,261)  (38,480)  (31,133)  (562)  (254)  (3,042)  (1,981)  (5,277)  (36,972) 
Net closing balance  (30,737)  (675)  (238)  (2,903)  (3,191)  (6,332)  (37,744)  (29,257)  (649)  (254)  (3,285)  (2,805)  (6,344)  (36,250) 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(a) Movement in insurance and reinsurance contract balances (continued)

(i) (b) Insurance contracts measured under the premium allocation approach 
Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims

Six months ended 30 June 2023 (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Liabilities for remaining 
coverage Liabilities for incurred claims Total

Liabilities for remaining 
coverage Liabilities for incurred claims Total

US$m Note
Excluding loss 

component
Loss 

component
Estimates of 

PV of FCF
Risk 

Adjustment
Excluding loss 

component
Loss 

component
Estimates of 

PV of FCF
Risk 

Adjustment

Opening assets  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Opening liabilities  (4)  (4)  (38)  (1)  (47)  (27)  (2)  (23)  (1)  (53) 

Net opening balance  (4)  (4)  (38)  (1)  (47)  (27)  (2)  (23)  (1)  (53) 

Changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI

Insurance revenue 7
Other contracts  77  —  —  —  77  156  —  —  —  156 

Insurance service expenses

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses  —  (1)  (79)  —  (80)  —  (2)  (119)  —  (121) 

Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows  (11)  —  —  —  (11)  (23)  —  —  —  (23) 

Losses and reversals of losses on onerous contracts  —  (2)  —  —  (2)  —  —  —  —  — 

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims  —  —  2  —  2  —  —  2  —  2 

 (11)  (3)  (77)  —  (91)  (23)  (2)  (117)  —  (142) 

Insurance service result  66  (3)  (77)  —  (14)  133  (2)  (117)  —  14 

Foreign exchange movement  1  —  (2)  —  (1)  (3)  —  4  —  1 

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  67  (3)  (79)  —  (15)  130  (2)  (113)  —  15 

Cash flows

Premium received  (154)  —  —  —  (154)  (124)  —  —  —  (124) 

Claims and other insurance service expenses paid; including investment 
components  —  —  75  —  75  —  —  98  —  98 

Insurance acquisition cash flows  15  —  —  —  15  17  —  —  —  17 

Total cash flows  (139)  —  75  —  (64)  (107)  —  98  —  (9) 

Net closing balance  (76)  (7)  (42)  (1)  (126)  (4)  (4)  (38)  (1)  (47) 

Closing assets  —  —  1  —  1  —  —  —  —  — 

Closing liabilities  (76)  (7)  (43)  (1)  (127)  (4)  (4)  (38)  (1)  (47) 

Net closing balance  (76)  (7)  (42)  (1)  (126)  (4)  (4)  (38)  (1)  (47) 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(a) Movement in insurance and reinsurance contract balances (continued)

(ii) (a) Reinsurance contracts held not measured under the premium allocation approach
Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims

Six months ended 30 June 2023 (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Assets for remaining coverage Assets for incurred claims Total Assets for remaining coverage Assets for incurred claims Total

US$m Note

Excluding 
loss-recovery 
component

Loss- recovery 
component

Excluding 
loss-recovery 
component

Loss- recovery 
component

Opening assets  487  3  219  709  938  2  80  1,020 

Opening liabilities  (531)  2  66  (463)  (587)  —  116  (471) 

Net opening balance  (44)  5  285  246  351  2  196  549 

Changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI

Allocation of reinsurance premium paid  (179)  —  —  (179)  (381)  —  —  (381) 

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers

Recoveries of incurred claims and other insurance service expenses  —  —  115  115  —  —  233  233 

Recoveries and reversals of recoveries of losses on onerous underlying 
contracts  —  2  —  2  —  3  —  3 

Adjustments to assets for incurred claims  —  —  7  7  —  —  1  1 

 —  2  122  124  —  3  234  237 

Investment components and premium refunds  (298)  —  298  —  (481)  —  481  — 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts  (477)  2  420  (55)  (862)  3  715  (144) 

Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers  —  —  —  —  (4)  —  —  (4) 

Net finance expenses from reinsurance contracts 8  29  —  3  32  (50)  —  (1)  (51) 

Foreign exchange movement  27  —  (48)  (21)  (22)  —  (5)  (27) 

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  (421)  2  375  (44)  (938)  3  709  (226) 

Cash flows

Premium paid  542  —  —  542  543  —  —  543 

Amounts received  —  —  (329)  (329)  —  —  (620)  (620) 

Total cash flows  542  —  (329)  213  543  —  (620)  (77) 

Net closing balance  77  7  331  415  (44)  5  285  246 

Closing assets  361  6  341  708  487  3  219  709 

Closing liabilities  (284)  1  (10)  (293)  (531)  2  66  (463) 

Net closing balance  77  7  331  415  (44)  5  285  246 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(a) Movement in insurance and reinsurance contract balances (continued)

(ii) (a) Reinsurance contracts held not measured under the premium allocation approach (Continued)
Analysis by measurement component

Six months ended 30 June 2023 (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)
CSM CSM

US$m Note

Estimates of 
present 
value of 

future cash 
flows

Risk 
adjustment 

for non-
financial 

risk

Contracts 
under 

modified 
retrospective 

transition 
approach

Contracts 
under fair 

value 
transition 
approach

Other 
contracts Subtotal Total

Estimates of 
present 
value of 

future cash 
flows

Risk 
adjustment 

for non-
financial 

risk

Contracts 
under 

modified 
retrospective 

transition 
approach

Contracts 
under fair 

value 
transition 
approach

Other 
contracts Subtotal Total

Opening assets  (240)  82  8  464  395  867  709  161  90  1  563  205  769  1,020 

Opening liabilities  (549)  9  (2)  57  22  77  (463)  (606)  19  3  97  16  116  (471) 

Net opening balance  (789)  91  6  521  417  944  246  (445)  109  4  660  221  885  549 

Changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI

Changes that relate to current services

CSM recognised for services received  —  —  (1)  (32)  (12)  (45)  (45)  —  —  (2)  (93)  (48)  (143)  (143) 

Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for 
risk expired  —  (5)  —  —  —  —  (5)  —  (6)  —  —  —  —  (6) 

Experience adjustments  (14)  —  —  —  —  —  (14)  1  —  —  —  —  —  1 

Changes that relate to future services

Contracts initially recognised in the year  (121)  6  —  —  115  115  —  (285)  14  —  —  271  271  — 

Changes in recoveries of losses on onerous 
underlying contracts that adjust the CSM  —  —  —  —  2  2  2  —  —  —  1  2  3  3 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM  59  —  1  (18)  (42)  (59)  —  8  (15)  4  21  (18)  7  — 

Changes that relate to past services

Adjustments to assets for incurred claims  7  —  —  —  —  —  7  2  (1)  —  —  —  —  1 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts  (69)  1  —  (50)  63  13  (55)  (274)  (8)  2  (71)  207  138  (144) 

Effect of changes in non-performance risk of  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (4)  —  —  —  —  —  (4) 

Net finance expenses from reinsurance contracts 8  30  —  —  1  1  2  32  (56)  —  —  3  2  5  (51) 

Foreign Exchange Movement  57  (7)  —  (32)  (39)  (71)  (21)  67  (10)  —  (71)  (13)  (84)  (27) 

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and 
OCI  18  (6)  —  (81)  25  (56)  (44)  (267)  (18)  2  (139)  196  59  (226) 

Cash flows

Premium paid  542  —  —  —  —  —  542  543  —  —  —  —  —  543 

Amounts received  (329)  —  —  —  —  —  (329)  (620)  —  —  —  —  —  (620) 

Total cash flows  213  —  —  —  —  —  213  (77)  —  —  —  —  —  (77) 

Net closing balance  (558)  85  6  440  442  888  415  (789)  91  6  521  417  944  246 

Closing assets  (154)  73  6  372  411  789  708  (240)  82  8  464  395  867  709 

Closing liabilities  (404)  12  —  68  31  99  (293)  (549)  9  (2)  57  22  77  (463) 

Net closing balance  (558)  85  6  440  442  888  415  (789)  91  6  521  417  944  246 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(a) Movement in insurance and reinsurance contract balances (continued)

(ii) (b) Reinsurance contracts held measured under the premium allocation approach
Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims

Six months ended 30 June 2023 (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Assets for remaining coverage Assets for incurred claims Total Assets for remaining coverage Assets for incurred claims Total

US$m Note

Excluding loss-
recovery 

component

Loss- recovery 
component

Estimates of PV 
of FCF

Risk 
Adjustment

Excluding loss-
recovery 

component

Loss- recovery 
component

Estimates of PV 
of FCF

Risk 
Adjustment

Opening assets  15  —  1  —  16  —  —  —  —  — 

Opening liabilities  (8)  1  6  1  —  7  —  7  1  15 

Net opening balance  7  1  7  1  16  7  —  7  1  15 

Changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI

Allocation of reinsurance premium paid  (8)  —  —  —  (8)  (14)  —  —  —  (14) 

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers

Recoveries of incurred claims and other insurance service expenses  —  —  8  —  8  —  —  14  —  14 

Recoveries and reversals of recoveries of losses on onerous underlying 
contracts  —  —  —  —  —  —  1  —  —  1 

Adjustments to assets for incurred claims  —  —  (2)  —  (2)  —  —  (3)  —  (3) 

 —  —  6  —  6  —  1  11  —  12 

Investment components and premium refunds  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts  (8)  —  6  —  (2)  (14)  1  11  —  (2) 

Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Net finance expenses from reinsurance contracts 8  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Foreign exchange movement  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  1  —  1 

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  (8)  —  6  —  (2)  (14)  1  12  —  (1) 

Cash flows

Premium paid  6  —  —  —  6  14  —  —  —  14 

Amounts received  —  —  (4)  —  (4)  —  —  (12)  —  (12) 

Total cash flows  6  —  (4)  —  2  14  —  (12)  —  2 

Net closing balance  5  1  9  1  16  7  1  7  1  16 

Closing assets  7  1  9  1  18  15  —  1  —  16 

Closing liabilities  (2)  —  —  —  (2)  (8)  1  6  1  — 

Net closing balance  5  1  9  1  16  7  1  7  1  16 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(b) Effect of contracts initially recognised in the period/year

The following tables summarise the effect on the measurement components arising from the initial recognition of insurance and reinsurance 
contracts held not measured under the PAA in the year.

(i) Insurance contracts

US$m

Profitable 
contracts 

issued

Onerous 
contracts 

issued

Profitable 
contracts 
acquired

Onerous 
contracts 
acquired Total

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

Claims and other insurance service expenses payable  (3,523)  (186)  —  —  (3,709) 

Insurance acquisition cash flows  (1,021)  (31)  —  —  (1,052) 

Estimates of present value of cash outflows  (4,544)  (217)  —  —  (4,761) 

Estimates of present value of cash inflows  5,435  211  20  —  5,666 

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk  (59)  (2)  (18)  —  (79) 

Contractual Service Margin (CSM)  (832)  —  (2)  —  (834) 

Amount included in insurance contract assets/liabilities for the period  —  (8)  —  —  (8) 

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Claims and other insurance service expenses payable  (7,026)  (173)  —  —  (7,199) 

Insurance acquisition cash flows  (1,761)  (58)  —  —  (1,819) 

Estimates of present value of cash outflows  (8,787)  (231)  —  —  (9,018) 

Estimates of present value of cash inflows  10,555  210  —  —  10,765 

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk  (112)  (2)  —  —  (114) 

Contractual Service Margin (CSM)  (1,656)  —  —  —  (1,656) 

Amount included in insurance contract assets/liabilities for the year  —  (23)  —  —  (23) 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(b)  Effect of contracts initially recognised in the period/year (Continued)

(ii) Reinsurance contracts

US$m Contracts initiated Contracts acquired Total
30 June 2023 (Unaudited)
Estimates of present value of cash inflows  487  (3)  484 
Estimates of present value of cash outflows  (605)  —  (605) 
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk  6  —  6 
Contractual Service Margin (CSM)  112  3  115 
Amount included in reinsurance contract assets/liabilities for the period  —  —  — 
31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)
Estimates of present value of cash inflows  1,141  —  1,141 
Estimates of present value of cash outflows  (1,426)  —  (1,426) 
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk  14  —  14 
Contractual Service Margin (CSM)  271  —  271 
Amount included in reinsurance contract assets/liabilities for the year  —  —  — 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts (Continued)

(c) Contractual service margin

The following table sets out when the Group expects to recognise the remaining CSM in profit 
or loss after the reporting date for contracts not measured under the PAA.

As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022 (Restated)

US$m
Insurance 
contracts

Reinsurance 
contracts held Total

Insurance 
contracts

Reinsurance 
contracts held Total

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Within one year  673  (78)  595  657  (109)  548 

One to five years  1,917  (227)  1,690  1,846  (265)  1,581 

Five to ten years  1,414  (178)  1,236  1,389  (184)  1,205 

More than ten years  2,328  (405)  1,923  2,452  (386)  2,066 

Total  6,332  (888)  5,444  6,344  (944)  5,400 
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
The following table summarises the key variables on which insurance and investment contract cash 
flows depend.

Type of contract Material terms and conditions
Nature of benefits and compensation for 

claims
Factors affecting contract 

cash flows
Key reportable 

segments

Traditional 
participating life 
assurance with DPF

Participating products combine 
protection with a savings 
element.  The basic sum assured, 
payable on death or maturity, 
may be enhanced by dividends, 
the timing or amount of which is 
at the discretion of the insurer 
taking into account factors such 
as investment experience.

Minimum guaranteed benefits 
may be enhanced based on 
investment experience and other 
considerations.

Investment 
performance
Expenses
Mortality
Lapses
Morbidity
Dividend / bonus 
rates

All

Takaful Products combine savings with 
protection, with an arrangement 
based on mutual assistance 
under which takaful participants 
agree to contribute to a common 
fund (Family risk fund) providing 
for mutual financial benefits 
payable on the occurrence of 
pre-agreed events.

Minimum guaranteed benefits 
may be enhanced based on 
investment experience and other 
considerations.

Investment 
performance
Expenses
Mortality
Lapses
Morbidity
Partial withdrawals
Premium holidays

Emerging 
markets
(Malaysia and 
Indonesia)

Traditional non-
participating life

Benefits paid on death, maturity, 
sickness or disability that are 
fixed and guaranteed and not at 
the discretion of the insurer.

Benefits, defined in the insurance 
contract, are determined by the 
contract and are not affected by 
investment performance or the 
performance of the contract as a 
whole.

Mortality
Morbidity
Lapses
Expenses

All

Accident and health 
non-participating

These products provide 
morbidity or sickness benefits 
and include health, disability, 
critical illness and accident 
cover.

Benefits, defined in the insurance 
contract, are determined by the 
contract and are not affected by 
investment performance or the 
performance of the contract as a 
whole.

Mortality
Morbidity
Lapses
Expenses

All

Universal Life Universal Life contracts combine 
savings with protection. Account 
balances are credited with 
interest at a rate set by the 
insurer.

Benefits are based on the 
account balance and death and 
living benefits.

Investment 
performance
Crediting rates
Lapses
Partial withdrawals
Premium holidays
Expenses
Mortality
Morbidity

Hong Kong, 
Emerging 
Markets 
(Vietnam only)

Unit-linked Investment-linked contracts 
combine savings with protection, 
the cash value of the policy 
depending on the value of 
unitised funds.

Benefits are based on the value 
of the unitised funds and death 
and living benefits.

Investment 
performance
Lapses
Partial withdrawals
Premium holidays
Expenses
Mortality
Morbidity

Hong Kong, 
Thailand, 
Emerging 
markets 
(Malaysia, 
Indonesia, 
Singapore, 
Philippines and 
Vietnam only)
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Methodology and assumptions 

The most significant items to which profit or loss for the period and shareholders’ equity are sensitive 
are market, insurance and lapse risks which are shown in the table below.  Indirect exposure indicates 
that there is a second order impact.  For example, whilst the profit or loss for the period attributable 
to shareholders is not directly affected by investment income earned where the investment risk is 
borne by policyholders (for example, in respect of unit-linked contracts), there is a second order 
effect through the investment management fees which the Group earns by managing such 
investments.  The distinction between direct and indirect exposure is not intended to indicate the 
relative sensitivity to each of these items.  Where the direct exposure is shown as being “net neutral”, 
this is because the exposure to market and credit risk is offset by a corresponding movement in 
insurance contract liabilities.

Type of contract

Market and credit risk

Significant insurance and 
lapse risks

Direct exposure

Indirect exposure

Insurance contract liabilities Risks associated with related 
investment portfolio

Traditional participating 
life assurance with DPF

Net neutral except for the 
insurer’s share of 
participating investment 
performance
Guarantees

Net neutral except for the  
insurer’s share of 
participating investment 
performance

Investment 
performance

Persistency
Mortality
Morbidity

Takaful Net neutral except for the 
insurer’s share of 
participating investment 
performance
Guarantees

Net neutral except for the  
insurer’s share of  
participating investment 
performance

Investment 
performance

Persistency 
Mortality
Morbidity
Partial withdrawals
Premium holidays

Traditional non-
participating life assurance

Investment performance
Asset-liability mismatch 
risk

Asset-liability mismatch 
risk
Credit Risk
Investment performance

Not applicable Mortality
Morbidity
Persistency

Accident and health non-
participating

Loss ratio
Asset-liability mismatch 
risk

Investment performance
Credit risk
Asset-liability mismatch 
risk

Not applicable Morbidity
Persistency

Universal Life Guarantees
Asset-liability mismatch 
risk

Investment performance
Credit risk
Asset-liability mismatch 
risk

Spread between earned 
rate and crediting rate 
to  policyholders

Mortality
Persistency
Partial withdrawals
Premium holidays

Unit-Linked Net neutral Net neutral Performance-related  
investment 
management fees

Mortality
Persistency
Partial withdrawals
Premium holidays

The Group is also exposed to foreign currency risk in respect of its operations, and to interest rate 
risk, credit risk and equity price risk on assets representing net shareholders’ equity, and to expense 
risk to the extent that actual expenses exceed those that can be charged to insurance contract 
holders on non-participating business. Expense assumptions applied in the Group’s actuarial valuation 
models assume a continuing level of business volumes.
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15.      Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances (Continued)
Discount rates

All cash flows are discounted using risk-free yield curves adjusted to reflect the characteristics of the 
cash flows and the liquidity of the insurance contracts. The Group generally determines the risk-free 
rates using either government bond yields or swap yield curve. The yield curve is interpolated 
between the last available market data point and an ultimate forward rate, which reflects long-term 
real interest rate and inflation expectations. Although the ultimate forward rate is subject to revision, 
it is expected to be stable and would change only on changes to long-term expectations. To reflect 
the liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts, the risk-free yield curves are adjusted by an 
illiquidity premium. Illiquidity premiums are generally determined by adjusting the return of a 
reference portfolio to eliminate any factors that are not relevant to the insurance contracts.

The tables below set out the spot rates used to discount the cash flows of insurance contracts for 
major currencies. 

As at 
30 June 2023 1 year 5 years 10 years 15 years 20 years

Spot rates Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium

USD  5.27 %  6.32 %  4.04 %  5.09 %  3.72 %  4.77 %  3.75 %  4.79 %  4.07 %  5.11 %

HKD  4.82 %  5.56 %  4.02 %  4.75 %  3.77 %  4.51 %  3.79 %  4.53 %  3.81 %  4.55 %

THB  2.09 %  3.14 %  2.33 %  3.37 %  2.59 %  3.64 %  2.88 %  3.92 %  3.20 %  4.25 %

JPY  (0.13) %  (0.02) %  0.07 %  0.18 %  0.43 %  0.54 %  0.77 %  0.88 %  1.06 %  1.16 %

CNY  1.86 %  2.43 %  2.44 %  3.00 %  2.67 %  3.24 %  2.89 %  3.45 %  3.17 %  3.73 %

As at 31 
December 2022 1 year 5 years 10 years 15 years 20 years

Spot rates Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium Risk free

With 
illiquidity 
premium

USD  4.64 %  5.67 %  3.94 %  4.97 %  3.81 %  4.84 %  3.91 %  4.94 %  4.18 %  5.21 %

HKD  4.88 %  5.73 %  3.96 %  4.81 %  3.78 %  4.63 %  3.82 %  4.67 %  3.84 %  4.70 %

THB  1.37 %  2.40 %  1.99 %  3.02 %  2.63 %  3.66 %  3.15 %  4.18 %  3.51 %  4.54 %

JPY 0.00%  0.23 %  0.25 %  0.49 %  0.45 %  0.69 %  1.03 %  1.27 %  1.34 %  1.58 %

CNY  2.09 %  2.92 %  2.66 %  3.49 %  2.88 %  3.71 %  3.07 %  3.90 %  3.32 %  4.15 %

Cash flows that vary based on the returns on any financial underlying items are adjusted for the effect 
of that variability using risk-neutral measurement techniques and discounted using the risk-free rates 
as adjusted for illiquidity.

When the present value of future cash flows is estimated by stochastic modelling, the cash flows are 
discounted at scenario-specific rates calibrated, on average, to be the risk-free rates as adjusted for 
illiquidity.
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16. Financial Investments
The following tables analyse the Group’s financial investments by type and nature. The Group 
manages its financial investments in two distinct categories: Unit-linked Investments and Policyholder 
and Shareholder Investments.

The investment risk in respect of Unit-linked Investments is generally wholly borne by the customers, 
and does not directly affect the profit for the period before tax. Furthermore, unit-linked contract 
holders are responsible for allocation of their policy values amongst investment options offered by the 
Group. Although profit for the period before tax is not affected by Unit-linked Investments, the 
investment return from such financial investments is included in the Group’s profit for the period 
before tax, as the Group has elected the fair value option for all Unit-linked Investments with 
corresponding changes in insurance and investment contract liabilities for unit-linked contracts. 
Policyholder and Shareholder Investments include all financial investments other than Unit-linked 
Investments. The investment risk in respect of Policyholder and Shareholder Investments is partially or 
wholly borne by the Group.

Policyholder and Shareholder Investments are further categorised as Participating Funds, other 
participating business with discretionary expected sharing with policyholders and underlying distinct 
investment portfolios (“Other Participating Business with distinct Portfolios”) and Other Policyholder 
and Shareholder investments. Other Participating Business with distinct Portfolios refers to business 
where it is expected that the policyholder will receive, at the discretion of the insurer, additional 
benefits based on the performance of underlying segregated investment assets where this asset 
segregation is supported by an explicit statutory reserve and reporting in the relevant territory.

The reason for separately analysing financial investments held by Participating Funds and Other 
Participating Business with distinct Portfolios is that Participating Funds are subject to local 
regulations that generally prescribe a minimum proportion of policyholder participation in declared 
dividends and for Other Participating Business with distinct Portfolios it is, as explained above, 
expected that the policyholder will receive, at the discretion of the insurer, additional benefits based 
on the performance of the underlying segregated investment assets where this asset segregation is 
supported by an explicit statutory reserve and reporting in the relevant territory. The Group’s 
accounting policy is to record an insurance liability for the proportion of net assets of the Participating 
Funds that would be allocated to policyholders assuming all performance would be declared as a 
dividend based upon local regulations as at the date of the statement of financial position. As a result, 
the Group’s net profit before tax for the period is impacted by the proportion of investment return 
that would be allocated to shareholders as described above. For Other Participating Business with 
distinct Portfolios, the Group either have discretion as to the timing or amount of additional benefits 
to the policyholders. The investment risk from Other Participating Business with distinct Portfolios 
directly impacts the Group’s financial statements, but it is expected that a proportion of investment 
return may be allocated to policyholders through policyholder dividends.
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16. Financial Investments (Continued)
Other Policyholder and Shareholder Investments are distinct from Unit-linked Investments, 
Participating Funds and Other Participating Business with distinct Portfolios as there is not any direct 
contractual or regulatory requirement governing the amount, if any, for allocation to policyholders or 
it is not expected that the policyholder will receive at the discretion of the insurer additional benefits 
based on the performance of the underlying segregated investment assets where this asset 
segregation is supported by an explicit statutory reserve and reporting in the relevant territory. The 
investment risk from investments in this category directly impacts the Group’s financial statements. 
Although a proportion of investment return may be allocated to policyholders through policyholder 
dividends, the Group’s accounting policy for insurance and certain investment contract liabilities 
utilises a net level premium methodology that includes best estimates as at the date of issue for non-
guaranteed participation. To the extent investment return from these investments either is not 
allocated to participating contracts or varies from the best estimates, it will impact the Group’s profit 
before tax.

In the following tables, “FVTPL” indicates financial investments classified at fair value through profit 
or loss and “FVOCI” indicates financial investments classified as fair value through other 
comprehensive income.

16.1 Debt securities

In compiling the tables below, external international issue ratings have been used in accordance with 
the Group’s credit risk assessment framework. Where external international issue ratings are not 
readily available, external local issue ratings are used by mapping to external international ratings 
based on an internal rating methodology. Where there is no external international or local issue rating, 
the external credit rating of the issuer is used and if not available, the debt security is classified as not-
rated.

Standard and Poor’s and Fitch Moody’s Internal ratings reported as

AAA Aaa AAA

AA+ to AA- Aa1 to Aa3 AA

A+ to A- A1 to A3 A

BBB+ to BBB- Baa1 to Baa3 BBB

BB+ to BB- Ba1 to Ba3 BB (Below investment grade)

B+ to B- B1 to B3 B (Below investment grade)

CCC and below Caa1 and below Not rated
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16. Financial Investments (Continued)

16.1. Debt securities (Continued)

Debt securities by type comprise the following:

Policyholder and shareholder investments

US$m

Participating funds and other 
participating business with distinct 

portfolios
Other policyholder and shareholder 

investments Total

FVTPL (Mandatory) FVOCI FVTPL (Mandatory) FVOCI

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

Government bonds
United States  —  655  —  308  963 

Japan  —  —  —  2,943  2,943 

Thailand  —  —  —  10,656  10,656 

Other  —  739  —  471  1,210 

Sub-total  —  1,394  —  14,378  15,772 

Government agency bonds1

AAA  —  11  —  2  13 

AA  —  526  —  214  740 

A  —  220  —  322  542 

BBB  —  46  —  501  547 

Below investment grade  —  11  —  32  43 

Not rated  —  —  —  —  — 

Sub-total  —  814  —  1,071  1,885 

Corporate bonds
AAA  —  146  —  26  172 

AA  —  423  —  305  728 

A  158  2,683  138  2,665  5,644 

BBB  142  1,967  240  3,044  5,393 

Below investment grade  10  25  19  1,029  1,083 

Not rated  24  12  43  29  108 

Sub-total  334  5,256  440  7,098  13,128 
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16. Financial Investments (Continued)

16.1. Debt securities (Continued)

Policyholder and shareholder investments

US$m

Participating funds and other 
participating business with distinct 

portfolios
Other policyholder and shareholder 

investments Total

FVTPL (Mandatory) FVOCI FVTPL (Mandatory) FVOCI

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

Structured securities2

AAA  7  119  —  19  145 

AA  1  117  1  382  501 

A  39  147  19  41  246 

BBB  41  124  1,116  49  1,330 

Below investment grade  3  —  18  —  21 

Not rated  —  —  —  —  — 

Sub-total  91  507  1,154  491  2,243 

Others
Certificate of deposits  —  27  —  11  38 

Others  —  —  6  —  6 

Sub-total  —  27  6  11  44 

Total3  425  7,998  1,600  23,049  33,072 

Notes:
1. Government agency bonds comprise bonds issued by government-sponsored institutions such as national, provincial and municipal authorities 

and government-related entities.
2. Structured securities include collateralised debt obligations, mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities.
3. As at 30 June 2023, debt securities of US$3,584m, US$469m, US$20m and US$6m are restricted due to local regulatory requirements in Thailand, 

Macau, Indonesia and the Philippines, respectively.
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16. Financial Investments (Continued)

16.1. Debt securities (Continued)

Policyholder and shareholder investments

US$m

Participating funds and other 
participating business with distinct 

portfolios
Other policyholder and shareholder 

investments Total

FVTPL (Mandatory) FVOCI FVTPL (Mandatory) FVOCI

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Government bonds
United States  —  734  —  301  1,035 

Japan  —  —  —  2,804  2,804 

Thailand  —  —  —  10,455  10,455 

Other  —  805  —  312  1,117 

Sub-total  —  1,539  —  13,872  15,411 

Government agency bonds1

AAA  —  2  —  2  4 

AA  —  267  —  193  460 

A  —  111  —  363  474 

BBB  —  35  —  574  609 

Below investment grade  —  —  —  —  — 

Not rated  —  14  —  12  26 

Sub-total  —  429  —  1,144  1,573 

Corporate bonds
AAA  —  123  —  25  148 

AA  —  431  —  304  735 

A  144  2,772  66  2,800  5,782 

BBB  134  2,045  235  3,051  5,465 

Below investment grade  9  25  19  1,132  1,185 

Not rated  90  48  45  121  304 

Sub-total  377  5,444  365  7,433  13,619 

16. Financial Investments (Continued)
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16.1. Debt securities (Continued)

Policyholder and shareholder investments

US$m

Participating funds and other 
participating business with distinct 

portfolios
Other policyholder and shareholder 

investments Total

FVTPL (Mandatory) FVOCI FVTPL (Mandatory) FVOCI

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Structured securities2

AAA  8  158  —  25  191 

AA  —  76  —  381  457 

A  45  99  35  34  213 

BBB  36  45  864  43  988 

Below investment grade  3  —  17  —  20 

Not rated  2  27  51  6  86 

Sub-total  94  405  967  489  1,955 

Others
Certificate of deposits  —  40  —  20  60 

Others  —  —  7  —  7 

Sub-total  —  40  7  20  67 

Total3  471  7,857  1,339  22,958  32,625 

Notes:
1. Government agency bonds comprise bonds issued by government-sponsored institutions such as national, provincial and municipal authorities 

and government-related entities.
2. Structured securities include collateralised debt obligations, mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities.
3. As at 31 December 2022, debt securities of US$3,529m, US$431m, US$22m and US$5m are restricted due to local regulatory requirements in 

Thailand, Macau, Indonesia and the Philippines, respectively.

As at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, debt securities of US$391m and US$419m, are subject to 
repurchase and forward agreements, whereby securities are sold to third parties with a concurrent 
agreement to repurchase the securities at a specified date. The securities related to the repurchase 
and forward agreements are not derecognised from the consolidated statement of financial position, 
but are retained within the appropriate financial asset classification. During the term of the 
repurchase and forward agreements, the counterparty is restricted from selling or pledging the 
transferred debt securities. Refer to Note 23 for additional information on the associated liabilities.
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16. Financial Investments (Continued)

16.2 Equity securities

Equity securities at fair value through profit and loss comprise the following:

Policyholder and shareholder

US$m

Participating funds 
and other 

participating 
business with 

distinct portfolios
Other policyholder 

and shareholder Sub-total Unit-linked Total

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)
Equity securities  74  665  739  —  739 

31 December 2022 
(Restated) (Unaudited)
Equity securities  56  325  381  —  381 

16.3 Interests in investment funds

Interests  in investment funds at fair value through profit and loss comprise the following:

Policyholder and shareholder

US$m

Participating funds 
and other 

participating 
business with 

distinct portfolios
Other policyholder 

and shareholder Sub-total Unit-linked Total

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)
Interests in investment funds  3,842  1,568  5,410  2,609  8,019 

31 December 2022 
(Restated) (Unaudited)
Interests in investment funds  3,560  1,608  5,168  2,408  7,576 

16.4 Loans and deposits

US$m
As at 

30 June 2023

As at 
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Accreting deposits and promissory notes  569  587 

Term deposits  535  930 

Other financial receivables  14  16 

Provision for impairment  (2)  (3) 

At end of year  1,116  1,530 

Accreting deposits and promissory notes are stated at amortised cost. As at 30 June 2023 and 31 
December 2022, the accreting deposits and promissory notes bear interest rates ranging from 3.8% to 
4.5% per annum and 2.3% to 5.2% per annum. respectively, and are repayable upon maturity.

Certain term deposits of US$36m and US$36m as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, 
respectively, are restricted due to local regulatory requirements.
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17. Derivative Financial Instruments
The following summarised the Group’s derivative exposure:

US$m

Fair value

Notional amount Assets Liabilities

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

Not underlying items
Foreign exchange contracts

Forwards  8,173  61  (377) 

Cross-currency swaps  581  25  (17) 

Total foreign exchange contracts  8,754  86  (394) 

Interest rate swaps  508  3  — 

Others
Warrants and options  364  54  — 

Bond forward contracts  128  5  — 

Total  9,754  148  (394) 

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Not underlying items
Foreign exchange contracts

Forwards  7,589  122  (119) 

Cross-currency swaps  1,476  86  (13) 

Total foreign exchange contracts  9,065  208  (132) 

Interest rate swaps  508  —  (2) 

Others
Warrants and options  9  52  — 

Bond forward contracts  657  59  — 

Total  10,239  319  (134) 
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17. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)
The Group’s derivatives are over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives. OTC derivative contracts are 
individually negotiated between contracting parties and not cleared through an exchange. OTC 
derivatives include forwards, swaps and options. Derivatives are subject to various risks including 
market, liquidity and credit risks, similar to those related to the underlying financial instruments.

Derivatives assets and derivative liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities, 
respectively. The Group’s derivative contracts are established to economic hedge financial exposures. 
The Group adopts hedge accounting in limited circumstances. The notional or contractual amounts 
associated with derivative financial instruments are not recorded as assets or liabilities in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as they do not represent the fair value of these 
transactions. The notional amounts in the previous table reflect the aggregate of individual derivative 
positions on a gross basis and so give an indication of the overall scale of derivative transactions.

Foreign exchange contracts

Foreign exchange forward and futures contracts represent agreements to exchange the currency of 
one country for the currency of another country at an agreed price and settlement date. Currency 
options are agreements that give the buyer the right to exchange the currency of one country for the 
currency of another country at agreed prices and settlement dates. Currency swaps are contractual 
agreements that involve the exchange of both periodic and final amounts in two different currencies. 
Exposure to gains and losses on the foreign exchange contracts will increase or decrease over their 
respective lives as a function of maturity dates, interest and foreign exchange rates, implied volatility 
of the underlying indices and the timing of payments.

Interest rate swaps

Interest rate contracts are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange periodic 
payments in the same currency, each of which is computed on a different interest rate basis, on a 
specified notional amount. Most interest rate contracts involve the net exchange of payments 
calculated as the difference between the fixed and floating rate interest payments.

Other derivatives

Forward contracts are contractual obligations to buy or sell a financial instrument on a predetermined 
future date at a specified price. Credit default swaps represent agreements under which the Group 
has purchased default protection on certain underlying corporate bonds held in its portfolio. These 
credit default swaps allow the Group to sell the protected bonds at par value to the counterparty if a 
default event occurs in exchange for periodic payments made by the Group for the life of the 
agreement.

Collateral under derivative transactions

As at 30 June 2023, the Group held cash collateral of US$51m and debt securities collateral with a 
carrying value of US$418m for assets, and posted cash collateral of US$61m and pledged debt 
securities with a carrying value of US$9m for liabilities. As at 31 December 2022, the Group held cash 
collateral of US$132m and debt securities collateral with a carrying value of US$118m for assets, and 
posted cash collateral of US$1m and debt securities with a carrying value of US$154m for liabilities. 
The Group did not sell or repledge the collateral received. These transactions are conducted under 
terms that are usual and customary to collateralised transactions. Further information relating to cash 
collateral is included in Notes 19 and 23.
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17. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

During the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Group designated interest rate swaps as 
cash flow hedges of variable rate interest payments arising from bank borrowings. The terms of the 
interest rate swaps have been negotiated to match the terms of the variable rate interest payments. 
As a result, these hedging relationships are considered highly effective at inception, 30 June 2023 and 
31 December 2022. The changes in counterparty credit risk had no material effect on the hedge 
effectiveness assessment. The fair value of the interest rate swaps designated as hedging instruments 
was US$3m and US$(2)m as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, respectively. 

The Group has designated certain foreign exchange derivative assets with fair values of US$1m and 
US$4m and certain foreign exchange derivative liabilities with fair values of US$9m and US$5m as at 
30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, respectively, in cash flow hedges of foreign exchange risk. The 
Group has also designated certain bond forward derivatives with insignificant fair values as at 30 June 
2023 and 31 December 2022 in cash flow hedges of bond price risk. These hedging relationships were 
considered highly effective as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022. 

18. Fair Value Measurement

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value is the amount that would be received on sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position are 
measured and classified in a hierarchy for disclosure purposes consisting of three “levels” based on 
the observability of inputs available in the marketplace used to measure their fair values (“Fair Value 
Hierarchy”) as discussed below:

• Level 1: Fair value measurements that are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the Group has the ability to access as of the measurement date. Market 
price data is generally obtained from exchange or dealer markets. The Group does not adjust the 
quoted price for such instruments. Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis and classified 
as Level 1 are actively traded equities and debt securities.

• Level 2: Fair value measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). 
Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted 
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and inputs other than 
quoted prices that are observable for the asset and liability, such as interest rates and yield curves 
that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis and classified as Level 2 generally include debt securities, equity securities, and 
derivative contracts.

• Level 3: Fair value measurements based on valuation techniques that use significant inputs that are 
unobservable. Unobservable inputs are only used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant 
observable inputs are not available, allowing for circumstances in which there is little, if any, 
market activity for the asset or liability. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis and classified as Level 3 mainly include investment properties and private equity fund 
investments.
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18. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement 
in its entirety falls is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety. The Group’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the 
fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement. In making the assessment, the Group 
considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

18.1 Fair value measurements on a recurring basis

The Group measures investment properties, financial instruments classified at fair value through profit 
or loss, financial instruments classified at fair value through OCI, derivative assets and liabilities, and 
investment contract liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis. The following methods and 
assumptions were used by the Group to estimate the fair value.

Debt securities, equity securities and interests in investment funds

Fair values for fixed interest securities are based on quoted market prices, where available. For those 
securities not actively traded, fair values are estimated using values obtained from brokers, private 
pricing services or by discounting expected future cash flows using a current market rate applicable 
to the yield, credit quality and maturity of the investment. Priority is given to values from independent 
sources when available, but overall the source of pricing and/or valuation technique is chosen with 
the objective of arriving at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between market 
participants on the measurement date. The inputs to determining fair value that are relevant to fixed 
interest securities include, but not limited to risk-free interest rates, the obligor’s credit spreads, 
foreign exchange rates and credit default rates.

The fair values of listed equity securities are based on quoted market prices. The transaction price is 
used as the best estimate of fair value at inception. The fair values of unlisted private equity funds are 
based on the reported net assets value (“NAV”) in their audited financial statements, considering 
various factors including the accounting policies adopted by the investees, the restrictions and 
barriers preventing the Group from disposing the investments, the Group’s ownership percentage 
over the investee and other relevant factors.
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18. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

18.1 Fair value measurements on a recurring basis (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

The Group values its derivative financial assets and liabilities using market transactions and other 
market evidence whenever possible, including market-based inputs to models, model calibration to 
market clearing transactions, broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with 
reasonable levels of price transparency. When models are used, the selection of a particular model to 
value a derivative depends on the contract terms of, and specific risks inherent in, the instrument as 
well as the availability of pricing information in the market. The Group generally uses similar models 
to value similar instruments. Valuation models require a variety of inputs, including contractual terms, 
market prices and rates, yield curves, credit curves, measures of volatility, prepayment rates and 
correlations of such inputs. For derivatives that trade in liquid markets, such as generic forwards, 
swaps and options, model inputs can generally be verified and model selection does not involve 
significant management judgement. Examples of inputs that are generally observable include foreign 
exchange spot and forward rates, benchmark interest rate curves and volatilities for commonly traded 
option products. Examples of inputs that may be unobservable include volatilities for less commonly 
traded option products and correlations between market factors.

Investment contract liabilities without DPF

Investment contracts can be surrendered by the holder at any time. Accordingly, their fair value is not 
less than the amount payable on demand. The fair values are based on the fair value of the underlying 
items less any surrender charges.
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18. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

18.1 Fair value measurements on a recurring basis (Continued)

A summary of assets and liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring basis according to fair value 
hierarchy is given below:

US$m

Fair value hierarchy

TotalLevel 1 Level 2 Level 3

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)
Recurring fair value measurements 
Financial assets

At fair value through OCI

Debt securities  1,193  29,789  65  31,047 

Government bonds  1,147  14,625  —  15,772 

Government agency bonds  38  1,847  —  1,885 

Corporate bonds  8  12,281  65  12,354 

Structured securities  —  998  —  998 

Others  —  38  —  38 

At fair value through profit or loss

Debt securities  —  916  1,109  2,025 

Corporate bonds  —  774  —  774 

Structured securities  —  142  1,103  1,245 

Others  —  —  6  6 

Equity securities  640  —  99  739 

Interests in investment funds  2,332  2,459  3,228  8,019 

Derivative financial instruments  —  95  53  148 

Total assets on a recurring fair value measurement basis  4,165  33,259  4,554  41,978 

% of Total  10 %  79 %  11 %  100 %

Financial liabilities
Investment contract liabilities without DPF  —  —  78  78 

Derivative financial instruments  —  394  —  394 
Total liabilities on a recurring fair value measurement
basis  —  394  78  472 

% of Total  — %  83 %  17 %  100 %
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18. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

18.1 Fair value measurements on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

US$m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)
Recurring fair value measurements 
Financial assets

At fair value through OCI

Debt securities  1,895  28,856  64  30,815 

Government bonds  1,219  14,192  —  15,411 

Government agency bonds  37  1,536  —  1,573 

Corporate bonds  639  12,174  64  12,877 

Structured securities  —  894  —  894 

Others  —  60  —  60 

At fair value through profit or loss

Debt securities  —  902  908  1,810 

Corporate bonds  —  742  —  742 

Structured securities  —  159  902  1,061 

Others  —  1  6  7 

Equity securities  302  —  79  381 

Interests in investment funds  2,314  2,195  3,067  7,576 

Derivative financial instruments  —  268  51  319 

Total assets on a recurring fair value measurement basis  4,511  32,221  4,169  40,901 

% of Total  11 %  79 %  10 %  100 %

Financial liabilities
Investment contract liabilities without DPF  —  —  112  112 

Derivative financial instruments  —  134  —  134 

Total liabilities on a recurring fair value measurement basis  —  134  112  246 

% of Total  — %  54 %  46 %  100 %
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18. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

18.1 Fair value measurements on a recurring basis (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers of assets and liabilities between Level 1 and Level 2 at 
their fair values as at the end of each reporting period, consistent with the date of the determination 
of fair value. Assets are transferred out of Level 1 when they are no longer transacted with sufficient 
frequency and volume in an active market. During the six months ended 30 June 2023 and year ended 
31 December 2022, there were no movements of financial assets between Level 1 and Level 2.

The Group’s Level 2 financial instruments include debt securities, equity securities, and derivative 
instruments. The fair values of Level 2 financial instruments are estimated using values obtained from 
private pricing services and brokers corroborated with internal review as necessary. When the quotes 
from third-party pricing services and brokers are not available, internal valuation techniques and 
inputs will be used to derive the fair value for the financial instruments.

The tables below set out a summary of changes in the Group’s Level 3 assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and year ended 31 December 
2022. The tables reflect gains and losses, including gains and losses on assets and liabilities 
categorised as Level 3 as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Level 3 assets and liabilities

US$m Debt securities Equity securities
Interests in 

investment funds

Derivative 
financial assets/

(liabilities)

Investment 
contract 

liabilities without 
DPF

As at 1 January 2023 (Restated)  972  79  3,067  51  (112) 

Net movement on investment contract liabilities  —  —  —  —  34 

Total gains/(losses)
Reported under investment return in the 
consolidated income statement  50  19  (27)  2  — 
Reported under fair value reserve and foreign 
currency translation reserve in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income  (54)  —  (51)  —  — 

Purchases  206  2  265  —  — 

Sales  —  (1)  (17)  —  — 

Settlements  —  —  (9)  —  — 

As at 30 June 2023 (Unaudited)  1,174  99  3,228  53  (78) 
Change in unrealised gains/(losses) included in the 

consolidated income statement for assets and 
liabilities held at the end of the reporting period, 
under investment return and general and other 
expenses  50  17  (28)  2  — 
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18. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

18.1 Fair value measurements on a recurring basis (Continued)

Level 3 assets and liabilities (Continued)

US$m Debt securities Equity securities
Interests in 

investment funds

Derivative 
financial 

assets

Investment 
contract 

liabilities without 
DPF

As at 1 January 2022 (Restated)  63  133  2,959  37  (151) 

Net movement on investment contract liabilities  —  —  —  —  39 

Total gains/(losses)
Reported under investment return in the 
consolidated income statement  (27)  (54)  (322)  14  — 
Reported under fair value reserve and foreign 
currency translation reserve in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income  4  —  (53)  —  — 

Purchases  932  —  984  —  — 

Sales  —  —  (470)  —  — 

Settlement  —  —  (31)  —  — 

As at 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)  972  79  3,067  51  (112) 
Change in unrealised gains/(losses) included in the 

consolidated income statement for assets and 
liabilities held at the end of the reporting period, 
under investment return and general and other 
expenses  (27)  (54)  (254)  14  — 

Movements in investment contract liabilities at fair value are offset by movements in the underlying 
portfolio of matching assets. Details of the movement in investment contract liabilities are provided in 
Note 21.

Level 3 interests in investment funds and debt securities

As at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, interests in investment funds classified as level 3 mainly 
include unlisted investment funds, debt securities classified as level 3 mainly include unlisted asset-
backed securities. The Group determines the fair values of these investment funds based on the 
reported NAV in their audited financial statements and may make adjustments where appropriate 
taking into consideration various factors including accounting policies adopted by the fund, the 
restrictions and barriers preventing the Group from disposing of its interests in such fund and the 
Group's ownership percentage in such fund. For those funds where December year end audited 
financial statements are not available, the Group performs a roll forward analysis on the latest NAV of 
the fund based on fund managers' statements available and capital movements up to the December 
year end, and engages an external specialist to subsequently review the roll forward analysis. This 
valuation methodology is in accordance with guidelines of the International Valuation Standards 
Council. The Group considers that the change in the input to the valuation technique would not have 
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. No quantitative analysis has been 
presented.
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18. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

18.1 Fair value measurements on a recurring basis (Continued)

Level 3 investment contract liabilities without DPF

Investment contract liabilities categorised in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are measured with 
reference to the value of the underlying items which are mainly unlisted investment funds. 

18.2 Fair value measurements for disclosure purpose

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities for disclosure purpose are determined using the same Fair 
Value Hierarchy.

Loans and deposits

For loans and deposits that are repriced frequently and have not had any significant changes in credit 
risk, carrying amounts represent a reasonable estimate of fair values. The fair values of borrowings 
with stated maturities have been estimated based on discounting future cash flows using the interest 
rates currently applicable to deposits of similar maturities or prices obtained from brokers. The 
carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets and other financial liabilities are 
not materially different to their fair values.

Other assets

The carrying amount of other financial assets is not materially different to their fair value. 

Cash and cash equivalents

The carrying amount of cash approximates its fair value.

Borrowings

The fair values of borrowings with stated maturities have been estimated based on discounting future 
cash flows using the interest rates currently applicable to deposits of similar maturities or prices 
obtained from brokers.

Other liabilities

The fair values of other unquoted financial liabilities is estimated by discounting expected future cash 
flows using current market rates applicable to their yield, credit quality and maturity, except for those 
without stated maturity, where the carrying value approximates to fair value.  
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18. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

18.2 Fair value measurements for disclosure purpose (Continued)

A summary of fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities not carried at fair value but for which the fair 
value is disclosed as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022 is given below.

US$m

Fair value hierarchy

TotalLevel 1 Level 2 Level 3

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

Assets for which the fair value is disclosed 
Financial assets
Accreting deposits  —  536  —  536 

Total assets for which the fair value is disclosed  —  536  —  536 
Liabilities for which the fair value is disclosed 
Financial liabilities
Medium term / subordinated notes / guaranteed notes  1,205  —  —  1,205 

Total liabilities for which the fair value is disclosed  1,205  —  —  1,205 

US$m

Fair value hierarchy

TotalLevel 1 Level 2 Level 3

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Assets for which the fair value is disclosed
Financial assets
Accreting deposits  —  527  —  527 

Total assets for which the fair value is disclosed  —  527  —  527 
Liabilities for which the fair value is disclosed 
Financial liabilities
Medium term/subordinated notes  1,169  —  —  1,169 

Total liabilities for which the fair value is disclosed  1,169  —  —  1,169 
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19. Other Assets

US$m
As at 

30 June 2023

As at 
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Accounts receivable1  312  186 

Accrued investment income  255  246 

Restricted cash  15  14 

Deposits  25  25 

Prepayments  109  103 

Total  716  574 

Note:
1. Accounts receivable as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022 also includes US$61m and US$1m, respectively, relating to the cash collateral 

posted for derivative liabilities.

As at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, bank deposits of US$13m and US$12m were mainly from 
restrictions for use in accordance with the covenant requirements of bank borrowings. Refer to Note 
22 for details of the bank borrowings. As at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, US$2m was 
restricted for the acquisition for investment in associate. 

20. Cash And Cash Equivalents

US$m
As at

30 June 2023
As at

31 December 2022

(Unaudited)

Cash  1,370  1,337 

Cash equivalents  359  137 

Total  1,729  1,474 

Cash comprises cash at bank and cash in hand. Cash equivalents comprise bank deposits with 
maturities at acquisition of three months or less.

21. Investment Contract Liabilities

US$m
As at 

30 June 2023

As at 
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

At beginning of year  (197)  (272) 

Benefits paid  31  26 

Investment return from underlying assets  —  13 

Others  17  36 

At end of year  (149)  (197) 
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22. Borrowings

US$m
As at

30 June 2023
As at

31 December 2022

(Unaudited)

Bank borrowings  991  992 

Medium term notes  324  324 

Subordinated notes  900  900 

Total  2,215  2,216 

Interest expense on borrowings is shown in Note 10. Further information relating to interest rates and 
the maturity profile of borrowings is presented in Note 26.

Outstanding bank borrowings and notes placed to the market as at 30 June 2023:

Issue date Nominal amount Interest rate Tenor

Bank borrowings

30 December 2021  US$1,000m LIBOR + 1.275% 4 years

Medium term notes

24 September 2014  US$325m 5.00% 10 years

Subordinated notes

9 July 2019  US$550m 5.75% 5 years

23 July 2019  US$250m 5.75% 5 years

30 July 2019  US$100m 5.75% 5 years

These medium-term notes and subordinated notes are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited. The net proceeds from the issuance of the medium-term notes and subordinated notes and 
the bank credit facilities are used for acquisitions, general corporate purposes and funding 
requirements of the Group.

As at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group has access to a US$500m undrawn committed 
revolving credit facility. The credit facility is unsecured and expiring in 2025. The credit facilities will 
be used for general corporate purposes. The Group has drawn down US$50m of the committed 
revolving credit facility on 9 September 2022, and subsequently settled on 14 November 2022.

23. Other Liabilities

US$m
As at 

30 June 2023

As at 
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Trade and other payables1  636  853 

Distribution agreement payable  82  41 

Lease liabilities  101  113 

Obligations under repurchase and forward arrangements  376  396 

Total  1,195  1,403 

Note:
1.  Other payables as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022 also include US$51m and US$132m , respectively,  relating to the cash collateral held for 

derivative assets.

Distribution agreement payable represents the deferred payments to be paid in accordance with the 
terms set out in SCB Distribution Agreement and Vietcombank Distribution Agreement. 

During the six months ended 30 June 2023 and year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has entered 
into repurchase and forward agreements whereby certain debt securities are sold to third parties with 
a concurrent agreement to repurchase the securities at a specified date. Refer to Note 16.1 for details.
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24.    Share Capital, Share Premium And Reserves

24.1 Share capital and share premium

Number of
ordinary shares

Share capital 
nominal value 

US$m
Share premium

US$m

Total share capital and 
share premium

US$m

Authorised:
Ordinary share of US$1 each as at 
31 December 2022 and 30 June 2023 2,500,000,000  25  —  25 

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each as at 1 
January 2022 876,157,963  8  6,011  6,019 

Issue of ordinary shares 63,795,852  1  391  392 
Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each as at 31 
December 2022 and 30 June 2023 939,953,815  9  6,402  6,411 

In January 2022, the Company issued 31,897,926 ordinary shares with par value of US$0.01 each to 
investors at a gross consideration of US$200m and net of transaction costs of US$8m. 

On 19 December 2022, the Company issued 31,897,926 ordinary shares with par value of US$0.01 
each to PCGI Holdings Limited at a consideration of US$200m. 

24.2 Reserves
(a) Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial 
investments measured at FVOCI held at the end of the reporting period. 

(b) Insurance finance reserve

The insurance finance reserve comprises the cumulative insurance finance income and 
expenses recognised in other comprehensive income.

(c) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency exchange differences 
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

(d) Cash flow hedge reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve represents the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
from the inception of the cash flow hedge.

(e) Other reserves

Other reserves mainly include capital redemption reserve and share-based compensation 
reserve.
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24.    Share Capital, Share Premium And Reserves (Continued)

24.3 Perpetual securities

FL and FGL issued the following perpetual securities:

Issue date Nominal amount Distribution rate Tenor

24 January 2017 1 US$250m 6.250% Perpetual

15 June 2017 US$500m Note 2 Perpetual

6 July 2017 US$250m Note 2 Perpetual

1 February 2018 US$200m Note 3 Perpetual

13 September 2019 US$600m 6.375% Perpetual

Notes: 
1. On 24 January 2022, the Group redeemed the US$250m 6.25% perpetual securities. The redemption price is composed of the outstanding 

principal amount together with distributions accrued to such date. The difference between the carrying amount of the redeemed perpetual 
securities and the cash paid upon redemption of US$2m was recognised in accumulated losses on the date of redemption.

2. 0% for first 5 years, and reset to 8.045% on 15 June 2022.
3. 5.5% for first 5 years, and reset to 6.675% on 1 February 2023.

Carrying amount of the perpetual securities:

US$m
As at 
30 June 2023

As at 
31 December 2022

(Unaudited)

15 June 2017  362  362 

6 July 2017  179  179 

1 February 2018  203  203 

13 September 2019  610  610 

 1,354  1,354 

FL and FGL may, at its sole option, defer the distributions by giving notice to the holders. In the event 
of any distribution deferral, FL and FGL cannot declare or pay any dividend on its ordinary or 
preference share capital, except if payments are declared, paid or made in respect of an employee 
benefit plan or similar arrangement with or for the benefit of employees, officers, directors, or 
consultants. The perpetual securities have been treated as equity in the Group's consolidated 
statement of financial position. FL and FGL use the proceeds from the issuance for general corporate 
purposes, potential transactions and/or repayment of the Group's own indebtedness.

During the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2022, 
the Group paid distributions of US$55m and US$33m and US$87m, respectively. 
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24.    Share Capital, Share Premium And Reserves (Continued)

24.4 Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests represent ordinary shares, preference shares and convertible preference 
shares which are not attributable to the Company. 

Equity of the Group attributable to non-controlling interests are presented as below:

US$m
As at

30 June 2023

As at
31 December 2022

(Restated)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Ordinary shares, preference shares and convertible preference shares of 
FL and FGL  1,738  1,717 

Ordinary shares of the subsidiaries of FL and FGL  79  1 

 1,817  1,718 

The key terms of the preference shares and convertible preference shares are summarised below.

(a) Preference shares

Preference shares issued by FL and FGL do not have fixed maturity, participate in 
discretionary dividends and are redeemable within the control of the Group. The holders of 
preference shares are entitled to the same voting rights as each ordinary share in FL and FGL.  

The preference shares rank pari passu with all other shares on any payment of dividend or 
distribution or return of capital (other than on a liquidation event). On a liquidation event, the 
assets of FL and FGL available for distribution amongst the shareholders shall be applied to 
pay the preference shareholders pari passu with the holders of the convertible preference 
shares (in priority to any payment to the holders of any other class of shares in the capital of 
FL and FGL).

(b) Convertible preference shares

Convertible preference shares issued by FL and FGL do not have fixed maturity, participate in 
discretionary dividends and are redeemable within the control of the Group. The holders of 
convertible preference shares are not entitled to attend or vote at general meetings of FL and 
FGL.

The convertible preference shares rank pari passu with all other shares, with the exception 
that (i) on any payment of a dividend or distribution or return of capital (other than on a 
liquidation event), certain holders of the convertible preference shares shall have the benefit 
of an increased entitlement to such dividend or distribution and (ii) on a liquidation event, the 
assets of FL and FGL available for distribution amongst the shareholders shall be applied to 
pay the convertible preference shareholders pari passu with the holders of the preference 
shares (in priority to any payment to the holders of any other class of shares in the capital of 
FL and FGL). 

The convertible preference shares do not contain any contractual obligations to deliver cash, 
other financial assets, or a variable number of the Group’s own equity instruments which 
cannot be unconditionally avoided by the Group. Accordingly, the convertible preference 
shares are classified as equity and presented as non-controlling interests in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.
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24.   Share Capital, Share Premium And Reserves (Continued)

24.5 Transactions with non-controlling interests

During the six months ended 30 June 2023: 

i. On 6 January 2023, 13 February 2023, 9 March 2023, 28 March 2023, 12 April 2023, 14 April 
2023 and 11 May 2023, the Company made capital contributions of US$80m, US$33m, 
US$101m, US$15m, US$45m, US$13m and US$36m to FGL, respectively. No shares were 
issued by FGL as a result of these transactions.

ii. On 23 February 2023, 9 March 2023 and 10 May 2023, the Company made capital 
contributions of US$55m, US$13m and US$14m to FL, respectively. No shares were issued by 
FL as a result of these transactions.

iii. On 27 March 2023, FMH Capricorn Holdings Sdn Bhd (“FMH Capricorn”), a subsidiary of the 
Group, issued ordinary shares to the Group and other holders for a cash consideration of 
US$4m and US$16m, respectively. As a result, the Group’s ownership interest in FMH 
Capricorn decreased from 100% to 20% without change in control.

iv. On 31 May 2023, the Group prepaid US$15m for repurchasing an aggregate of 283,410 
ordinary shares of FL and FGL held by non-controlling interests. The transaction was 
completed on 31 July 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022:

i. On 3 January 2022, 31 October 2022 and 25 November 2022, the Company made capital 
contributions of US$250m, US$10m and US$8m to FL, respectively. No shares were issued 
by FL as a result of these transactions.

ii. On 14 March 2022, 12 April 2022, 17 May 2022, 4 July 2022, 11 November 2022 and 1 
December 2022, the Company made capital contributions of US$20m, US$40m, US$40m, 
US$60m, US$80m and US$40m to FGL, respectively. No shares were issued by FGL as a 
result of these transactions.
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25.     Group Capital Structure

Capital Management Approach

The Group’s capital management objectives focus on maintaining a strong capital base to support the 
development of the business, maximising shareholders' value and satisfying regulatory capital 
requirements at all times. 

The Group's capital management activity considers all capital-related activities of the Group and 
assists senior management in making capital decisions. The capital management activity includes 
participation in decisions concerning asset-liability management, strategic asset allocation and 
ongoing solvency management. This includes ensuring capital considerations are paramount in the 
strategy and business planning processes. 

Group-wide Supervision Framework

The group supervisor of the Group is the Hong Kong Insurance Authority ("HKIA"). The Group is in 
compliance with the group capital adequacy requirements as applied to it. 

In 2021, the HKIA implemented the new Group-wide Supervision ("GWS") framework, under which the 
HKIA has direct regulatory powers over Hong Kong incorporated holding companies of insurance 
groups that are designated. The Group has been subject to the GWS framework since 14 May 2021, 
when FWD Management Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, was determined to be our 
designated insurance holding company (“DIHC”). 

Under the GWS framework, the group capital adequacy requirements are determined in accordance 
with the Insurance (Group Capital) Rules (“Group Capital Rules”), as applied to the Group under 
transitional arrangements that have been agreed with the HKIA. 

Local Regulatory Solvency

The Group's individual subsidiaries are also subject to the supervision of government regulators in the 
jurisdictions in which the subsidiaries and their parent entity operate and, in relation to subsidiaries, in 
which they are incorporated. The various regulators monitor our local solvency positions. The Group 
has been in compliance with the solvency and capital adequacy requirements applied by its regulators 
at all times. 
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25.     Group Capital Structure (Continued)

Local Regulatory Solvency (Continued)

The primary insurance regulators for the Group’s key operating companies are:

Subsidiary Primary insurance regulator Solvency regulation

FWD Life Insurance Company 
(Bermuda) Limited

Insurance Authority (“HKIA”) Hong Kong Insurance Ordinance 
(“HKIO”)

FWD Life Insurance Public 
Company Limited

Thailand Office of Insurance 
Commission (“THOIC”)

Life Insurance Act of Thailand

FWD Life Insurance Company, 
Limited

Financial Services Agency (“FSA”) Insurance Business Act

The HKIA (among other matters) sets minimum solvency margin requirements that an insurer must 
meet in order to be authorised to carry on insurance business in or from Hong Kong. On 30 June 
2022, the HKIA approved the early adoption of the Hong Kong risk based capital regime ("HKRBC") 
for FWD Life Insurance Company (Bermuda) Limited, under which an excess of assets over liabilities 
of not less than 50 per cent of the required minimum solvency margin should be maintained. Prior to 
the HKRBC adoption, the excess of assets over liabilities should not be less than 100% of the required 
minimum solvency margin under the Insurance Ordinance, Chapter 41F of the Laws of Hong Kong.

The Life Insurance Act of Thailand (among other matters) sets minimum solvency margin 
requirements that an insurer must meet in order to be authorised to carry on insurance business in or 
from Thailand.  The Life Insurance Act of Thailand requires FWD Life Insurance Public Company 
Limited to maintain a required minimum solvency margin of 100%. 

The Enforcement Ordinance of the Insurance Business Act and Comprehensive Guidelines for 
Supervision of Insurance Companies sets minimum solvency margin requirements that an insurer 
must meet in order to be authorised to carry on insurance business in or from Japan.  The 
Comprehensive Guidelines for Supervision of Insurance Companies Section II-2-2-2 requires FWD Life 
Insurance Company, Limited to maintain a required minimum solvency margin ratio of 200%.
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25.    Group Capital Structure (Continued)

Local Regulatory Solvency (Continued)

Subsidiary dividend restrictions and restricted net assets

The Company’s ability to distribute dividends is primarily dependent on the Company receiving 
distributions of funds from its subsidiaries. These distributions may be subject to restrictions, 
specifically related to the need by local insurance regulators for certain subsidiaries to maintain 
specific capital or solvency levels, and the need to meet other specific local regulations such as those 
relating to legal capital levels or foreign exchange restrictions.

Payments of dividends to the Company by its insurance subsidiaries are subject to certain restrictions 
imposed by the relevant regulatory authorities. With respect to the insurance subsidiaries, the 
payment of any dividend may require formal approval from the relevant insurance regulator in the 
particular jurisdiction that the subsidiary is domiciled. 

Capital and Regulatory Orders Specific to the Group

At 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, the requirements and restrictions summarised below may be 
considered material to the Group and remain in effect unless otherwise stated.

Hong Kong Insurance Authority

Undertakings have been given to the HKIA that:

i. FWD Life Insurance Company (Bermuda) Limited will maintain and continue to maintain a 
solvency ratio target of 150% to 200% at all times and if the solvency ratio falls below the 
minimum target range, FWD Life Insurance Company (Bermuda) Limited will reinstate it 
within 90 days or a period of time as agreed with the HKIA; and

ii. Prior written consent from the HKIA will be obtained before declaring or paying dividends to 
shareholders.
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26.    Risk Management

Risk management framework

The Group’s Risk Management Framework has been established for the identification, evaluation and 
management of the key risks faced by the organisation within its stated Risk Appetite. The framework 
includes an established risk governance structure with clear oversight and assignment of 
responsibility for monitoring and management of financial and non-financial risks.

The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risks, financial risks or both.  The insurance risks 
and financial risks associated with the Group's operations and the Group’s management of these risks 
are summarised below:

Insurance risks

Life insurance contracts

Insurance risks comprise product design risk, underwriting and expense overrun risk, lapse risk and 
claims risk.

(a) Product design risk

Product design risk refers to potential defects in the development of a particular insurance 
product.  The Group manages product design risk through its product approval process where 
products are reviewed against pricing, design and operational risk parameters. New products 
and product enhancements are reviewed and approved by the Group Chief Actuary. 

The Group closely monitors the performance of new products and actively manages the 
product portfolio to minimise risks in the in-force book and new products.  A portion of the 
Group’s life insurance business is participating in nature.  In the event of a volatile investment 
environment and/or unusual claims experience, the Group has the option of adjusting non-
guaranteed bonuses and dividends payable to policyholders.   

(b) Underwriting and expense overrun risk

Underwriting and expense overrun risk refers to the possibility of product-related income 
being inadequate to support future obligations arising from an insurance product.  The Group 
manages underwriting risk by adhering to underwriting guidelines. Each operating unit 
maintains a team of professional underwriters who review and select risks that are consistent 
with the underwriting strategy of the Group. In certain circumstances where insufficient 
experience data is available, the Group makes use of reinsurers to obtain underwriting 
expertise. In pricing insurance products, the Group manages expense overrun risk by allowing 
for an appropriate level of expenses that reflects a realistic medium-to long-term view of the 
underlying cost structure.  A disciplined expense budgeting and management process is 
followed to control expenses.

(c) Lapse risk

Lapse risk refers to the possibility that lapse experience diverges from that assumed when 
products were priced. It includes potential financial loss due to early termination of contracts 
where the acquisition costs incurred may not be recoverable from future revenue.  The Group 
carries out regular reviews of persistency experience.  In addition, many of the Group’s 
products include surrender charges that entitle the Group to additional fees on early 
termination by the policyholder, thereby reducing exposure to lapse risk.
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Insurance risks (Continued)

Life insurance contracts (Continued)

(d) Claims risk

Claims risk refers to the possibility that the frequency or severity of claims arising from 
insurance contracts exceeds the level assumed when the products were priced.  The Group 
seeks to mitigate claims risk by conducting regular experience studies, including reviews of 
mortality and morbidity experience, reviewing internal and external data, and considering the 
impact of these on product design, pricing and reinsurance needs.

Reinsurance solutions are used to help reduce concentration and volatility risk, especially with 
large policies or new risks, and as protection against catastrophes.  Although the Group has 
reinsurance arrangements in place, it is not relieved of its direct obligations to its 
policyholders and thus a credit exposure exists with respect to reinsurance ceded, to the 
extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed under such reinsurance 
arrangements.

Non-life insurance contracts

The Group's non-life insurance business is diversified over seven classes of business. The Group has 
developed a robust underwriting framework to ensure that all risks accepted meet the guidelines and 
standards.

The Group's non-life insurance business is primarily derived from Hong Kong and Singapore.  The 
Group has developed a reinsurance strategy to ensure that a prudent and appropriate reinsurance 
program is in place, which manages such concentration of insurance risks based on historical 
experience of loss frequency and severity of similar risks and in similar geographical zones. The 
primary objectives of the Group's reinsurance strategy include protection of shareholders' funds, 
reduction in volatility of the Group's underwriting result and diversified credit risk.  At each reporting 
date, management performs an assessment of creditworthiness of reinsurers and updates the 
reinsurance strategy, ascertaining suitable allowance for impairment of reinsurance assets.

(a) Case estimates

For non-life insurance contracts, the case estimate for each reported claim is set up based on 
the best estimate of the ultimate claim settlement amount considering all the information 
available for the claim.  The case estimate is revised from time to time according to the latest 
information available.  When setting case estimates for larger claims, reference is made to the 
advice of independent consultants such as loss adjusters and solicitors where applicable. 

(b) Key assumptions

Generally accepted actuarial methodologies, such as chain-ladder and Bornhuetter-Ferguson 
methods, are used to project the ultimate claims by class of business.  The Group's past 
experience and claim development patterns are important assumptions for such projections. 
Other assumptions include average claim costs, claims handling expenses and claims inflation.  
The projected ultimate claim amount may also be judgmentally adjusted by external factors 
such as prevailing trends in judicial decisions, the economic environment and relevant 
government legislation.
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Concentration risk

Concentration risk is managed at the Group level and within each Business Unit. The Group will 
determine concentration limits and then cascades these to the Business Units. Limits are set for single 
issuers, groups of related issuers, country of risk, sectors and currencies. The Group’s investment 
system maintains a set of rules monitoring such limits. Violations of such rules trigger alerts or pre-
trade approvals depending on materiality. The investment team works with external managers to 
ensure asset exposures stay within the stated limits. Exposures exceeding limits needs to be tabled at 
the relevant Business Unit’s and the Group’s Asset and Liability Management Committee or 
Investment Committee. These committees decide the course of action required to address limit 
violations should they occur. Limit monitoring takes place at both the Group level and Business Unit 
level. Asset concentration reports are tabled at the relevant committees.  

The Group actively assesses and manages concentration of insurance risk, either geographical or 
product concentration risk, of the Group’s operations, as below:

i. Concentration of insurance risk arises from a lack of geographical and product diversification 
within the Group’s insurance portfolio, and could result in significant financial losses in the 
case certain events exhibiting geographical and/or product concentrations occur and give 
rise to higher levels of claims;

ii. From a geographical standpoint, because the Group operates across multiple markets, its 
results of operations are not substantially dependent on any one of its individual markets. 
Such regional footprint provides a natural benefit of geographical diversification of insurance 
and other risks associated with the Group’s operations (e.g., regulatory, competitive and 
political risks of a localised and single-market nature);

iii. From a product exposure standpoint, despite the Group’s primary focus on long-term life 
insurance, it has a range of product offerings with different extent and nature of risk 
coverage, e.g., participating, critical illness, unit-linked, term life and medical. This naturally 
also reduces the Group’s exposures to concentrations of mortality or morbidity risk;

iv. Concentrations of risk are managed within each market through the monitoring of product 
sales and size of the in-force book by product group. As a result of the Group’s growing 
operating history and scale, a substantial amount of experience data has been accumulated 
which assists in evaluation, pricing and management of insurance risk; and

v. In addition, reinsurance solutions are used to help reduce concentration and volatility risk, 
especially with large policies or new risks, and as protection against catastrophes, and the 
Group has developed a reinsurance strategy to ensure that a prudent and appropriate 
reinsurance program is in place, which manages such concentration of insurance risks based 
on historical experience of loss frequency and severity of similar risks and in similar 
geographical zones.

Financial risks

The Group is exposed to a range of financial risks, including credit risk, market risk, and liquidity risk. 
The Group applies a consistent risk management philosophy that is embedded in management 
processes and controls such that both existing and emerging risks are considered and addressed.

The following section summarises the Group's key risk exposures and the primary policies and 
processes used by the Group to manage its exposures to these risks.
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Although the primary source of credit risk is the Group's 
investment portfolio, credit risk also arises in reinsurance, settlement and treasury activities. 

The level of credit risk the Group accepts is managed and monitored by the Asset and Liability 
Management Committee, through establishment of an exposure limit for each counterparty or group 
of counterparties, reporting of credit risk exposures, monitoring compliance with exposure limits, and 
a regular review of limits due to changes in the macro-economic environment. 

The Group actively manages its investments to ensure that there is no significant concentration of 
credit risk.

The Group primarily identifies whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an 
exposure by comparing the internal rating as at the reporting date with the internal rating as at the 
date of initial recognition of the exposure. Where external credit ratings are available, internal ratings 
are assigned consistent with such ratings in accordance with the Group’s credit risk assessment 
framework. Where external credit ratings are not readily available, an internal rating methodology has 
been adopted.

The Group monitors changes in credit risk by tracking the change in internal rating of the exposure. 
The Group also monitors relevant information, including price movements of securities, and assess 
whether such information signifies a change in credit risk.

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) Methodology

The measurement of ECL is the product of the financial instrument’s probability of default (“PD”), loss 
given default (“LGD”) and exposure at default (“EAD”) discounted at the effective interest rate to the 
reporting date.

ECL is measured at an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a 
range of possible outcomes, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information 
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group adopts 
three economic scenarios in the ECL measurement to meet the requirements of IFRS 9. The “Baseline” 
scenario represents a most likely outcome and the other two scenarios, referred to as “Good” scenario 
and “Bad” scenario, represent less likely outcomes which are more optimistic or more pessimistic 
compared to Baseline scenario.

The Baseline scenario is prepared using historical data, economic trend, external forecast from 
governmental and non-governmental organisations, etc. as benchmarks to ensure the scenario is 
reasonable and supportable. For the Good and Bad scenarios, the Group makes reference to the 
historical and forecast macroeconomic data.

The macroeconomic factors in the major countries/regions the Group operates or invests in such as 
Gross Domestic Product growth, Consumer Price Index, Property Price Index and Unemployment 
Rate are applied in the economic scenarios. These macroeconomic factors are considered to be 
important to the Group’s ECL in statistical analysis and business opinion.

The probability assigned for each scenario reflects the Group’s view for the economic environment, 
which implements the Group’s prudent and consistent credit strategy of ensuring the adequacy of 
impairment allowance. A higher probability is assigned to the Baseline scenario to reflect the most 
likely outcome and a lower probability is assigned to the Good and Bad scenarios to reflect the less 
likely outcomes. 
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) Methodology (continued)

The following tables set out the credit quality analysis for debt investments measured at FVOCI and at 
amortised cost. Unless specifically indicated, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying 
amounts.

US$m Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Stage 3 - 
Purchased or 

originated 
credit-impaired 
financial assets Total

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)
Debt securities under FVOCI
AAA  1,561  —  —  —  1,561 

AA  2,795  —  —  —  2,795 

A  10,916  —  —  —  10,916 

BBB  18,405  —  —  —  18,405 

Below investment grade  1,162  28  —  —  1,190 

Not rated  37  2  9  —  48 

Sub-total  34,876  30  9  —  34,915 

Loss Allowance  (40)  (3)  (5)  —  (48) 

Amortised cost  34,836  27  4  —  34,867 

Carrying amount – fair value  31,013  30  4  31,047 

31 December 2022 (Unaudited)
Debt securities under FVOCI
AAA  1,787  —  —  —  1,787 

AA  2,509  —  —  —  2,509 

A  11,163  —  —  —  11,163 

BBB  18,094  —  —  —  18,094 

Below investment grade  1,232  —  —  —  1,232 

Not rated  863  —  9  —  872 

Sub-total  35,648  —  9  —  35,657 

Loss Allowance  (45)  —  (5)  —  (50) 

Amortised cost  35,603  —  4  —  35,607 

Carrying amount – fair value  30,810  —  5  —  30,815 
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) Methodology (continued)

US$m Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Stage 3 - 
Purchased or 

originated 
credit-impaired 
financial assets Total

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)
Loans and deposits under amortised cost
AA  21  —  —  —  21 

A  295  —  —  —  295 

BBB  556  —  —  —  556 

Below investment grade  229  —  —  —  229 

Not rated  17  —  1  —  18 

Sub-total  1,118  —  1  —  1,119 

Loss Allowance  (2)  —  (1)  —  (3) 

Carrying amount  1,116  —  —  —  1,116 

31 December 2022 (Unaudited)
Loans and deposits under amortised cost
AA  122  —  —  —  122 

A  568  —  —  —  568 

BBB  555  —  —  —  555 

Below investment grade  269  —  —  —  269 

Not rated  19  —  —  —  19 

Sub-total  1,533  —  —  —  1,533 

Loss Allowance  (3)  —  —  (3) 

Carrying amount  1,530  —  —  —  1,530 

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk predominantly arises from any difference between the tenor 
of the Group’s liabilities and assets, or any difference between the return on investments and the 
return required to meet the Group’s commitments, predominantly its traditional insurance liabilities.  
This exposure is heightened in products with inherent interest rate options or guarantees.

The Group seeks to manage interest rate risk by ensuring appropriate product design and underlying 
assumptions as part of the product approval process and by matching, to the extent possible and 
appropriate, the duration of investment assets with the duration of insurance contracts.  Given the 
long duration of policy liabilities and the uncertainty of future cash flows arising from these contracts, 
it is not possible to acquire assets that will perfectly match the policy liabilities.  This results in interest 
rate risk, which is managed and monitored by the Asset and Liability Management Committee of the 
Group.  The duration of interest-bearing financial assets is regularly reviewed and monitored by 
referencing the estimated duration of insurance contract liabilities.
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Financial risks (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The table below summarises the nature of the interest rate risk associated with financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

US$m Variable interest rate Fixed interest rate Non-interest bearing Total

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)
Financial assets

Debt securities  2,906  30,160  6  33,072 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,729  —  —  1,729 

Loans and deposits  6  1,110  —  1,116 

Equity securities  —  —  739  739 

Interests in investment funds  —  —  8,019  8,019 

Derivative financial instruments  —  —  148  148 

Accrued investment income  —  —  255  255 

Other assets  14  4  334  352 

Total financial assets  4,655  31,274  9,501  45,430 

Insurance and reinsurance contract assets

Insurance contract assets  737 

Reinsurance contract assets  726 
Total insurance and reinsurance contract 
assets  1,463 

Financial liabilities

Borrowings  —  2,215  —  2,215 

Other liabilities  —  530  665  1,195 

Derivative financial instruments  —  —  394  394 

Total financial liabilities  —  2,745  1,059  3,804 

Insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities  38,607 

Reinsurance contract liabilities  295 
Total insurance and reinsurance contract 
liabilities  38,902 
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Financial risks (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

US$m Variable interest rate Fixed interest rate Non-interest bearing Total

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)
Financial assets

Debt securities  2,228  30,391  6  32,625 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,474  —  —  1,474 

Loans and deposits  —  1,530  —  1,530 

Equity securities  —  —  381  381 

Interests in investment funds  —  —  7,576  7,576 

Derivative financial instruments  —  —  319  319 

Accrued investment income  —  —  246  246 

Other assets  12  1  213  226 

Total financial assets  3,714  31,922  8,741  44,377 

Insurance and reinsurance contract assets

Insurance contract assets  722 

Reinsurance contract assets  725 
Total insurance and reinsurance contract 
assets  1,447 

Financial liabilities

Borrowings  —  2,216  —  2,216 

Other liabilities  8  665  730  1,403 

Derivative financial instruments  —  —  134  134 

Total financial liabilities  8  2,881  864  3,753 

Insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities  37,019 

Reinsurance contract liabilities  463 
Total insurance and reinsurance contract 
liabilities  37,482 

1  Borrowings of US$991m and US$992m as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, respectively, bear variable interest 
rates and are hedged with interest rate swaps. Refer to Note 22 for details. 
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Financial risks (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The analysis below illustrates the sensitivity of shareholders’ equity to changes in interest rates.  The 
analysis illustrates the impact of changing interest rates in isolation, and does not quantify potential 
impacts arising from changes in other assumptions. 

30 June 2023 (Unaudited) 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Impact on Impact on

US$m  Profit before tax

Other 
components of 

equity (before the 
effects of 
taxation)

Shareholders' 
allocated equity 

(before the 
effects of 
taxation) Profit before tax

Other 
components of 

equity (before the 
effects of 
taxation)

Shareholders' 
allocated equity 

(before the 
effects of 
taxation)

Interest rate risk
+50 basis points shift in yield curves

Insurance and reinsurance 
contracts  15  1,661  15  (16)  1,635  (16) 

Financial instruments  9  (1,562)  9  4  (1,525)  4 

Total  24  99  24  (12)  110  (12) 

- 50 basis points shift in yield curves
Insurance and reinsurance 
contracts  (33)  (1,837)  (33)  5  (1,800)  5 

Financial instruments  (10)  1,733  (10)  (3)  1,687  (3) 

Total  (43)  (104)  (43)  2  (113)  2 

Equity price risk

The Group's equity price risk exposure relates to financial assets and liabilities whose values fluctuate 
as a result of changes in market prices.

The Group manages these risks by setting and monitoring investment limits in each country and 
sector. The Group’s principal price risk relates to movement in the fair value of its equity securities 
and interest in investment funds. 

Equity price risk is managed through the selection process of equity funds and portfolio criteria for 
segregated equity mandates, which includes tracking errors based on benchmarks or specific 
concentration limits. Equity exposures are considered for each private equity investment to avoid 
concentration risk.

The analysis below illustrates the estimated impact on profits and shareholders' equity arising from a 
change in a single variable before taking into account the effects of taxation.
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Financial risks (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)

30 June 2023 (Unaudited) 31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Impact on Impact on

US$m  Profit before tax

Other 
components of 
equity (before 
the effects of 

taxation)

Shareholders' 
allocated equity 

(before the 
effects of 
taxation) Profit before tax

Other 
components of 
equity (before 
the effects of 

taxation)

Shareholders' 
allocated equity 

(before the 
effects of 
taxation)

Equity price risk
10 per cent increase in equity prices

Insurance and reinsurance contracts  (561)  —  (561)  (528)  —  (527) 

Financial instruments  739  —  739  675  —  675 

Total  178  —  178  147  —  148 

10 per cent decrease in equity prices

Insurance and reinsurance contracts  552  —  552  524  —  524 

Financial instruments  (739)  —  (739)  (675)  —  (675) 

Total  (187)  —  (187)  (151)  —  (151) 

Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group’s financial assets are predominantly denominated in the same currencies as its insurance 
liabilities, which serves to mitigate the foreign exchange rate risk. The level of currency risk the Group 
accepts is managed and monitored by the Asset and Liability Management Committee of the Group, 
through regular monitoring of currency positions of financial assets and insurance contracts.

The Group’s net foreign currency exposures and the estimated impact of changes in foreign exchange 
rates are set out in the tables below after taking into account derivative contracts entered into to 
hedge foreign exchange rate risk. Currencies for which net exposure is not significant are excluded 
from the analysis below.

Foreign currency transaction risk arising from insurance and reinsurance contracts is managed by 
holding cash and investing in assets denominated in currencies that match the related liabilities, to the 
extent that it is deemed by local management to be both practical and appropriate. The Group’s 
policy is to ensure that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign 
currencies at spot rates when necessary to address short-term imbalances. Foreign currency 
transaction risk arising from the underlying items of participating contracts is generally borne by 
contract holders except to the extent of the Group’s share of the performance of the underlying items.

The Group has more United States dollar denominated assets than it has corresponding United States 
dollar denominated liabilities due to the much deeper pool of investment assets available in United 
States dollars.  As a result, some of the United States dollar-denominated assets are used to back 
Hong Kong dollar denominated liabilities. This currency mismatch is then hedged, using forward 
currency contracts, to reduce the currency risk.
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Financial risks (Continued)

Foreign exchange rate risk (Continued)

In compiling the table below, the impact of a five percent strengthening of original currency of the 
relevant operation is stated relative to the functional currency of the Group (US dollar).  The impact of 
a five percent strengthening of the US dollar is also stated relative to the original currency of the 
relevant operation.  Currency exposure reflects the net notional amount of currency derivative 
positions as well as net equity by currency.

Foreign exchange rate net exposure

US$m United States Dollar Hong Kong Dollar Thai Baht Japanese Yen

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

Financial assets  20,832  1,575  14,384  3,580 

Financial liabilities  (2,768)  (162)  (173)  (85) 

Insurance and reinsurance contract assets  182  54  17  929 

Insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities  (12,338)  (4,018)  (13,714)  (7,056) 

Net notional amounts of currency derivatives  (4,868)  2,550  1,235  3,099 

Currency exposure  1,040  (1)  1,749  467 

5% strengthening of original currency
Impact on profit before tax

Financial instruments  76  202  (1)  1 

Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts held  (32)  (219)  —  — 

 44  (17)  (1)  1 

Impact on total equity

Financial instruments  64  200  (1)  — 

Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts held  (31)  (198)  —  — 

Impact on total equity  33  2  (1)  — 
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Financial risks (Continued)

Foreign exchange rate risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange rate net exposure (Continued)

US$m United States Dollar Hong Kong Dollar Thai Baht Japanese Yen

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

Financial assets  20,811  1,385  14,387  3,514 

Financial liabilities  (2,852)  (204)  (171)  (145) 

Insurance and reinsurance contract assets  34  182  13  896 

Insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities  (11,571)  (4,203)  (13,625)  (6,788) 

Net notional amounts of currency derivatives  (5,076)  2,687  1,209  3,209 

Currency exposure  1,346  (153)  1,813  686 

5% strengthening of original currency
Impact on profit before tax

Financial instruments  62  198  1  1 

Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts held  (28)  (225)  —  — 

Impact on profit before tax  34  (27)  1  1 

Impact on total equity

Financial instruments  50  196  1  — 

Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts held  (26)  (201)  —  — 

Impact on total equity  24  (5)  1  — 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk primarily refers to the possibility of having insufficient cash available to meet payment 
obligations when they become due. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of insurance 
contracts that permit surrender, withdrawal or other forms of early termination for a cash surrender 
value specified in the contractual terms and conditions.

To manage liquidity risk the Group has implemented a variety of measures, with an emphasis on 
flexible insurance product design, so that it can retain the greatest flexibility to adjust contract pricing 
or crediting rates. The Group also seeks to match, to the extent possible and appropriate, the duration 
of its investment assets with the duration of its insurance contracts. The Group performs regular 
monitoring of its liquidity position through cash flow projections.
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Financial risks (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below summarises financial assets and liabilities of the Group into their relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting year to their contractual 
maturities or expected repayment dates. Most of the Group’s assets are used to support its insurance 
contract liabilities. Refer to Note 15 for additional information on the Group’s insurance contract 
liabilities, as well as to the Insurance Risks section within this Note.

30 June 2023 (Unaudited)

US$m Total
Due in one 

year or less

Due after 
one year 

through two 
years

Due after 
two year 
through 

three years

Due after 
three year 

through four 
years

Due after 
four year 

through five 
years

Due after 
five years

No fixed 
maturity

Financial and insurance contract 
assets
Fair value through OCI debt 
securities  31,047  967  807  1,745  1,495  1,311  24,722  — 

Fair value through profit or loss  10,783  64  12  35  128  52  1,734  8,758 

Loans and deposits  1,116  529  44  93  95  39  316  — 

Derivatives financial instruments  148  29  11  7  14  67  20  — 
Insurance contract asset 
(Estimated PV of future cash 
flow)  1,907  174  95  88  76  73  1,401  — 
Reinsurance contract asset 
(Estimated PV of future cash 
flow)  (144)  184  (14)  (12)  (17)  (17)  (268)  — 

Other assets  607  587  5  5  2  7  1  — 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,729  1,729  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Total  47,193  4,263  960  1,961  1,793  1,532  27,926  8,758 
Financial and insurance contract 

liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities 
(Estimated PV of future cash 
flow)  (32,687)  (3,126)  (1,886)  (1,736)  (1,735)  (1,610)  (22,594)  — 
Reinsurance contract liabilities 
(Estimated PV of future cash 
flow)  (404)  (84)  (31)  (28)  (19)  (16)  (226) 

Investment contract liabilities  (149)  (71)  —  —  —  —  (78)  — 

Borrowings  (2,215)  —  (1,224)  (991)  —  —  —  — 

Derivative financial instruments  (394)  (201)  (46)  (52)  (33)  (37)  (25)  — 

Other liabilities  (1,094)  (1,068)  (26)  —  —  —  —  — 

Lease liabilities  (101)  (42)  (21)  (15)  (13)  (7)  (3)  — 

Total  (37,044)  (4,592)  (3,234)  (2,822)  (1,800)  (1,670)  (22,926)  — 
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26.    Risk Management (Continued)

Financial risks (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

31 December 2022 (Restated) (Unaudited)

US$m Total
Due in one 

year or less

Due after 
one year 

through two 
years

Due after 
two year 
through 

three years

Due after 
three year 

through four 
years

Due after 
four year 

through five 
years

Due after 
five years

No fixed 
maturity

Financial and insurance contract 
assets
Fair value through OCI debt 
securities  30,815  1,016  741  1,511  2,142  1,339  24,066  — 

Fair value through profit or loss  9,767  114  28  20  31  159  1,458  7,957 

Loans and deposits  1,530  846  152  77  45  56  354  — 

Derivatives financial instruments  319  170  14  16  24  67  28  — 
Insurance contract asset 
(Estimated PV of future cash 
flow)  1,876  128  103  92  85  81  1,387  — 
Reinsurance contract asset 
(Estimated PV of future cash 
flow)  (239)  672  (77)  (96)  (69)  (51)  (618)  — 

Other assets  472  443  8  7  1  1  12  — 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,474  1,474  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Total  46,014  4,863  969  1,627  2,259  1,652  26,687  7,957 
Financial and insurance contract 

liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities 
(Estimated PV of future cash 
flow)  (31,172)  (2,920)  (2,137)  (1,800)  (1,757)  (1,735)  (20,823)  — 
Reinsurance contract liabilities 
(Estimated PV of future cash 
flow)  (542)  (743)  30  53  24  9  85  — 

Investment contract liabilities  (197)  —  —  —  —  —  (197)  — 

Borrowings  (2,216)  —  (2,216)  —  —  —  —  — 

Derivative financial instruments  (134)  (51)  (26)  (15)  (9)  (10)  (23)  — 

Other liabilities  (1,290)  (1,257)  (1)  (24)  (2)  (1)  (5)  — 

Lease liabilities  (113)  (49)  (20)  (20)  (12)  (12)  —  — 

Total  (35,664)  (5,020)  (4,370)  (1,806)  (1,756)  (1,749)  (20,963)  — 

The amounts payable on demand in the insurance contract liabilities represent the policyholders’ 
account values of US$35,918m (2022: US$34,820m).
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27.    Share-Based Compensation
During the six months ended 30 June 2023, 30 June 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2022, the 
Group operated the Share Option and RSU Plan to reward eligible persons for their services and the 
achievement of shareholder value targets. These RSUs and share options are in the form of a 
contingent right to receive ordinary shares or a conditional allocation of ordinary shares. These 
awards have vesting periods of up to four years and are at nil or nominal cost to the eligible person. 
Save for in certain circumstances, vesting of awards is conditional upon the eligible person being in 
active employment at the time of vesting. Vesting of certain other awards is, in addition, subject to 
certain performance conditions. Award holders do not have any right to dividends or voting rights 
attaching to the shares prior to delivery of the shares. Each share option has a 10-year exercise period.

On 30 January 2022, the Board of Directors approved a new Share Award Plan and a new Employee 
Share Purchase Plan to attract and retain eligible persons.

(i) RSUs

The following table shows the movement in outstanding RSU under the Group’s Share Option and 
RSU Plan:

Number of shares
Six months ended 30 June 

2023
Six months ended 30 June 

2022
Year ended 

31 December 2022

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Outstanding at beginning of the year 1,991,586 931,328 931,328

Awarded 1,232,612 1,771,736 1,784,128

Forfeited (980,550) (282,062) (513,666)

Vested (201,600) (210,204) (210,204)

Outstanding at end of the year 2,042,048 2,210,798 1,991,586

Valuation methodology

To calculate the fair value of the awards with performance conditions, the Group utilises an appraisal 
value methodology (Embedded Value plus a multiple of Value of New Business) and market valuation 
approach, where applicable, and an assessment of performance conditions, taking into account the 
terms and conditions upon which the awards were granted. The fair value calculated for the awards is 
inherently subjective due to the assumptions made.

The total fair value of RSUs granted during the six months ended 30 June 2023, 30 June 2022 and the 
year ended 31 December 2022 was US$63m, US$95m and US$95m, respectively.

Recognised compensation cost

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of RSUs is recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss over the vesting period with a corresponding amount recorded in equity.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated financial statements related to RSUs granted under 
the Share Option and RSU Plan by the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023, 30 June 2022 
and the year ended 31 December 2022 was US$12m, US$4m and US$18m, respectively.
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27.    Share-Based Compensation (Continued)

(ii) Share options

The following table shows the movement in outstanding share options under the Group’s Share 
Option and RSU Plan:

Number of share-options Six months ended 30 June 2023 Six months ended 30 June 2022
Year ended

31 December 2022

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Outstanding at beginning of the year 237,063 410,511 410,511

Awarded 24,000 29,958 29,958

Forfeited (6,946) (35,528) (42,528)

Vested (207,555) (160,879) (160,878)

Outstanding at end of the year 46,562 244,062 237,063

The total fair value of share options granted for the Group during the six months ended 30 June 2023, 
30 June 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2022 was US$1m, US$2m and US$2m, respectively.

Recognised compensation cost

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of share options is 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss over the vesting period with a corresponding amount 
recorded in equity.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated financial statements related to share options 
granted under the Share Option and RSU Plan by the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023, 
30 June 2022 and the year ended December 2022 was US$2m, US$5m and US$8m, respectively.
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28.    Related Party Transactions

(a) Compensation of Directors and key management personnel of the Group:

Six months ended 
30 June 2023

Six months ended 
30 June 2022

Year ended 
31 December 2022US$m

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Short-term employee benefits  11  14  26 

Share-based payments  2  —  (1) 

Termination benefits  2  —  — 

Other long-term benefits  —  2  2 

Total  15  16  27 

(b) Transactions and balances with related parties:

The Group has transactions with certain related companies and these consolidated financial 
statements reflect the effect of these transactions which are conducted in accordance with terms 
mutually agreed between the parties. In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the 
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following related party transactions during the 
period.

(i) Related companies charged US$14m, US$18m and US$35m for the provision of 
telecommunication, IT and investment advisory, advertising and consulting services to the 
Group for the six months ended 30  June 2023 and 30 June 2022 and the year ended 31 
December 2022, respectively. 

(ii) The Group has underwritten various group insurance contracts with related companies. The 
total premium revenue from those contracts for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 30 
June 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2022 was US$26m, US$22m and US$22m, 
respectively.

(iii) The Group has entered into reinsurance contract arrangements with related companies. The 
total premiums ceded, claim recoveries received and commission income received for the  six 
months ended 30  June 2023 was US$23m, US$13m and US$1m, respectively. The total 
premiums ceded, claim recoveries received and commission income received for the six 
months ended 30 June 2022 was US$22m, US$8m and US$2m, respectively. The total 
premiums ceded, claim recoveries received and commission income received for the year 
ended 31 December 2022 was US$41m, US$14m and US$1m, respectively.

(iv) The Group has accepted certain liabilities in connection with a reinsurance contract from 
related companies. The total premium revenue, claims incurred, and commissions paid from 
this contract for the six months ended 30  June 2023 was US$113m, US$40m and US$21m, 
respectively. The total premium revenue, claims incurred, and commissions paid from this 
contract for the six months ended 30 June 2022 was US$129m, US$33m and US$25m, 
respectively. The total premium revenue, claims incurred, and commissions paid from this 
contract for the year ended 31 December 2022 was US$200m, US$70m and US$46m, 
respectively.
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28.    Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances with related parties: (Continued)

(v) The Group charged related parties US$1m, US$1m and US$2m for administration services 
related to the certain general insurance business subsidiaries sold during year ended 31 
December 2022 and 2021 (“GI Disposal Group”) during the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 
2022 and the year ended 31 December 2022, respectively. 

(vi) The Group has a call option with a 5 year exercise period pursuant to which the Group has the 
right to acquire a minority stake in the related party at a discounted price after the Group sold 
subsidiaries of the GI Disposal Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021. As at 
30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, the fair value of the call option was US$53m and 
US$51m, respectively. Refer to Note 18 for further details.

(vii) The Group held financial investments of US$50m and US$90m controlled by related parties as 
at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, respectively. 

(viii) Related companies invested in the subordinated notes and perpetual securities issued by the 
Group with aggregate principal amounts of US$155m and US$175m as at 30 June 2023 and 31 
December 2022, respectively. The total interest and distributions accrued to these related 
companies for the six months ended 30  June 2023 and 30 June 2022 and year ended 31 
December 2022  was US$5m, US$5m and US$9m, respectively. Refer to Notes 22 and 24.3 for 
further details. 

(ix) The Group had amounts due from related companies of US$8m and US$7m, for the six months 
ended 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, respectively. The amounts due are unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable on demand.

(x) In addition, the Group had outstanding payables to related companies of US$5m and US$4m 
as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022, respectively. The payables are unsecured, interest-
free and payable on demand. 
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28.    Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(c) Transactions and balances with associates and joint ventures:

(i) The Group has entered into broker and non-exclusive distribution agreements with associates, 
pursuant to which the total commission expenses recognised by the Group for the six months 
ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2022 were US$7m, 
US$6m and US$13m, respectively.

(ii) The Group had an amount due from an associate of US$4m and US$3m as at 30 June 2023 
and 31 December 2022, respectively. The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable on demand.

(iii) The Group had a loan to an associate at US$5m and US$5m as at 30 June 2023 and 31 
December 2022 which is interest-bearing and repayable on the maturity date.

(iv) The Group had a loan to a joint venture at US$6m and US$6m as at 30 June 2023 and 31 
December 2022, which is interest-bearing and repayable on maturity date.

29.    Commitments And Contingencies

Operating lease commitments – Group as a lessor

The Group leased its investment property portfolio consisting of certain commercial buildings and 
land. These leases have terms of between 1 and 20 years. The Group had total future minimum rental 
receivable under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

US$m
As at 

30 June 2023
As at 

31 December 2022

(Unaudited)

Within one year  22  19 

In the second to fifth years  45  40 

Over five years  86  98 

Total  153  157 

Investment and capital commitments

The Group has investments and capital commitments to invest in its private equity partnerships and 
other financial investments.

US$m
As at 

30 June 2023
As at 

31 December 2022

(Unaudited)

Within one year  186  266 

In the second to fifth years  676  676 

Over five years  —  12 

Total  862  954 
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29.    Commitments And Contingencies (Continued)

Commitments in Malaysia

As of 30 June 2023, the Group had planned to invest a total of US$51m (31 December 2022: US$26m), 
in Malaysia until 2028.

Capital commitment for acquisitions and investments

As of 30 June 2023, the Group agreed to make additional payments in aggregate amounts of up to 
US$93m (31 December 2022: US$144m), in relation to acquisitions and investments. 

Contingencies

The Group is subject to regulation in each of the geographical markets in which it operates from 
insurance business, and other regulators and is exposed to the risk of regulatory actions in response 
to perceived or actual non-compliance with regulations relating to suitability, sales or underwriting 
practices, claims payments and procedures, product design, disclosure, administration, denial or 
delay of benefits and breaches of fiduciary or other duties. The Group believes that these matters 
have been adequately provided for in these financial statements.

The Group is exposed to risk exposures including legal proceedings, complaints etc. from its activities 
including those arising from commercial activities, sales practices, suitability of products, policies and 
claims. The Group believes that these matters are adequately provided for in these financial 
statements.

30.    Events After The Reporting Period
On 31 July 2023, the Company issued in aggregate 34,756,740 Management Shares, 120,099,900 
Series P Conversion Shares and 196,083,810 Series A, B-2 and B-3 Conversion Shares to the non-
controlling interest holders of FL and FGL in exchange for their ordinary shares, preference shares and 
convertible preference shares (as applicable) in FL and FGL. Details are further disclosed in Note 1.2.2. 
These Management Shares, Series P Conversion Shares and Series A, B-2 and B-3 Conversion Shares 
are equity instruments issued by the Company and the Exchange of Share Capital of FL and FGL is 
accounted for as a transaction with non-controlling interests in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

On 25 August 2023, FL and FGL novated all the medium-term notes, subordinated notes and 
perpetual securities to the Company. As such, the Company has assumed all the rights and 
obligations as the issuer of each of the medium-term notes, subordinated notes and perpetual 
securities.

On 25 August 2023, FGL transferred its US$1,000m bank borrowing and US$500m committed 
revolving credit facility, as disclosed in Note 22, to the Company. As such, the Company has assumed 
all the rights and obligations under the bank borrowing and revolving credit facility. 
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Independent report on the review of supplementary 
embedded value information

FWD Group Holdings Limited 富衛集團有限公司  (“FWD Group”, “FWD”, “the Company”, “you” or 
“your”) has prepared, in respect of FWD Group and its subsidiaries, the embedded value (“EV”) as at 
30 June 2023 and the value of new business (“VNB”) for the six months ended 30 June 2023 using 
traditional embedded value (“TEV”) methodology. The Company has also prepared additional 
analyses, including:

– Analysis of EV movement for the six months ended 30 June 2023;

– EV equity as at 30 June 2023;

– Free surplus generation for the six months ended 30 June 2023;

– Earnings profile as at 30 June 2023; and

– Sensitivity analysis on EV and VNB.

The EV, VNB and additional analyses are collectively referred to as the “EV Results”. For comparison 
purposes, the equivalent EV and EV equity results have also been presented as at 31 December 2022 
while the equivalent VNB, analysis of EV movement, free surplus generation and earnings profile have 
been presented for the six months ended 30 June 2022. The EV Results, along with the methodology 
and assumptions that have been used to prepare the Results, have been summarised by the Company 
as part of the supplementary embedded value information (“EV Disclosure”) in the Interim Report as 
at, or for the six months ended, 30 June 2023. This letter (“Opinion Letter”) should be read in 
conjunction with the EV Disclosure.

Scope of Services
Milliman Limited (“Milliman”, “we”, “us” or “our”) has been engaged by FWD Group to independently 
review and provide an opinion on the EV Results. Our scope of work, prepared in accordance with our 
engagement letter dated 1 April 2022, involved the following:

• We have reviewed the methodology and derivation of assumptions used to determine the EV 
Results presented in the EV Disclosure.

• We have reviewed the analysis that has been performed by FWD Group to support the risk 
discount rates.

• We have reviewed certain elements of the Valuation Models1 used to determine VIF and VNB.

• We have performed checks on the EV Results by Business Unit and have reviewed the consolidated 
EV Results for FWD Group.

Note:
1. Valuation Models refer to models developed in Prophet, a proprietary modelling software provided by a third party, FIS, and spreadsheets 

developed in Microsoft Excel for compilation of results and off-model adjustments.
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MILLIMAN OPINION

Based on our review of the methodology and assumptions used by FWD to calculate the EV Results, 
Milliman concludes that:

• The methodology used to calculate the EV Results is comparable in all material respects to the TEV 
methodology commonly adopted by listed insurers incorporated in Asia.

• The non-economic assumptions used to calculate the EV Results have been developed using the 
operating experience of the Business Units, with allowance for expected future trends where 
applicable, or have been set with reference to industry experience or pricing assumptions where 
the experience of the Business Units is not statistically credible. The analysis of EV movement 
performed by the Business Units, however, shows negative persistency variances for the six 
months ended 30 June in both 2022 and 2023 for FWD Group. FWD Thailand and FWD Vietnam 
have revised their lapse assumptions in 1H2023 with the aim to reduce the prolonged negative 
persistency variance. A continuation of adverse persistency experience could have a material 
impact on the EV Results as presented in the EV Disclosure.

• The EV Results have been determined using long term expense assumptions set on the basis that 
Business Units will be able to eliminate expense overruns in the short to medium term in line with 
internal business plans. An increase in expenses or a reduction in sales compared to the 
assumptions used in the business plan forecasts could lead to an increase in expense assumptions 
and adversely affect the EV Results. More specifically, the VNB and new business margins as 
presented are before expense and commission overruns, with the actual expense and commission 
variance, reflecting the excess of actual expenses incurred over the long term unit cost loadings, 
presented separately in Section 2.5 of the EV Disclosure.

• The economic assumptions used to develop the EV Results have been determined having regard to 
the investment policy of each Business Unit, and current and expected future economic conditions, 
and are broadly consistent with economic assumptions adopted by insurers in Asia that report on a 
TEV basis. Checks have also been performed at a FWD Group level to validate the consistency of 
the allowance for risk in the risk discount rate with an alternative market consistent approach.

• The EV Results have been prepared in all material respects in accordance with the methodology 
and assumptions described in the EV Disclosure. This has been validated through the sample 
model point checks performed for products making up over 90% of VIF (measured by in-force 
statutory reserves) and VNB (measured by NB APE) for each Business Unit.

Reliances and Limitations
In carrying out our work and producing this Opinion Letter we have relied on information supplied by 
FWD. Reliance was placed on, but not limited to, the accuracy of the information provided to us. We 
have performed no audits or independent verification of the information furnished to us. FWD Group 
has confirmed to us that the data and information it has provided to us is accurate and complete.

The actuarial valuation of FWD Group has been developed on a going concern basis and assumes a 
continuation of the current economic, political and social environment in the markets in which FWD 
Group operates. Any change in the general operating environment would add a high degree of 
uncertainty to the EV Results presented. In particular, there is continuing uncertainty regarding the 
impact of COVID-19 and geopolitical factors on the economic, legal, and regulatory environment, and 
the level and nature of business activity. More specifically, high inflation rates observed in 2022 and 
the first half of 2023, due to factors such as the repercussions of the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
effects of the Russia-Ukraine war, have led to severe measures being imposed by many central banks, 
including steep increases in interest rates. An impending recession in 2023, predicted by some 
economists, could have a material impact on the EV Results.
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In determining the EV Results of FWD Group, assumptions have been made about future experience, 
including economic and investment experience, mortality, morbidity, persistency, expenses and 
taxes. Actual experience may differ from that assumed in the projections used to calculate the EV 
Results. To the extent actual experience is different from the assumptions, actual results will also 
differ from the results shown. The sensitivity of results to certain changes in assumptions is provided 
in the EV Disclosure.

The EV Results have been prepared by FWD using the Company’s Valuation Models. Although we 
have performed extensive checks on the Valuation Models and underlying results, our checks were 
not exhaustive, and hence may not have uncovered all potential issues. The EV Results allow for 
adjustments to dividends, profit sharing and crediting rate assumptions taking into account the 
investment return assumptions and profit sharing rules defined in regulations and/or internal company 
governance. The EV Results could be materially different if the rules incorporated in the Valuation 
Models are not followed in actual practice.

The EV Results set out in the EV Disclosure do not include any allowance for withholding or other 
taxes that may apply to the payment of shareholder dividends on remittances out of the Business 
Units. We have relied on FWD Group’s internal assessment that the approach taken with respect to 
withholding tax is appropriate for EV reporting purposes.

Reserves, cost of capital and tax have been calculated using the prevailing regulatory and tax 
frameworks applicable at the respective Valuation Dates (i.e. 30 June 2023, 31 December 2022 or 30 
June 2022), and do not take into account any future changes in these frameworks. With the 
introduction of the group-wide supervision framework by the Hong Kong Insurance Authority 
effective from 29 March 2021, FWD Group also performs annual internal analyses (the last study was 
as at 31 December 2022) to validate that the framework will not result in an increase in capital 
requirements beyond what has been assumed in the EV Results set out in the EV Disclosure. We have 
not reviewed these internal analyses. We have also relied on the opinion of the operating entities’ 
Appointed Actuaries and auditors that the reserves and capital requirements held as at the respective 
Valuation Dates comply with the prevailing regulations.

On behalf of Milliman Limited

Michael Daly FIA Wen Yee Lee FIAA

Principal & Consulting Actuary Principal & Consulting Actuary

29 August 2023 29 August 2023
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Supplementary Embedded Value Information
1. Highlights
The embedded value (“EV”) is a measure of the value of shareholders’ interests in the distributable 
earnings from assets allocated to the in-force business after allowance for the aggregate risks in that 
business. The Group uses a traditional, deterministic discounted cash flow methodology to calculate 
its EV and value of new business (“VNB”). This methodology makes an implicit overall level of 
allowance for risk including the cost of investment return guarantees and policyholder options, asset-
liability mismatch risk, credit risk, the risk that actual experience in future years differs from that 
assumed, and the economic cost of capital, through the use of a risk discount rate. The equity 
attributable to shareholders of the Company on the embedded value basis (“EV Equity”) is the total of 
EV, goodwill and other intangible assets attributable to shareholders of the Company. More details on 
the EV results, methodology and assumptions are covered in later sections of this report.
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1. Highlights (Continued)

Summary of key metrics1 (US$ millions)
As at As at Change Change

30 June 2023 31 December 2022 CER AER

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 
on the embedded value basis (EV Equity) 9,317 9,288  3.5 %  0.3 %
Embedded value (EV)  6,064  6,066  4.3 %  0.0 %

Adjusted net worth (ANW)  2,630  2,268  20.3 %  16.0 %

Value of in-force business (VIF)  3,433  3,798  (5.4) %  (9.6) %

Note: 
1. The results are after adjusting the value of future unallocated Group Office expenses.

Six months ended Six months ended Change Change

30 June 2023 30 June 2022 CER AER

Value of new business (VNB) 482 405  22.4 %  19.1 %
Annualised premium equivalent (APE) 845 732  18.6 %  15.5 %

PV New Business Premium (PVNBP) 4,353 4,387  1.7 %  (0.8) %

New business margin (% of APE)  57.1 %  55.4 % 1.8 pps 1.7 pps

New business margin (% of PVNBP)  11.1 %  9.2 % 1.9 pps 1.8 pps

EV operating profit after operating assumption changes 
and other operating variances 538 515  8.0 %  4.5 %

Operating return on EV  20.5 %  20.9 % (0.8) pps (0.4) pps

Six months ended Six months ended Change Change

30 June 2023 30 June 2022 CER AER

Underlying free surplus generation  731  305  144.9 %  139.5 %
Free surplus to fund new business  (2)  (151) nm nm

Net underlying free surplus generation  729  154  385.5 %  372.3 %

Adjusted underlying free surplus generation  298  350  (11.6) %  (14.7) %

Adjusted free surplus used to fund new business  36  (91) nm nm

Adjusted net underlying free surplus generation  334  259  33.8 %  28.9 %
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2. Embedded Value Results

2.1 Embedded Value by Business Unit

The EV as at 30  June 2023 is presented consistently with the segment information in the IFRS 
consolidated financial statements.

Summary of EV by Business Unit1 (US$ millions)

As at 30 June 2023

VIF before VIF after

Business Unit ANW CoC CoC CoC EV

FWD Hong Kong  2,435  1,698  (222)  1,476  3,911 
FWD Thailand  1,360  1,022  (244)  778  2,138 
FWD Japan  941  1,408  (201)  1,207  2,148 
Emerging Markets  737  629  (99)  530  1,267 

Business Unit subtotal  5,472  4,757  (765)  3,992  9,464 

Corporate & others  1,002  —  —  —  1,002 
Value of unallocated Group
Office expenses  —  (558)  —  (558)  (558) 
Less: Financing  (3,844)  —  —  —  (3,844) 

Total  2,630  4,199  (765)  3,433  6,064 

As at 31 December 2022

VIF before VIF after

Business Unit ANW CoC CoC CoC EV

FWD Hong Kong  2,442  1,521  (207)  1,314  3,756 
FWD Thailand  1,481  1,050  (228)  822  2,303 

FWD Japan  508  1,915  (220)  1,695  2,202 

Emerging Markets  579  606  (80)  526  1,105 

Business Unit subtotal  5,009  5,091  (735)  4,357  9,366 

Corporate & others  1,091  —  —  —  1,091 

Value of unallocated Group
Office expenses  —  (558)  —  (558)  (558) 
Less: Financing  (3,833)  —  —  —  (3,833) 

Total  2,268  4,533  (735)  3,798  6,066 

Note:
1. ANW by Business Unit is after net capital flows between Business Units and Group Office as reported in the IFRS consolidated financial 

statements.
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2. Embedded Value Results (Continued)

2.2 Reconciliation of ANW from IFRS Equity

Derivation of the consolidated ANW from IFRS equity (US$ millions)

As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 20221

IFRS equity attributable to shareholders  8,122  8,488 

Difference between IFRS and local statutory asset and liability items  (2,017)  (3,130) 

Mark-to-market adjustment for property and mortgage loan and other 
investments, net of amounts attributable to participating funds  1,146  1,416 

Elimination of intangible assets  (3,438)  (3,420) 

Recognition of deferred tax impacts of the above adjustments  214  269 

Recognition of non-controlling interest impacts of the above adjustments  (43)  (1) 

Elimination of external perpetual securities  (1,354)  (1,354) 

ANW  2,630  2,268 

Note:
1. The IFRS equity as at 31 December 2022 and 30 June 2023 disclosed in Note 6.3 of the IFRS accounts was US$8,489 million (restated) and 

US$8,201 million respectively. The difference is due to equity attributable to non-controlling interests, which has been deducted in the figures 
presented in Section 2.2. The IFRS equity as at 31 December 2022 has been restated following transition to an IFRS17 accounting basis.

2.3 Breakdown of ANW

The breakdown of the ANW for the Group between the required capital, as defined in Section 4.5 of 
this report, and the free surplus, which is the ANW in excess of the required capital, is set out below:

Free surplus and required capital for the Group (US$ millions)

As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022

Op. Entity Corp. and others Total Op. Entity Corp. and others Total

Free Surplus  3,364  1,002  4,366  3,049  1,091  4,141 
Required Capital  2,109  —  2,109  1,960  —  1,960 
Less: Financing  —  (3,844)  (3,844)  —  (3,833)  (3,833) 

ANW  5,472  (2,842)  2,630  5,009  (2,742)  2,268 

Overview Financial and Operating Review Financial Statements Additional Information

188  FWD Group Holdings Limited Interim Report 2023



2. Embedded Value Results (Continued)

2.4 Value of New Business

The APE, VNB and new business margin (% of APE) for the Group for the six months ended 30 June 
2023 is summarised in the table below. The VNB is defined as the present value, at the point of sale, of 
the projected after-tax statutory profits less the cost of required capital. Results are presented 
consistently with the segment information in the IFRS consolidated financial statements. The new 
business margin (% of APE) and new business margin (% of PVNBP) are defined as VNB expressed as a 
percentage of APE and PVNBP respectively. APE is defined as annualised regular premiums plus 10 
per cent of single premiums and PVNBP is defined as the present value of new business premium. 
Section 4.1 of this report contains a list of the entities included in this report and the mapping of these 
entities to Business Units for the purpose of this report.

The Group VNB for the six months ended 30 June 2023 was US$482 million, an increase of US$77 
million, or 22.4 per cent on constant exchange rates (“CER”), from US$405 million for the six months 
ended 30 June 2022.The Group new business margin (% of APE) for the six months ended 30 June 
2023 was 57.1 per cent compared with 55.4 per cent for the six months ended 30 June 2022. The 
Group new business margin (% of PVNBP)  for the six months ended 30 June 2023 was 11.1 per cent 
compared with 9.2 per cent for the  six months ended 30 June 2022. 

Summary of APE, VNB and New Business Margin (% of APE) by Business Unit (US$ millions)

Six months ended 30 June 2023 Six months ended 30 June 2022

APE VNB
New Business 

Margin (% of APE) APE VNB
New Business 

Margin (% of APE)

FWD Hong Kong  245  148  60.3 %  188  103  54.8 %
FWD Thailand  342  172  50.3 %  260  144  55.2 %

FWD Japan  65  70  108.2 %  93  72  77.7 %

Emerging Markets  192  92  47.9 %  190  86  45.2 %

Total  845  482  57.1 %  732  405  55.4 %

APE and VNB Growth Rate by Business Unit

Six months ended 30 June 2023 - Six months ended 30 June 2022

APE APE VNB VNB

Business Unit Change in CER Change in AER  Change in CER Change in AER 

FWD Hong Kong  30.4 %  30.4 %  43.3 %  43.3 %
FWD Thailand  33.5 %  31.5 %  21.3 %  19.8 %

FWD Japan  (22.7) %  (30.1) %  7.3 %  (2.6) %

Emerging Markets  4.5 %  1.0 %  10.3 %  7.1 %

Total  18.6 %  15.5 %  22.4 %  19.1 %
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2. Embedded Value Results (Continued)

2.5 Analysis of EV Movement

Analysis of movement in EV (US$ millions)

Six months ended 30 June 2023 Six months ended 30 June 2022

ANW VIF EV ANW VIF EV

Opening EV  2,268  3,798  6,066  2,369  3,362  5,731 

Acquisitions & partnerships / Discontinued 
business  (28)  6  (22)  (23)  5  (18) 

Expected return on EV  533  (226)  307  388  (140)  248 
VNB  —  482  482  —  405  405 
Operating variance and operating 
assumption change  (216)  (35)  (251)  (104)  (34)  (138) 

Operating variance - claims/persistency/
expense  (172)  (26)  (197)  (98)  (20)  (118) 
Operating variance - others  (1)  10  8  (7)  (1)  (9) 
Operating assumption change  (43)  (19)  (62)  1  (12)  (12) 

Total EV operating profit  318  221  538  284  231  515 

Economic variance and economic 
assumption change  104  (64)  40  (1,224)  510  (714) 

Economic variance  104  (64)  40  (1,224)  510  (714) 
Economic assumption change  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other non-operating variance  286  (391)  (105)  (104)  33  (71) 

Total EV profit  707  (234)  473  (1,044)  774  (270) 

Capital movement  0  —  0  200  —  200 
Corporate centre expenses  (73)  —  (73)  (36)  —  (36) 
Financing  (118)  —  (118)  (73)  —  (73) 
Foreign exchange movement  (125)  (137)  (262)  (205)  (287)  (492) 

Closing EV  2,630  3,433  6,064  1,188  3,854  5,042 
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2. Embedded Value Results (Continued)

2.5 Analysis of EV Movement (Continued)

A breakdown of the EV movement at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 is presented in the table above.

EV is US$6,064 million at 30  June 2023, an increase of 4 per cent on CER over the year from 
US$6,066 million at 31 December 2022. The increase is primarily driven by US$538 million from EV 
operating profit, partly offset by foreign exchange movements.

EV operating profit grew by 8 per cent on CER to US$538 million (2022: US$515 million). Expected 
return on EV at 30  June 2023 has increased to US$307 million (2022: US$248 million). VNB has 
increased to US$482 million (2022: US$405 million). Overall operating experience variances and 
operating assumption changes reduced EV operating profit by US$251 million (2022: reduced by 
US$138 million).

The VNB is calculated at the point of sale for business written during the year. The expected return on 
EV is the expected change in the EV over the year plus the expected return on the VNB from the point 
of sale to 30 June 2023. Operating experience variances reflect the impact on the ANW and VIF from 
differences between the actual experience over the year and that expected based on the operating 
assumptions.

The main operating experience variances, net of tax,	 of US$(189) million (2022: US$(127) million), 
comprised of:

• Expense and commission variances of US$(70) million (2022: US$(84) million); 

• Mortality and morbidity claims variances of US$(11) million (2022: US$20 million); and

• Persistency and other variances of US$(108) million (2022: US$(62) million) which included 
persistency variances of US$(116) million (2022: US$(54) million) and other variances of US$8 
million (2022: US$(9) million).

The effect of changes in operating assumptions during the year was US$(62) million (2022: US$(12) 
million).

The EV profit of US$473 million (2022: US$(270) million) is the total of EV operating profit, economic 
variances, the effect of changes in economic assumptions and other non-operating variances.

The effect of economic variances and changes in economic assumptions amounted to US$40 million 
(2022: US$(714) million).

Other non-operating variances amounted to US$(105) million (2022: US$(71) million), largely driven by 
implementation costs for new accounting standards and other mandatory regulatory changes, IPO 
related costs including incentive costs, industrial recruitment package costs, integration and 
restructuring related costs, mergers and acquisitions and one-off adjustments such as the impact of 
payment related to a distribution agreement and methodology and regulatory changes on EV (i.e. the 
statutory reserving basis for FWD Re has been updated from an IFRS4 basis to an IFRS17 basis with 
effect from 1 January 2023).

The EV movement in relation to the Group Corporate Center has amounted to US$(191) million (2022: 
US$92 million). It includes capital movement, corporate centre expenses and financing.

Foreign exchange movements were US$(262) million (2022: US$(492) million).
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2. Embedded Value Results (Continued)

2.5 Analysis of EV Movement (Continued)

EV operating profit (US$ millions)

A breakdown of the EV operating profit, both before and after operating assumption changes and 
operating variances other than claims/persistency/expense variances (“other operating variances”), is 
presented below.

Six months ended Six months ended

30 June 2023 30 June 2022

EV operating profit after operating assumption changes and other operating variances  538  515 

Plus: Adjustment to reverse out operating assumption changes and other operating 
variances  54  20 

EV operating profit before operating assumption changes and other operating variances  592  536 

Operating ROEV (US$ millions)

Operating return on EV (“operating ROEV”) is defined as the ratio of EV operating profit to the 
average of opening and closing EV for the relevant period. The results have been presented before 
allowing for operating variances other than claims/persistency/expense variances and operating 
assumption changes.  Operating ROEV was 20.5 per cent for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 
20.9 per cent for the six months ended 30 June 2022.

Six months ended Six months ended Change Change

30 June 2023 30 June 2022 CER AER

Opening EV 6,066 5,731  13.9 %  5.8 %

Closing EV 6,064 5,042  23.8 %  20.3 %
EV operating profit before operating assumption changes 
and other operating variances 592 536  14.1 %  10.6 %

Operating return on EV  20.5 %  20.9 % (0.8) pps (0.4) pps
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2. Embedded Value Results (Continued)

2.6 EV Equity

The EV Equity is US$9,317 million at 30 June 2023, an increase of 3 per cent on CER from US$9,288 
million as at 31 December 2022.

Derivation of EV Equity from EV (US$ millions)

As at 
30 June 2023

As at
31 December 2022

Change
CER

Change
AER

Group EV  6,064  6,066  4.3 %  0.0 %
Add: Goodwill and other intangible assets  3,253  3,222  1.9 %  1.0 %

Group EV equity  9,317  9,288  3.5 %  0.3 %

2.7 Free Surplus Generation

Free surplus ("FS") represents the excess of adjusted net worth over required capital. The Group holds 
FS to enable it to invest in new business, take advantage of inorganic opportunities and absorb the 
effects of capital market stress.

The underlying free surplus generation ("UFSG") represents the operating surplus generated from 
FWD Group each year, excluding certain non-recurring items, including the FS to fund new business, 
economic variance, non-operating variance, acquisitions, partnerships and discontinued business, 
capital movement and the impact of financing, but includes methodology updates relating to 
accounting changes classified under opening adjustment shown in the table below. 

The net underlying FS generation ("Net UFSG") represents the underlying FS generated from FWD 
Group allowing for the surplus used to fund new business. The FS generation is before adjustment for 
borrowing, with financing and financing costs reflecting a positive impact from any financing raised in 
the period and a negative impact from any financing and interest repaid in the period.

Adjusted UFSG is UFSG excluding one-off opening adjustments, non-economic assumption changes 
and maintenance expense variance. The one-off opening adjustments, which are non-recurring, 
primarily include revisions to the reserving methodology for FWD Reinsurance and other adjustments. 
The revisions to non-economic assumption updates are also considered one-off and excluded in the 
adjusted UFSG.

Adjusted free surplus used to fund new business is free surplus used to fund new business, excluding 
acquisition and commission expense variance.

Adjusted Net UFSG is the adjusted UFSG including adjusted free surplus used to fund new business.
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2. Embedded Value Results (Continued)

2.7 Free Surplus Generation (Continued)

FWD Group’s FS increased by US$1,224 million in 2023 (from US$(702) million as at 30 June 2022 to 
US$522 million as at 30 June 2023).  The change in FS is made up of the following key components:

• Opening adjustment relating to methodology update in 2023 is at US$527 million (2022: US$6 
million), mainly from the changes to FWD Re’s reserving basis from an IFRS4 basis to an IFRS17 
basis with effect from 1 January 2023.

• Acquisitions & partnerships / Discontinued business in 2023 is at US$(40) million (2022: US$(23) 
million), primarily from the increase in the stake in BRI Life from 1 March 2023 and the acquisition 
of FWD IB, offset by the gain arising from the refund of upfront access fees from the termination of 
the bancassurance partnership with Nam A Commercial Joint Stock Bank in June 2023.

• Positive underlying FS generated from operating entities in 2023 at US$731 million (2022: US$305 
million);

• Negative impact of FS used to fund new business in 2023 at US$(2) million (2022: US$(151) million); 

• Capital movements in 2023 is at US$0 million (2022: US$200 million);

• Financing in 2023 is at US$(118) million (2022: US$(73) million); and

• Investment return variances and other items in 2023 is at US$(357) million (2022: US$(1,303) 
million).

Breakdown of FWD Group free surplus generation (in US$ millions)

Six months ended 30 June 2023 Six months ended 30 June 2022

Operating entities Corp. & others Total Operating entities Corp. & others Total

Opening free surplus  3,049  (2,742)  308  2,843  (2,501)  342 

Acquisitions & partnerships / 
Discontinued business  14  (54)  (40)  31  (54)  (23) 

Underlying free surplus generation  713  17  731  305  —  305 
Opening adjustment  527  —  527  6  —  6 
Underlying free surplus generation 
before adjustment  186  17  203  299  —  299 

Free surplus used to fund new 
business  (2)  —  (2)  (151)  —  (151) 

Net underlying free surplus 
generation  712  17  729  154  —  154 

Investment return variances and 
other items  (207)  (150)  (357)  (1,236)  (66)  (1,303) 

Capital movements  (205)  205  —  168  32  200 
Financing  —  (118)  (118)  —  (73)  (73) 

Closing free surplus  3,364  (2,842)  522  1,959  (2,662)  (702) 
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2. Embedded Value Results (Continued)

2.7 Free Surplus Generation (Continued)

Breakdown of adjusted underlying free surplus generation, adjusted free surplus used to fund new 
business and adjusted net underlying free surplus generation (US$ millions)

Six months ended Six months ended

30 June 2023 30 June 2022

Underlying free surplus generation  731  305 
Opening adjustments1  527  6 
Non-economic assumption changes (excluding expense revisions)  (49)  1 
Total One-off variance  478  7 
Maintenance expense variance  (46)  (52) 
Adjusted underlying free surplus generation  298  350 
Free surplus used to fund new business  (2)  (151) 
Acquisition and commission expense variance  (38)  (60) 
Adjusted free surplus used to fund new business  36  (91) 
Adjusted net underlying free surplus generation  334  259 

Note:
1. Refers to all opening adjustments including the impact of change in statutory reserving basis for FWD Re from an IFRS4 basis to an IFRS17 basis 

with effect from 1 January 2023.

2.8 Earnings Profile

The projected after-tax distributable earnings of the FWD Group on a discounted and undiscounted 
basis for the in-force business as at 30 June 2023 and as at 31 December 2022 are set out in table 
below.

The net-of-tax distributable earnings are defined as the distributable profits to shareholders from the 
assets backing the statutory reserves and the required capital of in-force business as at the respective 
Valuation Date. On a discounted basis, the total net-of-tax distributable earnings is equal to the sum 
of the required capital and the VIF after the cost arising from holding the required capital (“CoC”) for 
the Business Units and corporate and other adjustments.

Profile of projected after-tax distributable earnings for the Group’s in-force business (US$ millions)

As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022

Expected period of emergence Undiscounted Discounted Undiscounted Discounted

1 - 5 years 2,036 1,656 2,125 1,733
6 - 10 years 2,562 1,432 2,638 1,493
11 - 15 years 2,228 881 2,263 915
16 - 20 years 1,752 491 1,836 528
21 years and thereafter 24,012 1,082 22,324 1,089
Total 32,591 5,542 31,185 5,758

The discounted value of net-of-tax distributable earnings (30  June 2023: US$5,542 million, 
31 December 2022: US$5,758 million) plus free surplus (30 June 2023: US$522 million, 31 December 
2022: US$308 million) is equal to EV (30 June 2023: US$6,064 million, 31 December 2022: US$6,066 
million).
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3. Sensitivity Analysis
Sensitivity tests have been performed on the EV as at 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022 and the 
VNB for the year ended 30  June 2023 and 31  December 2022 in respect of changes in key 
assumptions discussed in Section 5 of this report. For each of the following tests, only the specified 
parameter has been changed with all other assumptions remaining unchanged:

• 1.0 per cent increase in risk discount rate

• 1.0 per cent decrease in risk discount rate

• 0.5 per cent per annum increase in interest rates (and corresponding adjustments to the market 
value of assets for debt securities and derivatives, statutory reserving bases, bonus/dividend scales 
for participating business, crediting rates for universal life business, unit fund growth rates for unit-
linked business and risk discount rate)

• 0.5 per cent per annum decrease in interest rates (and corresponding adjustments to the market 
value of assets for debt securities and derivatives, statutory reserving bases, bonus/dividend scales 
for participating business, crediting rates for universal life business, unit fund growth rates for unit-
linked business and risk discount rate)

• 10 per cent increase in rates of policy discontinuance, premium discontinuance and partial 
withdrawal (i.e. 110 per cent of the rates under the base case)

• 10 per cent decrease in rates of policy discontinuance, premium discontinuance and partial 
withdrawal (i.e. 90 per cent of the rates under the base case)

• 10 per cent increase in rates of mortality and morbidity and loss ratios (i.e. 110 per cent of the rates 
and loss ratios under the base case)

• 10 per cent decrease in rates of mortality and morbidity and loss ratios (i.e. 90 per cent of the rates 
and loss ratios under the base case)

• 10 per cent increase in acquisition and maintenance expenses (i.e. 110 per cent of the acquisition 
and maintenance expenses under the base case) with no revisions made for Group Office expense 
adjustments

• 10 per cent decrease in acquisition and maintenance expenses (i.e. 90 per cent of the acquisition 
and maintenance expenses under the base case) with no revisions made for Group Office expense 
adjustments

• 5 per cent appreciation in presentation currency

• 5 per cent depreciation in presentation currency

The EV as at 30 June 2023 has been further analysed for the following sensitivities:

• 110 per cent of equity prices (with projected bonus rates on participating business and the values of 
equity securities and equity funds changed consistently)

• 90 per cent of equity prices (with projected bonus rates on participating business and the values of 
equity securities and equity funds changed consistently)

As FWD operates in multiple Asian markets, the Business Unit EV and VNB results for the Group have 
been converted from the respective local currency to FWD’s US dollar presentation currency. To 
provide sensitivity results to foreign currency movements, a change of +/- 5 per cent to the US dollar 
exchange rate has been shown.
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3. Sensitivity Analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity tests have only been performed on the operating entity EV, with no sensitivities carried 
out on the EV contributed by corporate and other adjustments. For each of the remaining sensitivity 
analyses, the statutory reserving bases as at 30  June 2023, projected policyholder dividends on 
participating business, crediting rates for universal life business and unit fund growth rates for unit-
linked business were changed to be consistent with the sensitivity analysis assumptions, while all the 
other assumptions remain unchanged.

The sensitivities chosen do not represent the boundaries of possible outcomes, but instead illustrate 
how certain alternative assumptions would affect the results.

Sensitivity of Operating Entities’ EV (US$ millions)
As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022

Scenario EV Ratio EV Ratio

Base case  9,464  9,366 
Impact of:

Increase risk discount rate by 1.0%  (597)  (6.3) %  (606)  (6.5) %
Reduce risk discount rate by 1.0%  756  8.0 %  762  8.1 %
Increase interest rates by 0.5% p.a.  6  0.1 %  (3)  0.0 %
Reduce interest rates by 0.5% p.a.  (33)  (0.4) %  (28)  (0.3) %
Increase discontinuance and partial withdrawal rates by 10%  (266)  (2.8) %  (297)  (3.2) %
Reduce discontinuance and partial withdrawal rates by 10%  312  3.3 %  345  3.7 %
Increase mortality and morbidity rates and loss ratios by 10%  (766)  (8.1) %  (683)  (7.3) %
Reduce mortality and morbidity rates and loss ratios by 10%  789  8.3 %  698  7.5 %
Increase acquisition and maintenance expenses by 10%  (145)  (1.5) %  (148)  (1.6) %
Reduce acquisition and maintenance expenses by 10%  145  1.5 %  147  1.6 %
Appreciation of presentation currency by 5%  (271)  (2.9) %  (277)  (3.0) %
Depreciation of presentation currency by 5%  271  2.9 %  277  3.0 %
Increase equity prices by 10%  232  2.4 %  210  2.2 %
Reduce equity prices by 10%  (233)  (2.5) %  (212)  (2.3) %

Sensitivity of VNB (US$ millions)
As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022

Scenario VNB Ratio VNB Ratio

Base case  482  823 
Impact of:

Increase risk discount rate by 1.0%  (48)  (10.0) %  (97)  (11.7) %
Reduce risk discount rate by 1.0%  62  12.8 %  122  14.8 %
Increase interest rates by 0.5% p.a.  36  7.4 %  59  7.2 %
Reduce interest rates by 0.5% p.a.  (38)  (7.8) %  (78)  (9.4) %
Increase discontinuance and partial withdrawal rates by 10%  (28)  (5.8) %  (52)  (6.3) %
Reduce discontinuance and partial withdrawal rates by 10%  31  6.5 %  58  7.1 %
Increase mortality and morbidity rates and loss ratios by 10%  (66)  (13.7) %  (121)  (14.7) %
Reduce mortality and morbidity rates and loss ratios by 10%  67  13.9 %  123  14.9 %
Increase acquisition and maintenance expenses by 10%  (30)  (6.2) %  (51)  (6.2) %
Reduce acquisition and maintenance expenses by 10%  30  6.2 %  51  6.2 %
Appreciation of presentation currency by 5%  (17)  (3.5) %  (30)  (3.7) %
Depreciation of presentation currency by 5%  17  3.5 %  30  3.7 %
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4. Methodology

4.1 Entities Included in This Report

The FWD Group operates through a number of subsidiaries and the two main holding companies are 
FWD Limited and FWD Group Limited.

FWD Limited as at 30 June 2023 includes the following entities:

• FWD Life Insurance Company (Bermuda) Limited ("FWD Life (Bermuda)");

• FWD Life Insurance Company (Macau) Limited ("FWD Macau");

• FWD Life Assurance Company (Hong Kong) Limited ("FWD Life Assurance (Hong Kong)”);

• FWD Life (Hong Kong) Limited ("FWD Life (Hong Kong)");

• FWD Vietnam Life Insurance Company Limited ("FWD Vietnam");

• FWD Takaful Berhad (“FWD Malaysia”);

• FWD Insurance Berhad (Malaysia) (“FWD IB”);

• FWD Financial Planning Limited;

• Antede Limited;

• AMG Financial Group Limited (Hong Kong);

• AMG Wealth Management Limited;

• FWD Financial Limited;

• OGS (I) Limited (Cayman Islands);

• OGS (II) Limited (Cayman Islands);

• One George Street LLP (Republic of Singapore);

• Sky Accord Limited (Cayman Islands);

• Future Radiance Limited (Cayman Islands);

• FWD Properties Limited (Hong Kong); and

• PT Asuransi BRI Life (“BRI Life”).
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4. Methodology (Continued)

4.1 Entities Included in This Report (Continued)

FWD Life (Bermuda), FWD Macau, FWD Life Assurance (Hong Kong), FWD Life (Hong Kong), BRI Life 
and FWD IB are the life insurance subsidiaries of FWD Limited. FWD Limited owns a minority 39.82 
per cent1 stake in BRI Life, a life insurance subsidiary of PT Bank Rakyat Indonesia (Persero) Tbk. FWD 
Malaysia and FWD Vietnam are the life insurance subsidiaries of FWD Life (Bermuda). These 
subsidiaries are treated as separate entities, and the value from these entities is reported separately 
and not included within the results of FWD Life (Bermuda).

As at 30 June 2023, FWD Group Limited includes the following entities:

• FWD Life Insurance Corporation (“FWD Philippines”);

• FWD Life Insurance Public Company Limited (“FWD Thailand”);

• PT FWD Insurance Indonesia (“FWD Indonesia”);

• FWD Singapore Pte. Ltd (“FWD Singapore”);

• FWD Life Insurance Company, Limited (FWD Life Japan);

• FWD Reinsurance SPC, Ltd. (“FWD Reinsurance”);

• FWD Life Insurance (Cambodia) Plc (“FWD Cambodia”);

• FWD Group Services (Thailand) Co., Ltd;

• IPP Financial Advisers Pte. Ltd; and

• PT FWD Asset Management.

FWD Life Japan, FWD Reinsurance, FWD Thailand, FWD Indonesia, FWD Philippines and FWD 
Cambodia are life insurance subsidiaries of FWD Group Limited.  FWD Singapore is a composite 
insurance subsidiary of FWD Group Limited.

Operating entities in this Report refer to life insurance subsidiaries and non-life insurance subsidiaries, 
as well as subsidiaries and associates of these entities2. Life insurance subsidiaries refer to life 
insurance companies, including composite insurers. Non-life insurance subsidiaries refer to entities 
that are general insurance companies, asset management companies and financial planning/broking 
firms. All other subsidiaries that are held in FWD Limited and FWD Group Limited and not listed above 
are classified as “non-operating entities" and form part of "corporate and other" adjustments. All other 
subsidiaries that are held in FWD Limited and FWD Group Limited and not listed above are classified 
as “non-operating entities” and form part of “corporate and other” adjustments.

Notes:
1. On 2 March 2022 and 1 March 2023, FWD acquired an additional 5.28 per cent and 4.68 per cent stake in BRI Life, increasing its holding to 35.14 

per cent and 39.82 per cent respectively. The EV as at 30 June 2023 represents a 39.82 per cent economic interest following the increase in this 
stake, whereas the EV as at 30 June 2022 represents a 35.14 per cent economic interest. The VNB in respect of new business written since 
acquisition to 28 February 2022 represents a 29.86 per cent economic interest, and from 1 March 2022 to 31 May 2022 represents a 35.14 per cent 
economic interest.

2.  Subsidiaries refer to companies in which the operating entity owns a majority stake, while associates refer to companies in which the operating 
entity owns a minority stake.
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4 Methodology (Continued)

4.1 Entities Included in This Report (Continued)

The entities for which VIF and VNB results have been determined are referred to as “Business Units” in 
this Report. Several entities have been grouped as one Business Unit by FWD. The Business Units 
referred to in this Report are as follows:

• FWD Hong Kong collectively includes the following entities:

– FWD Life (Bermuda)3;

– FWD Macau;

– FWD Life Assurance (Hong Kong); and

– FWD Life (Hong Kong).

• FWD Japan collectively includes the following entities:

– FWD Life Japan; and

– FWD Reinsurance4

• FWD Thailand

• FWD Indonesia

• FWD Malaysia

• FWD IB5

• FWD Philippines

• FWD Singapore

• FWD Vietnam

• FWD Cambodia

• BRI Life

Notes:

3. The life insurance subsidiaries of FWD Life (Bermuda) (i.e. FWD Malaysia and FWD Vietnam) are treated as separate entities and have been 
excluded from the results prepared for FWD Life (Bermuda).

4. The business ceded to FWD Reinsurance is purely from wholly owned FWD Japanese entities. Hence FWD Reinsurance is included as part of FWD 
Japan.

5. No VIF and VNB have been determined for FWD IB. Refer to Section 4.1 for details.
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4. Methodology (Continued)

4.1 Entities Included in This Report (Continued)

PT FWD Life Indonesia (“FWD Life Indonesia”) and SCB Life Assurance Public Company Limited (“SCB 
Life”) were consolidated and merged into FWD Indonesia and FWD Thailand in December 2020 and 
October 2020, respectively. Where reference in this Report is made to FWD Indonesia and FWD 
Thailand, the historical results reported prior to the respective mergers include these entities.

The VNB has been presented by region, while the EV and other reporting metrics have been 
presented at a consolidated group level. The allocation of Business Units to each region is mapped out 
below:

• Hong Kong: FWD Hong Kong

• Thailand: FWD Thailand and FWD Cambodia

• Japan: FWD Japan

• Emerging Markets: FWD Indonesia, FWD Malaysia, FWD IB, FWD Philippines, FWD Singapore, 
FWD Vietnam and BRI Life

The EV Results in this Report represent a 99.96 per cent holding in FWD Thailand, a 39.82 per cent 
holding in BRI Life, a 70 per cent6 holding in FWD IB and a 100 per cent holding for other entities.

On 3 April 2023, FWD Group, along with local investors, acquired a 70 per cent stake in FWD BSN 
Holdings Sdn. Bhd (Malaysia) (“FWD BSN Holdco”), a company established under the laws of 
Malaysia.  FWD BSN Holdco is the holding company of FWD IB (formerly known as “Gibraltar BSN 
Life Berhad”), a life insurance company acquired from Prudential Insurance Company of America.

No VIF and VNB have been determined for FWD IB as it is expected to be immaterial in the context of 
FWD Group EV.  The in-force statutory reserves as at 30 June 2023 in respect of FWD Group’s 14 per 
cent7 economic interest in FWD IB amounted to US$40.7 million, accounting for less than 0.2 per cent 
of the total in-force reserves of FWD Group. The EV as at 30 June 2023 in respect of FWD’s 
shareholding of FWD IB has been calculated with reference to the ANW as at 31 March 2023 and 
reported under “Emerging Markets”.

Notes:

6. Refers to the stake in FWD BSN Holdco acquired by FWD Group and local investors.  Refer to note 7 for details of FWD Group’s economic interest 
in FWD IB.

7. FWD Group owns 20 per cent of the 70 per cent stake in FWD BSN Holdco while FWD BSN Holdco owns 100 per cent of FWD IB.  FWD Group’s 
economic interest in FWD IB is therefore 14 per cent (i.e. 20 per cent x 70 per cent x 100 per cent).
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4. Methodology (Continued)

4.2 Embedded Value and Value of New Business

The Group uses a traditional deterministic discounted cash flow methodology to determine its EV and 
VNB. This methodology makes an implicit overall level of allowance for risk including the cost of 
investment return guarantees and policyholder options, asset-liability mismatch risk, credit risk, the 
risk that actual experience in future years differs from that assumed, and the economic cost of capital, 
through the use of a risk discount rate. Typically, the higher the risk discount rate, the greater the 
allowance for these factors. This is a common methodology currently used by life insurance 
companies in Asia. Alternative valuation methodologies and approaches continue to emerge and may 
be considered by FWD.

The business included in the VIF and VNB calculations includes all life business written by the 
Business Units of the Group, plus other lines of business which may not be classified as life business 
but have similar characteristics. These include accident and health and group businesses. The 
projected in-force business included in the VIF also incorporates expected renewals on short-term 
business with a term of one year or less.

The EV is the sum of the ANW and VIF. The ANW is the statutory net asset value reflecting the excess 
of the assets backing the policy reserves and other liabilities of the life (and similar) business of the 
Group, plus mark-to-market adjustments for assets that have not been held on a market value basis, 
plus the IFRS equity value of other activities, such as general insurance business, less the value of 
intangible assets. It excludes any amounts not attributable to shareholders of the Company. The 
market value of investment property that is used to determine the ANW is based on the fair value 
disclosed in the Group’s IFRS consolidated financial statements as at the valuation date. It is the 
Group’s policy to obtain external property valuations annually except in the case of a discrete event 
occurring in the interim that has a significant impact on the fair value of the properties.

The VIF is the present value of projected after-tax statutory profits emerging in the future from the 
current in-force business less CoC to support the in-force business. CoC is calculated as the face 
value of the required capital as at the valuation date less the present value of the net-of-tax 
investment return on the shareholder assets backing required capital and the present value of 
projected releases from the assets backing the required capital. Where the required capital may be 
covered by policyholder assets such as surplus assets in a participating fund, there is no associated 
cost of capital included in the VIF or VNB.

EV Equity is the total of EV, goodwill and other intangible assets attributable to shareholders of the 
Company.

The VNB is the present value, measured at the point of sale, of projected after-tax statutory profits 
emerging in the future from new business sold in the period less the cost of holding required capital in 
excess of regulatory reserves to support this business. The VNB for the Group is calculated based on 
assumptions applicable at the point of measurement.

A deduction has been made from the EV for the present value of future after-tax unallocated Group 
Office expenses, representing the expenses incurred by the Group Office which are not allocated to 
the Business Units. These unallocated Group Office expenses have been deducted from the VIF.
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4. Methodology (Continued)

4.3 Definition of New Business

New business includes the sale of new contracts during the period, additional single premium 
payments on recurrent single premium contracts and increments to existing contracts where these 
are not variations allowed for in the calculation of the VIF. The VNB also includes the present value of 
cash flows associated with new policies written during the reporting period but subsequently 
terminated before the valuation date.

For group renewable business including group yearly renewable term business, new business is 
composed of new schemes set up during the period plus any premium payable on existing schemes 
that exceeds the prior year’s premiums. 

For short-term accident and health business with a term of one year or less, renewals of existing 
contracts are not considered new business, and the value of expected renewals on this business is 
included in the VIF.

New business volumes shown in this report are measured using annualised premium equivalent, 
which is defined as annualised regular premiums plus 10 per cent of single premiums.

4.4 Valuation of Future Statutory Losses

For certain lines of business, projected future statutory profits are negative due to the local statutory 
reserves being insufficient to meet the value of future policyholder cash flows. Within a traditional 
embedded value framework, there are a number of acceptable methods for determining the value of a 
combination of positive and negative statutory profits for different lines of business.

For the purposes of this valuation, a sterling reserve is set up for the future projected statutory losses 
by discounting them at the earned rate for the relevant Business Unit, with any negative VIF 
eliminated for each reported segment by reducing the ANW and EV. 
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4. Methodology (Continued)

4.5 Required Capital

Each of the Business Units has a regulatory requirement to hold shareholder capital in addition to the 
assets backing the insurance liabilities. The Group’s assumed levels of local required capital for each 
Business Unit are set out in the table below:

Business Unit Required Capital

FWD Hong Kong 100% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement

FWD Thailand 140% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement (RBC 2)

FWD Japan 600% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement for FWD Life Japan
200% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement for FWD Reinsurance

FWD Philippines 125% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement

FWD Indonesia and BRI Life 120% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement

FWD Singapore 125% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement (RBC 2)

FWD Vietnam 100% of required minimum solvency margin

FWD Malaysia and FWD IB 195% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement for FWD Malaysia 
200% of regulatory risk-based capital requirement for FWD IB

FWD Cambodia 100% of required minimum solvency margin

The Hong Kong Insurance Authority introduced a group-wide supervision framework effective from 
29 March 2021. FWD	 Group	 performed	 an	 internal	 study	 on	 30	 September	 2022	 to	 validate	 that	 the	
framework	 will	 not	 introduce	 any	 additional	 cost	 of	 capital	 requirements	 beyond	 those	 set	 out	 in	 this	
Report.

4.6 Foreign Exchange

The EV as at 30 June 2023, 31 December 2022 and 30 June 2022 has been translated into US dollars 
using exchange rates as at each valuation date. The VNB results and other components of the EV 
profit shown in the analysis of movement in EV have been translated using average exchange rates for 
the period.

Change on actual exchange rate (“AER”) is calculated based on the translated figures as described 
above. CER is based on average exchange rates of relevant periods, other than for balance sheet 
items where growth as at the end of the current year over the end of the prior year is based on end of 
period exchange rates.
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5. Assumptions

5.1 Introduction

This section summarises the assumptions used by the Group to determine the EV as at 30 June 2023 
and the VNB for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and highlights certain differences in assumptions 
between the EV as at 31 December 2022 and the EV as at 30 June 2023.

5.2 Economic Assumptions

Investment returns

The Group has set the assumed long-term future returns for fixed income assets to reflect its view of 
expected returns having regard to estimates of long-term forward rates from yields available on 
government bonds and current bond yields. In determining returns on fixed income assets, the Group 
allows for the risk of default, and this allowance varies by the credit rating of the underlying asset.

Where long-term views of investment return assumptions differ from current market yields on existing 
fixed income assets such that there would be a significant impact on value, an adjustment was made 
to make allowance for the current market yields. In these cases, in calculating the VIF, adjustments 
have been made to the investment return assumptions such that the investment returns on existing 
fixed income assets were set consistently with the current market yield on these assets for their full 
remaining term, to be consistent with the valuation of the assets backing the policy liabilities.

The Group has set the equity return and property return assumptions by reference to the return on 10-
year government bonds, allowing for an internal assessment of risk premia that vary by asset class and 
by territory.

For FWD Hong Kong, the non-linked portfolio is divided into a number of distinct product groups, and 
the returns for each of these product groups have been derived by considering current and future 
targeted asset allocations and associated investment returns for major asset classes.

For unit-linked business, fund growth assumptions have been determined based on actual asset mix 
within the funds at the valuation date and expected long-term returns for major asset classes.

Risk discount rates

The risk discount rates can be considered as the sum of the appropriate risk-free interest rates, to 
reflect the time value of money, and risk margins to make an implicit overall level of allowance for 
risk.
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5. Assumptions (Continued)

5.2 Economic Assumptions (Continued)

Risk discount rates (Continued)

The table below summarises the current market 10-year government bond yields referenced in EV 
calculations.

Current market 10-year government 
bond yields referenced in EV

calculations (%)

Business Unit As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022

FWD Hong Kong (USD)  3.81  3.88 

FWD Hong Kong (HKD)  3.68  3.65 

FWD Thailand  2.58  2.64 

FWD Japan  0.40  0.42 

FWD Philippines  6.42  6.98 

FWD Indonesia and BRI Life  6.33  6.93 

FWD Singapore  3.08  3.09 

FWD Vietnam  2.75  5.04 

FWD Malaysia  3.91  4.02 

FWD Cambodia na1 na1

Note:
1. na as the investment return assumption for FWD Cambodia has been set with reference to fixed deposit rates.
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5. Assumptions (Continued)

5.2 Economic Assumptions (Continued)

Risk discount rates (Continued)

The table below summarises the risk discount rates and long-term investment returns assumed in EV 
calculations. The same risk discount rates were used for all the EV results shown in Section 1 and 
Section 2 of this report. The present value of unallocated Group Office expenses was calculated using 
the FWD Hong Kong risk discount rate. The investment returns on existing fixed income assets were 
set consistently with the market yields on these assets. Note that the VNB results were calculated 
based on start-of-quarter economic assumptions consistent with the measurement at the point of 
sale. The investment returns shown are gross of tax and investment expenses.

Risk discount rates
assumed in EV

calculations (%)

Long-term investment returns assumed in 
EV calculations (%)

10-year government bonds Local equities

As at As at As at As at As at As at

Business Unit 30 June 2023 31 December 2022 30 June 2023 31 December 2022 30 June 2023 31 December 2022

FWD Hong Kong (USD business)  7.55  7.55  2.75  2.75  7.90  7.90 

FWD Hong Kong (HKD business)  7.55  7.55  2.40  2.40  7.90  7.90 

FWD Thailand  8.75  8.75  3.20  3.20  8.95  8.95 

FWD Japan  6.00  6.00  0.25  0.25 na na

FWD Philippines  12.75  12.75  5.75  5.75  11.62  11.62 

FWD Indonesia and BRI Life  14.00  14.00  7.50  7.50  11.50  11.50 

FWD Singapore  7.15  7.15  2.40  2.40  6.50  6.50 

FWD Vietnam  10.75  10.75  4.00  4.00  9.70  9.70 

FWD Malaysia  9.00  9.00  4.00  4.00  8.79  8.79 

FWD Cambodia  11.85  11.85 na1 na1 na1 na1

Note:
1. na as the investment return assumption for FWD Cambodia has been set with reference to fixed deposit rates.

5.3 Persistency

Persistency covers the assumptions required, where relevant, for policy lapse (including surrender), 
premium persistency, premium holidays and partial withdrawals.

Assumptions have been developed by each of the Business Units based on recent historical 
experience, and best estimate expectations of current and expected future experience. Persistency 
assumptions vary by policy year and product type with different rates for regular and single premium 
products.

Where experience for a particular product was not credible enough to allow any meaningful analysis 
to be performed, experience for similar products was used as a basis for future persistency 
experience assumptions.

In the case of surrenders, the valuation assumes that current surrender value bases will continue to 
apply in the future.
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5. Assumptions (Continued)

5.4 Expenses

The expense assumptions have been set based on the most recent expense analysis. The purpose of 
the expense analysis is to allocate total recurring expenses between acquisition and maintenance 
activities, and then to allocate these acquisition and maintenance expenses to various product 
categories to derive unit cost assumptions.

Where the expenses associated with certain activities have been identified as being one-off, these 
expenses have been excluded from the expense analysis.

Expense assumptions have been determined for acquisition and maintenance activities, split by 
product type, and unit costs expressed as a percentage of premiums, sum assured, fund balance and 
an amount per policy. Where relevant, expense assumptions have been calculated per distribution 
channel.

Expense assumptions do not make allowance for any anticipated future expense savings as a result of 
any strategic initiatives aimed at improving policy administration and claims handling efficiency.

Assumptions for commission rates and other sales-related payments have been set in line with actual 
experience.

Using these expense assumptions results in expense and commission overruns in the short term. 
These overruns are expected to reduce over time based on business plan forecasts prepared by the 
Business Units. The long term unit cost loadings have been set to support the general operating 
expenses in line with approved business plans. Any one-off and non-recurrent expenses have been 
excluded from the expense loadings. Actual expense and commission variances at 30 June 2022 and 
30 June 2023 are shown under Section 2.5.

Group Office expenses

The adjustment for unallocated Group Office expenses has been taken as the present value of the 15-
year projected after-tax unallocated Group Office expenses. The unallocated Group Office expenses 
do not include expenses attributable to the strategic initiatives. The projection of unallocated Group 
Office expenses is based on an internal business plan and assumes that the unallocated proportion 
will trend towards the ultimate ratio.

The present value of the projected future Group Office expenses has been deducted from the Group 
EV.
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5. Assumptions (Continued)

5.5 Expense Inflation

The expected long-term expense inflation rates used by Business Unit are set out below:

Expense inflation assumptions by Business Unit (%)

Business Unit As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022

FWD Hong Kong  2.3  2.3 
FWD Thailand  2.0  2.0 

FWD Japan  0.0  0.0 

FWD Philippines  3.0  3.0 

FWD Indonesia and BRI Life  3.5  3.5 

FWD Singapore  3.0  3.0 

FWD Vietnam  5.0  5.0 

FWD Malaysia  3.0  3.0 

FWD Cambodia  5.0  5.0 

Unallocated Group Office expenses are assumed to grow at the inflation rate assumed for Hong Kong 
after 2025 of 2.3 per cent per annum.

5.6 Mortality

Assumptions have been developed by each Business Unit based on recent historical experience, and 
expectations of current and expected future experience. Where historical experience is not credible, 
reference has been made to pricing assumptions supplemented by market data, where available.

Mortality assumptions have been expressed as a percentage of standard industry experience tables.

For some products that are exposed to longevity risk, an allowance has been made for expected 
improvements in mortality.

5.7 Morbidity

Assumptions have been developed by each Business Unit based on recent historical experience, and 
expectations of current and expected future experience. Morbidity rate assumptions have been 
expressed as a percentage of standard industry experience tables or as expected claims ratios.

5.8 Reinsurance

Reinsurance assumptions have been developed by each Business Unit based on the reinsurance 
arrangements in force as at the valuation date and the recent historical and expected future 
experience.
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5. Assumptions (Continued)

5.9 Policyholder Dividends, Profit Sharing and Interest Crediting

The projected policyholder dividends, profit sharing and interest crediting assumptions set by each 
Business Unit in calculating the EV results presented in this report reflect contractual and regulatory 
requirements, policyholders’ reasonable expectations (where clearly defined) and each Business Unit’s 
best estimate of future policies, strategies and operations consistent with the investment return 
assumptions used in the EV results.

Participating fund surpluses have been assumed to be distributed between policyholders and 
shareholders via future interim or final policyholder dividends according to the dividend policies of 
each Business Unit.

5.10 Taxation

The projections of distributable earnings underlying the values presented in this report are net of 
corporate income tax, based on current taxation legislation and corporate income tax rates. The 
projected amount of tax payable in any year allows, where relevant, for the benefits arising from any 
tax loss carried forward. 

The local corporate income tax rates used by each Business Unit are set out below:

Local corporate income tax rates (%) by Business Unit As at 30 June 2023 As at 31 December 2022

FWD Hong Kong 16.5 16.5

FWD Thailand 20 20

FWD Japan 28 28

FWD Philippines 2 1.0 to 30 June 2023,
2.0 thereafter1

FWD Indonesia and BRI Life 22 22

FWD Singapore 17 17

FWD Vietnam 0 until 31 December 2026,
20.0 thereafter2 

0 until 31 December 2026,
20.0 thereafter2 

FWD Malaysia 24 24

FWD Cambodia 20 20

Notes:
1. FWD Philippines is currently paying the minimum corporate income tax (“MCIT”), and revision was reflected to reduce to 1 per cent effectively 

from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023.
2. FWD Vietnam’s tax rate was updated to 0 per cent until 2026 due to tax losses; 20.0 per cent from 2027 onwards.
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5. Assumptions (Continued)

5.10 Taxation (Continued)

The tax assumptions used in the valuation reflect the local corporate income tax rates set out above. 
Where applicable, tax payable on investment income has been reflected in projected net investment 
returns.

5.11 Statutory Valuation Bases

The projection of regulatory liabilities at future points in time assumes the continuation of the 
reserving methodologies used to value policyholder liabilities as at the valuation date.

5.12 Product Charges

Management fees and product charges reflected in the VIF and VNB have been assumed to follow 
existing scales.

6. Events After The Reporting Period
Details of the significant events after the latest reporting date (i.e. 30 June 2023) are set out in note 
30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Glossary
Actual Exchange Rate (“AER”) Actual exchange rates for the relevant periods used for the purpose of calculation of 

growth.

Adjusted Net Worth (“ANW”) Statutory net asset value, reflecting the excess of assets over policy reserves and other 
liabilities reported on a local regulatory basis plus/minus mark-to-market adjustments 
for assets that have not been held on a market value basis minus the value of intangible 
assets.

Adjusted Net UFSG Net UFSG excluding one-off opening adjustments (including non-economic assumption 
change) and expense variances.

Annualised Premium Equivalent 
(“APE”)

The sum of 10 per cent of single premiums and 100 per cent of annualised first year 
premiums for all new policies, before reinsurance ceded. Consistent with customary 
industry practice, a factor of 10 per cent is applied to single premiums because such 
weighting makes the value of a single premium sale broadly equivalent to the same 
dollar amount of first year premiums. APE provides an indicative volume measure of new 
policies issued in the relevant period. For takaful business, APE refers to annualised 
contribution equivalent.

API Application programming interface.

Bancassurance The distribution of insurance products through banks or other financial institutions.

Cede The transfer of all or part of a risk written by an insurer to a reinsurer.

China, Mainland China or the 
PRC

The People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this document only, Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan, unless otherwise specified; the term “Chinese” has a 
correlative meaning.

Claim An occurrence that is the basis for submission and/or payment of a benefit under an 
insurance policy. Depending on the terms of the insurance policy, a claim may be 
covered, limited or excluded from coverage.

COLI Corporate-owned life insurance.

Commission A fee paid to a distribution partner by an insurance company for services rendered in 
connection with the sale or maintenance of an insurance product.

Constant Exchange Rate 
(“CER”)

Constant exchange rate used for the calculation of growth and is based on average 
exchange rates of relevant periods, other than for balance sheet items where growth as 
at the end of the current year over the end of the prior year is based on end of period 
exchange rates.

Contract boundary The measurement of a group of contracts includes all of the future cash flows within the 
boundary of each contract in the group. For details, please refer to note 2.3.1.

Conversion rate The percentage of quoted leads that convert into successful sales.

Contractual service margin 
(“CSM”)

A component of the carrying amount of the asset or liability for a group of insurance 
contracts representing the unearned profit the Group will recognise as it provides 
insurance contract services under the insurance contracts in the group. For details, 
please refer to note 2.1.
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Coverage unit The amount of the CSM of a group of insurance contracts that is recognised as 
insurance revenue in each reporting period is determined by identifying the coverage 
units in the group, allocating the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period 
(before any allocation) equally to each coverage unit provided in the current period and 
expected to be provided in future periods, and recognising in profit or loss the amount 
of the CSM allocated to coverage units provided in the current period. The number of 
coverage units is the quantity of services provided by the contracts in the group, 
determined considering for each contract the quantity of benefits provided and its 
expected coverage period. Determination of coverage unit is further elaborated in note 
2.3.1.

Customer Anyone who owns or receives value from insurance products and services. Customers 
are categorised as either individual customers or group scheme customers.

D2C Direct-to-customer.

DIHC Designated insurance holding company.

Digital purchase percentage The percentage of new business application submitted digitally.

Embedded Value (“EV”) An actuarial method of measuring the consolidated value of shareholders’ interests in 
the existing business of an insurance company. Represents an estimate of the economic 
value of its life insurance business based on a particular set of assumptions as to future 
experience, excluding any economic value attributable to any future new business.

Embedded Value Equity (“EV 
Equity”)

The equity attributable to shareholders on an actuarial basis, reflecting the Group EV, 
adjusted to include goodwill and other intangible assets attributable to shareholders. It is 
presented on a net-of-financing basis. Financing for this purpose includes debt held by 
us and comprises borrowings and perpetual securities.

Embedded value operating 
profit (“EV Operating Profit”)

The change in EV over the relevant period, adjusted for movements relating to 
acquisitions, partnerships and discontinued businesses, economic variance, economic 
assumption charge, non-operating variance, capital movements, corporate adjustments, 
financing and foreign exchange movement. It comprises expected returns on EV, VNB, 
operating variance, and the impact of operating assumption changes. The results have 
been presented before allowing for operating expense and commission variance as 
these are considered as short term variances as Business Units are still in their growth 
phase and have not achieved economies of scale.

Emerging Markets Refers to our operations in the Philippines, Indonesia, Singapore, Vietnam and Malaysia.

Exclusive bancassurance 
partnerships or exclusive 
bancassurance arrangements

Our exclusive bancassurance partnerships in-market generally require bancassurance 
partners to distribute our products on either an exclusive or preferred basis to their 
customers across networks and jurisdictions specified under their contracts and subject 
to applicable laws and regulations. Exclusive bancassurance arrangements commonly 
include termination rights which may be triggered if specific, pre-defined conditions are 
met, for example upon material breaches by either party, in the event a party becomes a 
competitor, upon a change of control or in the event of force majeure; in addition, in 
limited cases exclusivity also applies to us over the partnership term.

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) The weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as 
the weights.

Expense ratio Operating expenses expressed as a percentage of TWPI for the relevant period.

Fair value through other 
comprehensive income 
(“FVOCI”)

For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, some changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. For 
details, please refer to note 16.
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Fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”)

For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, changes 
in fair value are recognised in profit or loss as part of net investment result. For details, 
please refer to note 16.

Financial investments Equity and fixed income securities plus receivables and derivative financial instruments 
classified as assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents.

First year premiums Premiums received in the first year of a recurring premium policy. As such they provide 
an indication of the volume of new policies sold.

Free surplus Excess of adjusted net worth, i.e. adjusted statutory net asset value attributable to 
shareholders, over the required capital.

Fulfilment cash flows An explicit, unbiased and probability-weighted estimate (i.e. expected value) of the 
present value of the future cash outflows minus the present value of the future cash 
inflows that will arise as the Group fulfils insurance contracts, including a risk 
adjustment for non-financial risk.

FWD Reinsurance (“FWD Re”) FWD Reinsurance SPC, Ltd, an exempted company incorporated under the laws of the 
Cayman Islands and a subsidiary of our Company.

FWD or the Group or FWD 
Group or company

FWD Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

GMCR Group minimum capital requirement.

GPCR Group prescribed capital requirement.

Group Embedded Value 
(“Group EV”)

The consolidated EV of our Group and is presented on a net-of-financing basis. 
Financing for this purpose includes debt held and comprises borrowings and perpetual 
securities.

Group Office FWD Group Financial Services Pte. Ltd, FWD Group Management and Valdimir Pte. Ltd.

GWP Gross written premiums calculated based on applicable guidelines promulgated by the 
relevant insurance authorities.

GWS Group-wide supervision framework introduced by the HKIA, which came into effect on 
March 29, 2021.

High net worth (“HNW”) Individuals who have investable assets of US$1 million or more.

HKEx The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

HKIA Hong Kong Insurance Authority, the primary regulator of the insurance industry in Hong 
Kong.

HK RBC Hong Kong Risk-Based Capital.

Hong Kong The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (SAR) of the PRC; in the context of our 
reportable market segments, Hong Kong includes Macau SAR.

IAIG International active reinsurance group.

IFA Independent financial adviser.

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards.
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In-force customers, in-force 
agents, in-force products or in-
force policies

Customers, agents or products with respect to an insurance policy or contract reflected 
on records that has not expired, matured or otherwise been surrendered or terminated, 
or such policies or contracts themselves.

Insurance acquisition cash 
flows

Cash flows arising from the costs of selling, underwriting and starting a group of 
insurance contracts (issued or expected to be issued) that are directly attributable to the 
portfolio of insurance contracts to which the group belongs. Such cash flows include 
cash flows that are not directly attributable to individual contracts or groups of 
insurance contracts within the portfolio.

Insurance contract services The following services that the Group provides to a policyholder of an insurance 
contract:
• coverage for an insured event (insurance coverage);
• for insurance contracts without direct participation features, the generation of an 

investment return for the policyholder, if applicable (investment-return service); and
• for insurance contracts with direct participation features, the management of 

underlying items on behalf of the policyholder (investment-related service).

Insurance finance reserve Insurance finance reserve comprises the cumulative insurance finance income or 
expenses recognised in other comprehensive income.

Insurance revenue Insurance revenue arising from insurance contracts and exclude any investment 
components. For details, please refer to notes 2.3.1.

Insurance service expenses Insurance service expenses arising from insurance contracts and exclude any investment 
components. For details, please refer to note 2.3.1.

Insurance service result Insurance service result comprises insurance revenue, insurance service expenses and 
net expenses from reinsurance contracts held.

Investment component Amount that an insurance contract requires the Group to repay to a policyholder in all 
circumstances, regardless of whether an insured event occurs. Generally, for relevant 
contracts, surrender value would be determined as an investment component.

Investment experience Realised gains and losses, impairments and unrealised gains and losses on investments 
held at fair value through profit or loss.

LCSM Local capital summation method.

LCSM cover ratios LCSM cover ratio (MCR basis) is the ratio of our group available capital to our GMCR. 
LCSM cover ratio (PCR basis) is the ratio of our group available capital to our GPCR.

Leverage ratio Debt divided by the sum of the debt and equity at the end of the relevant period.

Liability for incurred claims 
(“LIC”)

The Group’s obligation to:
(a) investigate and pay valid claims for insured events that have already occurred, 
including events that have occurred but for which claims have not been reported, and 
other incurred insurance expenses; and
(b) pay amounts that are not included in (a) and that relate to:

(i) insurance contract services that have already been provided; or
(ii) any investment components or other amounts that are not related to the 

provision of insurance contract services and that are not in the liability for 
remaining coverage.
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Liability for remaining coverage 
(“LRC”)

The Group’s obligation to:
(a) investigate and pay valid claims under existing insurance contracts for insured events 
that have not yet occurred (i.e. the obligation that relates to the unexpired portion of the 
insurance coverage); and
(b) pay amounts under existing insurance contracts that are not included in (a) and that 
relate to:

(i) insurance contract services not yet provided (i.e. the obligations that relate to 
future provision of insurance contract services); or

(ii) any investment components or other amounts that are not related to the 
provision of insurance contract services and that have not been transferred to the 
liability for incurred claims.

Loss component Loss component for onerous contracts. For details, please refer to note 2.3.1.

MCV Mainland Chinese visitor.

MDRT Million Dollar Round Table, a global professional trade association that recognises 
significant sales achievements while working to develop professional and ethical sales 
practices.

Millennial Defined as those aged under 40.

Morbidity or morbidity rate Incidence rates and period of disability, varying by such parameters as age, gender and 
period since disability, used in pricing and computing liabilities for accident and health 
insurance.

Mortality or mortality rate Rate of death, varying by such parameters as age, gender and health, used in pricing and 
computing liabilities for life and annuity products, which contain mortality risks.

na Not available.

Net investment result Comprises investment return, net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts 
and reinsurance contracts held, movement in investment contract liabilities and 
movement in third-party interests in consolidated investment funds.

New business margin New business margin is defined as value of new business (VNB) expressed as a 
percentage of new business sales (APE) for the relevant period.

New business sales New business sales volumes defined at Annual Premium Equivalent (APE) sales.

NPS Net promoter score.

Net Underlying Free Surplus 
Generation (“Net UFSG”)

Underlying free surplus generation, allowing for the free surplus used to fund new 
business. It excludes investment return variances and other items such as the impact of 
acquisitions, new partnerships and discontinued businesses, capital movements and 
impact of financing.

O2O Collectively, online-to-online, online-to-offline and offline-to-online.

Offshore (1) with respect to our Hong Kong business, an offshore policy is any policy where the 
policyholder does not have or disclose a Hong Kong identity card number and an 
offshore customer is any customer who does not have or disclose a Hong Kong identity 
card; and (2) with respect to our Macau business, an offshore policy is any policy where 
the policyholder is not a resident of Macau and an offshore customer is any customer 
who is not a resident of Macau.
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Onshore (1) with respect to our Hong Kong business, an onshore policy is any policy where the 
policyholder has a Hong Kong identity card and an onshore customer is any customer 
who has a Hong Kong identity card, and (2) with respect to our Macau business, any 
policy where the policyholder is a resident of Macau and an onshore customer is any 
customer who is a resident of Macau.

Operating Embedded Value 
(“Operating EV”)

Consolidated EV of operating entities.

Operating Return on Embedded 
Value (“Operating ROEV”)

the ratio of EV operating profit to the average of opening and closing EV net of financing 
for the relevant period. The results have been presented before allowing for operating 
variances other than claims/persistency/expense variances and operating assumption 
changes.

Participating funds Distinct portfolios where the policyholders have a contractual right to receive at the 
discretion of the insurer additional benefits based on factors such as the performance of 
the pool of assets held within the fund, as a supplement to any guaranteed benefits. The 
insurer may either have discretion as to the timing of the allocation of those benefits to 
participating policyholders or as to the timing and the amount of the additional benefits.

Participating products or 
participating business

Contracts of insurance where the policyholders have a contractual right to receive, at 
the discretion of the insurer, additional benefits based on factors such as investment 
performance, as a supplement to any guaranteed benefits.

Persistency The proportion of insurance policies remaining in force from month to month, as 
measured by the number of policies.

Policyholder and shareholder 
investments

Investments other than those held to back unit-linked contracts as well as assets from 
consolidated investment funds.

Portfolio of insurance contracts Insurance contracts subject to similar risks and managed together.

Premium allocation approach 
(“PAA”)

Simplified measurement of insurance contracts where the coverage period of each 
contract in the group of contracts is one year or less; or the Group reasonably expects 
that the resulting measurement of the liabilities for remaining coverage would not differ 
materially from the result of applying the accounting policies of contracts not measured 
under PAA.

Protection ratio The protection ratio of each product is calculated by dividing the present value of 
mortality and morbidity benefits expected to be paid on account of the product by the 
present value of all customer benefits expected to be paid on account of the product.

Protection VNB The aggregated protection VNB at product level, which is determined by protection 
ratio multiplied by VNB.

PVNBP Present value of new business premiums. It is the present value of projected new 
business premium discounted at a pre-determined risk discount rate.

RBC or Risk-based capital A method of measuring the minimum amount of capital appropriate for an insurance 
entity to support its overall business operations in consideration of its size and risk 
profile.

Reinsurance The practice whereby a reinsurer, in consideration of a premium paid to it, agrees to 
indemnify another party for part or all of the liabilities assumed by the reinsured party 
under an insurance contract, which the reinsured party has issued.
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Renewal premiums Premiums receivable in subsequent years of a multi-year insurance policy.

Reorganisation The restructuring steps undertaken by our Group as set out in the paragraph headed 
“History, eorganisation and Corporate Structure – Reorganisation” in the Form A1 Main 
Board listing application with HKEx filed on 3 April 2023.

Reserves Liability established to provide for future payments of claims and benefits to 
policyholders net of liability ceded to reinsurers.

Riders A supplemental plan that can be attached to a base insurance policy, typically with 
payment of additional premium. Unless otherwise stated, riders include unit-deducting 
riders for which no premiums are received. The insurance coverage of unit-deducting 
riders is funded by deduction of units from account balances of underlying unit-linked 
and universal life contracts.

SASB Sustainability Accounting Standard Board.

SCB The Siam Commercial Bank Public Company Limited.

SCB Life SCB Life Assurance Public Company Limited.

Segmental adjusted operating 
profit before tax

Segmental adjusted operating profit before tax, a non-IFRS measure, consists of profit/
(loss) from continuing operations after tax adjusted to exclude (i) net loss of the 
Company and its financing subsidiaries, PCGI Intermediate Limited and PCGI 
Intermediate Holdings (II) Limited, assuming the Reorganisation was completed as of 1 
January 2020 as these were principally financing and treasury related costs that were 
shareholder related that did not form part of the Group overseen by FWD management,  
(ii) tax, (iii) short-term fluctuations in investment return related to equities and property 
investments and other non-operating investment return, (iv) finance costs related to 
borrowings and long-term payables, (v) amortisation of VOBA, (vi) mergers and 
acquisitions, business set-up and restructuring-related costs, (vii) IPO-related costs, 
including incentive costs, (viii) implementation costs for IFRS 9 and 17 and GWS, and (ix) 
any other non-operating items which, in our view, should be disclosed separately to 
enable a meaningful understanding of our financial performance.

Share Split The share sub-division effected on August 20, 2021 whereby each of the then-authorised 
ordinary shares of our company, par value US$1.00 each, was divided into 100 ordinary 
shares, par value US$0.01 each. Following such share sub-division, PCGI Holdings 
Limited owned 2,162,950,800 ordinary shares in our company and surrendered for no 
consideration 1,514,065,560 ordinary shares to our company for cancellation, following 
which PCGI Holdings Limited owns 648,885,240 ordinary shares in our company.

Single premiums Single premium policies of insurance are those that require only a single lump sum 
payment from the policyholder.

Solvency The ability of an insurance company to satisfy its policyholder benefits and claims 
obligations.

STP Straight-through processing.

Surrender The termination of a life insurance policy or annuity contract at the request of the 
policyholder after which the policyholder receives the cash surrender value, if any, of 
the contract.

Takaful Insurance that is compliant with Islamic principles.
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Tied agent A sales representative who sells the products of one company exclusively.

Total weighted premium 
income (“TWPI”)

Total weighted premium income consists of 100 per cent of renewal premiums, 100 per 
cent of first year premiums and 10 per cent of single premiums; it provides an indication 
of total premiums and the new business premiums that we have generated in the 
reporting period and that have the potential to generate profits for the holders of the 
Company's ordinary shares.

Underwriting The process of examining, accepting or rejecting insurance risks, and classifying those 
accepted, in order to charge an appropriate premium for each accepted risk.

Value of Business Acquired 
(“VOBA”)

VOBA in respect of a portfolio of long-term insurance and investment contracts acquired 
is recognised as an asset, calculated by discounting all future cash flows expected to be 
realised from the portfolio. VOBA is amortised over the estimated life of the contracts in 
the acquired portfolio on a systematic basis. The carrying value of VOBA is reviewed at 
least annually for impairment and any impairment is charged to the consolidated income 
statement.

Value of New Business (“VNB”) Present value, measured at point of sale, of future net-of-tax profits on a local statutory 
basis less the corresponding cost of capital. VNB is calculated quarterly, based on 
assumptions applicable at the start of each quarter.

Variable fee approach (“VFA”) The VFA modifies the general measurement model in IFRS 17 to reflect the nature of the 
income to the insurer is a variable fee.

VNB margin VNB expressed as a percentage of APE for the relevant period.

221




	Cover
	Theme

	Overview
	About FWD
	Company profile
	Our values

	Result highlights
	Chief Executive Officer's report

	Financial and Operating Review
	Chief Financial Officer's report
	Operational highlights – geographical markets
	Hong Kong & Macau
	Thailand & Cambodia
	Japan
	Emerging Markets


	Financial Statements
	Independent auditor’s report
	Consolidated income statement
	Consolidated statement of comprehensive  income
	Consolidated statement of financial position
	Consolidated statement of changes in equity
	Consolidated statement of cash flows
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements  and significant accounting policies
	Corporate Information
	General information
	History and reorganisation of the Group
	Historical holding structure
	Reorganisation of the Group

	Basis of presentation

	Significant Accounting Policies
	Basis of preparation
	Basis of consolidation
	Insurance and Investment contracts
	Life Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF
	Investment contracts without DPF


	Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates And Assumptions
	Level of aggregation and recognition
	Insurance countracts not measured under PAA
	Valuation of deferred tax assets

	Exchange Rates
	Changes In Group Composition
	Acquistion

	Segment Information
	Segment results
	Adjusted operating profit
	Adjusted results and financial position
	Total Weighted Premium Income

	 INSURANCE REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE
	Investment return and net finance expenses
	Expenses
	Borrowing and other finance cost
	Income Tax
	Intangible Assets
	Investments In Associates And A Joint Venture
	Investment Property
	Insurance and Reinsurance Contract Balances
	Movement in insurance and reinsurance contract balances
	Contractual service margin

	Financial Investments
	Debt securities
	Equity securities
	Debt and equity securities
	Loans and deposits

	Derivative Financial Instruments
	Fair Value Measurement
	Fair value measurements on a recurring basis
	Fair value measurements for disclosure purpose

	Other Assets
	Cash And Cash Equivalents
	Investment Contract Liabilities
	Borrowings
	Other Liabilities
	Share Capital, Share Premium And Reserves
	Share capital and share premium
	Reserves
	Perpetual securities
	Non-controlling interests
	Transactions with non-controlling interests

	Group Capital Structure
	Risk Management
	Share-Based Compensation
	Related Party Transactions
	Commitments And Contingencies
	Events After Reporting Year

	Independent report on the review of supplementary embedded value information 
	Supplementary embedded value Information
	Highlights
	Embedded Value Results
	Sensitivity Analysis
	Methodology
	Assumptions


	Additional Information
	Corporate Information
	Glossary
	Back Cover




